

Mag.pharm. Nicole Jedinger

## DEVELOPMENT OF HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS WITH ALCOHOL-RESISTANT AND ABUSE-DETERRENT PROPERTIES

### **DOCTORAL THESIS**

to achieve the university degree of

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften

submitted to

### Graz University of Technology

Supervisor

Univ.-Prof. Dipl.-Ing. Dr.techn. Johannes Khinast Institute of Process and Particle Engineering

Second Supervisor

Assoz. Prof. Mag.pharm. Dr.rer.nat. Eva Roblegg

Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Graz

#### AFFIDAVIT

I declare that I have authored this thesis independently, that I have not used other than the declared sources/resources, and that I have explicitly indicated all material which has been quoted either literally or by content from the sources used. The text document uploaded to TUGRAZonline is identical to the present thesis.

Date

Signature

#### EIDESSTATTLICHE ERKLÄRUNG

Ich erkläre an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst, andere als die angegebenen Quellen/Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt, und die den benutzten Quellen wörtlich und inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Das in TUGRAZonline hochgeladene Textdokument ist mit der vorliegenden Dissertation identisch.

Datum

Unterschrift

### DANKSAGUNG

Zuallererst möchte ich mich bei Prof. Johannes Khinast und Assoz. Prof. Eva Roblegg für die Betreuung und ihre wissenschaftliche Unterstützung beim Verfassen der Publikationen herzlich bedanken.

Ein weiterer Dank geht an Prof. Andreas Zimmer der sich dazu bereit erklärt hat, die Zweitbeurteilung der Arbeit zu übernehmen.

Ebenso geht mein Dank an das gesamte Team der Pharmazeutischen Technologie sowie an alle Arbeitskollegen am RCPE für die schöne und lustige Zeit. Insbesondere dem Extrusionsteam möchte ich für die Unterstützung und Hilfestellung mit dem Extrusionsprozess meinen Dank aussprechen.

Mein ganz besonderer Dank gilt Hobbiton! Mit euch sind die letzten Jahre in Graz zu einer ganz besonderen und für immer unvergesslichen Zeit geworden.

Von ganzem Herzen danke ich meiner Familie und meinem Freund Thomas für ihre immerwährende Unterstützung und Motivation.

#### ABSTRACT

The objective of this thesis was the development of hot-melt extruded pellets that feature a i) controlled drug release, ii) minimal risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping and iii) drug abuse deterrence.

The concomitant intake of alcoholic beverages together with controlled-release formulations, containing opioid and non-opioid drugs with a narrow therapeutic index poses a serious safety concern. Alcohol has the potential to alter the release-ratecontrolling mechanism of the formulation, which may result in an immediate and uncontrolled drug release. So far, only a limited number of dosage forms that withstand the impact of alcohol are available. Thus, for the design of alcohol-resistant dosage forms, it is vital to consider the physico-chemical key factors of the drug, the excipients and the properties of the final dosage form. There are promising technological strategies, such as hot-melt extrusion (HME) that are helpful in minimizing the risk of dose dumping by producing robust/compact dosage forms. Thus, pellets comprising pure calcium stearate (CaSt) or CaSt with either Compritol<sup>®</sup> or Precirol<sup>®</sup> (matrix carriers) and paracetamol or codeine phosphate (model drugs) were prepared via HME and the impact of alcohol on their drug release characteristics was investigated. It was found that the drug release behavior of the pellets was a strong function of the drug solubility, the addition of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>, the dissolution media composition and hence, the pellet wettability. All pellet formulations comprising Compritol<sup>®</sup> or Precirol<sup>®</sup> showed accelerated drug release with increasing alcohol levels due to increased media uptake and enhanced wetting. In contrast, pellets containing pure CaSt as matrix carrier showed robustness in alcoholic media. Neither the wetting nor the media uptake of pure CaSt was altered by alcoholic media, making hydrophobic CaSt a suitable matrix material to impede alcoholinduced dose dumping.

To aggravate intentional drug tampering, deformable pellets with high compression strength composed of cornstarch, gum arabic or xanthan (matrix carriers) and antipyrine or codeine phosphate (model drugs) were prepared via an innovative continuous one-step HME process. Here, the drug was fed as an aqueous solution into the molten matrix material. To ensure a controlled drug release and avoid dose dumping pellet formulations that had suitable mechanical characteristics were coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC. The results indicated that coated cornstarch-based pellets are a promising formulation that makes tampering difficult due to a high compression strength combined with robustness in alcoholic media.

#### KURZFASSUNG

Das Ziel dieser Dissertation war die Entwicklung schmelzextrudierter Pellets mit kontrolliertem Freisetzungsprofil, die Resistenz gegenüber möglichem Alkoholeinfluss aufweisen und Arzneimittelmissbrauch erschweren.

Werden Arzneiformen mit kontrollierter Freisetzung gleichzeitig mit Alkohol eingenommen, kann es zu einem Verlust der Retard-Mechanismen kommen, mit der Gefahr einer schlagartigen Liberation großer Arzneistoffmengen. Besonders im Fall von Opioidanalgetika und Arzneistoffen mit geringer therapeutischer Breite kann Alkohol-Dose-Dumping zu schweren Nebenwirkungen führen. Bisher sind nur wenige Darreichungsformen mit Alkoholresistenz erhältlich. Um solche Arzneiformulierungen herzustellen, sind die physikalisch-chemischen Eigenschaften des Arzneistoffs, der Additiva sowie der Arzneiformulierung selbst, zu beachten. Die Schmelzextrusion eignet sich für die Herstellung alkoholresistenter Arzneiformen. Dementsprechend wurden schmelzextrudierte Pellets auf ihr Freisetzungsverhalten im alkoholischen Medium untersucht. Reines Calciumstearat (CaSt) bzw. CaSt/Precirol<sup>®</sup> oder CaSt/Compritol<sup>®</sup> dienten als Matrixmaterialien und Paracetamol oder Codeinphosphat als Arzneistoff. Es zeigte sich, dass die Arzneistoffliberation der Pellets stark von der Arzneistofflöslichkeit. Zugabe von Compritol<sup>®</sup> und Precirol<sup>®</sup>, der Alkoholkonzentration der des Freisetzungsmediums und der Benetzbarkeit der Pellets abhängt. Formulierungen, die Compritol<sup>®</sup> oder Precirol<sup>®</sup> enthielten, wiesen eine beschleunigte Arzneistofffreisetzung mit zunehmendem Alkoholgehalt auf. Dies war auf eine hohe Benetzbarkeit von Compritol® und Precirol<sup>®</sup> mit Alkohol zurückzuführen, wodurch es auch zu einer gesteigerten Flüssigkeitsaufnahme kam. Freisetzungsversuche der Pellets mit reinem CaSt zeigten, dass Alkohol keinen Einfluss auf das Liberationsverhalten der Pellets hat. Weder das Benetzungsverhalten noch die Flüssigkeitsaufnahme von reinem CaSt wurden durch den Zusatz von Alkohol beeinflusst. Demzufolge kann CaSt als geeignetes Matrixmaterial um alkoholresistente Darreichungsformen herzustellen, herangezogen werden. Um Arzneimittelmissbrauch zu erschweren, wurden verformbare Pellets mit hoher mechanischer Belastbarkeit mittels eines innovativen kontinuierlichen Schmelzextrusionsprozess hergestellt. Dabei dienten Maisstärke, Gummi arabicum oder Xanthan als Matrixmaterial und Antipyrine oder Codeinphosphat als Arzneistoff. Pellets, die geeignete mechanische Eigenschaften aufwiesen wurden mit Aquacoat® ARC überzogen, um sie alkoholresistent zu machen. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass überzogene Maisstärkepellets vielversprechende Formulierung darstellen, um eine missbrauchssichere eine Darreichungsform, welche dem Einfluss von Alkohol standhält, herzustellen.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Intro	oduct	ion	1
	1.1	Multi	ole-unit dosage forms (Pellets)	1
	1.2	Hot-r	nelt extrusion	2
	1.3	Drug	abuse	3
	1	.3.1	Approaches to counteract drug abuse (Abuse-deterrent formulations ADFs)	4
	1.4	Obje	ctive	. 14
	1.5	Refe	rences	. 15
2	The	desig	gn of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose	; 23
	2 1	Grap	hical abstract	24
	2.2	Abstr	act	
	2.3	Introd	duction	. 24
	2.4	Phys	ico-chemical factors influencing alcohol-induced dose dumping	. 27
	2	.4.1	Effect of solubility	. 27
	2	.4.2	Effect of wettability	. 29
	2	.4.3	Effect of swellability	. 30
	2	.4.4	Effect of mechanical properties	. 31
	2.5	Appro	opriate matrix systems to minimize the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping	. 31
	2	.5.1	Polyethylene oxide	. 32
	2	.5.2	Starches and starch derivatives	. 33
	2	.5.3	Carbomer	. 34
	2	.5.4	Cellulose ethers	. 36
	2.6	Tech	nological strategies to minimize risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping	. 38
	2	.6.1	Osmotic drug delivery devices	. 38
	2	.6.2	Controlled-release matrix/coated systems	. 39
	2	.6.3	Hot-melt extruded systems	. 40
	2.7	Conc	lusions and open remarks	. 42
	2.8	Refe	rences	. 43
3	Alco	ohol ( norisi)	dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets	; . 51
	3.1	Grap	hical abstract	. 52
	3.2	Abstr	act	. 52
	3.3	Introd	duction	. 53
	3.4	Mate	rials and methods	. 55
	3	.4.1	Materials	. 55
	3	.4.2	HME process	. 55

	3.	.4.3	Characterization of powder substances and pellets	. 58
	3.5	Resu	Its and discussion	. 61
	3.	.5.1	Preparation of pellets via HME	. 61
	3.	.5.2	Thermal characterization and compatibility studies	. 61
	3.	.5.3	Drug solubility	. 65
	3.	.5.4	Media uptake and wetting studies	. 66
	3.	.5.5	In-vitro drug release of hot-melt extruded pellets	. 69
	3.	.5.6	Pellet morphology	. 74
	3.	.5.7	In-vitro drug release and thermal characterization of pellets after storage	. 77
	3.6	Conc	lusions	. 77
	3.7	Confl	ict of interest	. 78
	3.8	Ackn	owledgements	. 78
	3.9	Refer	ences	. 79
4	Dev	elopn	nent of an abuse and alcohol-resistant formulation based on hot-melt	t
	extr	usion	and film coating	. 83
	4.1	Abstr	act	. 84
	4.2	Introc	luction	. 84
	4.3	Mate	rials and methods	. 86
	4.	.3.1	Materials	. 86
	4.	.3.2	Drug solubility determination	. 87
	4.	.3.3	HME process	. 87
	4.	.3.4	Coating process	. 90
	4.	.3.5	Characterization of drug loaded pellets	. 90
	4.4	Resu	Its and discussion	. 92
	4.	.4.1	Drug solubility determination	. 92
	4.	.4.2	Preparation of pellets via HME	. 92
	4.	.4.3	Characterization of pellets	. 94
	4.5	Conc	lusions	. 99
	4.6	Ackn	owledgements1	100
	4.7	Decla	aration of conflicts of interest1	100
	4.8	Refer	rences1	100
5	Sun	nmary	of major findings1	104
6	Out	look		106
7	List	of Pu	blications1	108

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Multiple-unit dosage forms (Pellets)

The concept of multiple-unit dosage forms was established in the 1950s [1]. A multipleunit dosage form is defined as *an oral pharmaceutical formulation composed of a unit which disintegrates in the stomach into a variety of small discrete units* (e.g. hard gelatin capsule filled with pellets, tablets compressed from pellets) [2]. These units are spherical or semispherical with a size of 0.5 and 1.5 mm [1] made up of fine powders or granules, also referred to as pellets. Due to their unique properties they offer several therapeutic and technological benefits compared to conventional single-unit dosage forms (e.g. powder-filled capsules, directly compressed tablets), which are often associated with the risk of dose dumping [3].

Pellets are distributed uniformly throughout the gastro-intestinal (GI) tract, thereby enhancing drug absorption, increasing bioavailability, offering less gastric irritation and lowering the risk of dose dumping and side effects [2, 3]. From a technological point of view the benefits of pellets are i) good flow properties due to their uniform size and spherical shape, ii) low friability and iii) a narrow particle size distribution [4]. Hence, pellets are suitable for further processing steps such as capsule filling, tabletting and coating in order to obtain a controlled drug release formulation. Apart from technological advantages, pellets show an improved patient compliance [1] because of individually dosing and, flexibility to body weight dose adaptation for pediatric formulations [5]. Moreover, pellets with different release patterns can be combined to achieve unique release profiles [6].

Pellets are mainly prepared via the wet mass extrusion/spheronization technique [7]. In general, this process involves the following steps: granulation, extrusion, spheronization and drying [7]. The main drawback of this technology is the extensive use of solvents, which are needed to prepare the wet mass by mixing the powder blend and the granulation liquid. Most commonly water is used as the granulation liquid, but also ethanol, water/ethanol mixtures and other organic solvents [1, 4], which often require specialized equipment due to flammability and residue of organic solvents have been reported [8]. Furthermore, time consuming drying phases are needed to remove residual water/solvents. Compared to the well established wet mass extrusion/spheronization process, the technology of hot-melt extrusion (HME) offers some distinct advantages and a promising alternative for pellet manufacturing.

#### 1.2 Hot-melt extrusion

HME is one of the most widely applied processing technologies in the plastic industry since the 1930s, including the production of plastic bags, pipes and sheets [9]. Due to the fact that HME offers several benefits over other traditional pharmaceutical production processes, HME found its place in the pharmaceutical industry for the manufacturing of a variety of dosage forms, such as tablets, granules, pellets, implants, films and patches [10]. As a continuous and solvent-free manufacturing method, HME does not require subsequent drying steps thus, the process is fast, efficient, environmental friendly and cost-effective [9, 11]. In addition to these aspects, HME has the potential to improve the dissolution behavior of poorly soluble drugs and hence their bioavailability, by forming drug/polymer solid dispersions [12]. Since at least 50% of the new chemical entities under development are associated with poor solubility and bioavailability [9, 10, 13], HME is a potent technique to overcome this obstacle.

A formulation for a hot-melt extruded dosage form typically comprises a drug which is embedded into a matrix carrier, as well as other components, such as plasticizers, antitacking agents, pore formers, disintegrants and others [8]. The selection of an appropriate carrier system is crucial in the formulation and design of a hot melt-extruded dosage form. Carrier systems that are generally used are thermoplastic polymers, low-melting waxes and lipids [8, 9].

Basically, HME transfers a powder mix with a rotating screw through an orifice at elevated temperatures to obtain a product of uniform shape and density [9, 14]. A typical continuous HME process comprises i) feeding of the formulation via one or more feeders (volumetrically or gravimetrically), ii) conveying of the feedstock along the barrels via a rotating screw, where melting, plasticizing, mixing and homogenization takes place, iii) downstream processing and iv) monitoring with on-line and in-line control tools to ensure an appropriate product quality [10, 15, 16].

In the pharmaceutical industry co-rotating intermeshing twin-screw extruders are the most important type of extruders [9]. The screw is located inside a cylindrical barrel and can be designed individually with the help of various screw elements like conveying and kneading elements to meet particular requirements such as high or low shear. The barrels are composed of individually-controllable heating-sections, which are bolted together.

Based on the desired final dosage form various downstream systems, like calandering, injection molding and strand cutting are available [16]. To form almost spherical pellets a hot die-face pelletizer can be used as downstream unit [8, 16-18]. The hot die-face pelletizer is directly connected to the extrusion die, where the emerging extruded strands are cut immediately at the orifice using rotating knives [16].

In summary, HME represents an innovative approach for the production of several types of dosage forms and drug delivery systems. Various studies have demonstrated that HME has been used successfully for improving the dissolution rate and bioavailability of the drug by forming a solid dispersion, masking the bitter taste of a drug, and providing controlled, modified, and targeted drug release [9, 10, 14, 19]. Furthermore, due to the dense structure and hardness of melt extruded solid dosage forms it is suggested that HME is a promising manufacturing process for the development of robust dosage forms that minimize the risk of drug abuse and alcohol-induced dose dumping [11, 18, 20, 21].

#### 1.3 Drug abuse

The issue of prescription drug abuse outlines a major public health challenge and growing problem associated with considerable social and human costs in USA and Europe [22]. Results from the International Narcotics Control Board reported that emergency room visits and drug overdose deaths related to prescription opioid drugs in the US are increasing outnumber road accident fatalities [22]. Also in Europe the number of deaths remains high and is increasing in some countries [22]. Moreover, frequent abuse of opioid drugs might lead to serious consequences such as negative health effects (HIV, hepatitis C), social concerns (unemployment) and drug-related crime [23].

The phrase "prescription drug abuse" encompass the term "drug abuse" as well as "drug misuse" [24]. Drug abuse can be referred to *the use of medication for its mind-altering effects, whether or not one also has pain or has been prescribed the medication (nonmedical use)* [25], whereas drug misuse can be defined as *inappropriate use of a medication but for a medical purpose rather than for mind-altering effects* [25].

Especially, oral opioids and non-opioid drugs with a narrow therapeutic range, such as benzodiazepines (central nervous system depressants) and amphetamines (stimulants) show a high potential for abuse [24]. Primarily, controlled-release opioid dosage forms that are first-choice formulations for (chronic) pain treatment [26-28] are particularly popular among drug abusers due to their high drug loading and euphoric effects [24]. Tampering of the dosage form, which describes a chemical or physical manipulation that alters or damages the integrity of the dosage form, is usually done to achieve euphoric and mind-altering effects [24]. In the early stages, persons open to drug abuse prefer to take an overdose orally by simple chewing or swallowing. As abuse progresses, the route of administration tends from oral use to snorting and finally to intravenous injection [25, 29]. However, almost all forms of tampering start with the dosage form being grounded into fine powder to make nasal insufflation and intravenous administration feasible [24]. Alternatively, smoking or inhalation, and extracting the dosage form with water or alcohol

are further possibilities for tampering [24]. In addition, the simultaneous intake of alcoholic beverages together with oral opioid controlled-release formulations is another common tampering method [24, 28, 30]. Here, alcohol has the potential to alter the release-rate-controlling mechanism of the dosage form which may result in a premature and exaggerated drug release of the complete dose, leading to drastically increased peak plasma concentrations (i.e., an opioid overdose, which may lead to respiratory depression followed by hypoxia and even death [31]) [32]. This phenomenon is known as alcohol-induced dose dumping and poses a serious safety concern [11, 28, 32-34].

Overall, there is a growing need to develop new flexible technologies for producing safe drug formulations that impede/minimize both (i) drug abuse and (ii) alcohol-induced dose dumping.

1.3.1 Approaches to counteract drug abuse (Abuse-deterrent formulations ADFs) To counteract drug abuse a number of novel formulation types and strategies, with the aim to prevent the abuser from achieving a rapid euphoric effect, have been introduced over the last few years. In general, two formulation approaches exist which can be classified into abuse-deterrent formulations (ADFs) and tamper-resistant formulations [35]. The former approach is designed to decrease the desirability of the formulation to the abuser, while the latter one prevents tampering and stops alteration of the formulation altogether. However, it has to be noticed that, according to Katz et al. [36], the term "abuse-deterrent" is used rather than "tamper-resistant" since "resistant" may imply a degree of infallibility of these formulations (FDA) prefers to use the term "abuse-deterrent" because "tamper-resistant" refers to packaging requirements regarding certain classes of drugs, devices, and cosmetics [37].

In April 2015 the FDA, who considers the development of ADFs a high public health priority, issued the final guidance document covering the evaluation and labeling of abuse deterrent opioids [37] to provide a general framework for the categorization of ADFs. This suggested framework includes several approaches that impede drug abuse:

• Physical and chemical barriers

Physical and chemical barriers can prevent common methods of mechanical tampering. While physical barriers hinder destruction of the dosage form (e.g., due to increased hardness), chemical barriers (e.g., gelling agents) impede extraction using common solvents.

#### Agonist/antagonist combinations

An opioid antagonist is incorporated to counteract the physiological effects of the drug, therefore reduces euphoria if the drug product is manipulated. The drug product can be

designed such that the antagonist is not clinically active if the medication is used as prescribed, but becomes active if the product is manipulated.

Aversion

Aversive agents can be added to the formulation to create unpleasant temporary side effects (e.g., warmth, flushing, itching, sweating) if the product is manipulated or overdosed.

• Certain delivery systems

It is recommended to use unattractive delivery systems (e.g., subcutaneous implants and depot injectable formulations), which may be difficult to manipulate.

• New molecular entities (NME) and prodrugs

Prodrugs are biologically inactive substances that hinder opioid activity and the associated euphoric effects until they are metabolized in vivo to their active form can minimize abuse.

- Combinations of the previous categories
- Novel approaches/technologies that are not covered by the previous categories

Based on this framework table 1 provides a comprehensive overview of both approved and non-approved products having abuse deterrent properties. However, it has to be noticed that the table not solely includes opioids but also other drugs with abuse potential such as central nervous system (cns)-stimulants (i.e., methylphenidate HCl, lisdexamfetamine dimesylate).

Physical/chemical bar	riers			
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
Remoxy	SR capsule	ORADUR (DURECT Corp.) - gelatin capsule consists of	No, denied 2011 due	[38-40]
(Pain Therapeutics Inc.)	Oxycodone HCI	a highly viscous base material (sucrose acetate	to concerns in the	
		isobutyrate) to provide controlled drug release and a	chemistry.	
		barrier against extraction. crushing, chewing and	manufacturing and	
		dissolution in alcohol.	controls section.	
Opana ER	ER tablet		Yes, 2011	[21,41]
Endo Pharmaceuticals	Oxymorphone HCI	<i>latac</i> (Grimenthal GmbH)—HME process using high		
lnc.)		and some second s		
Oxycontin	CR tablet	interculal weight neo-pased mixtures offering a mainer word of the othership mechanical strength which is	Yes, 2010	[41-43]
(Purdue Pharma L. P.)	Oxycodone HCI			
Nucynta ER	ER tablct	hard to chew, crush and short. Additionally, the tablet	Ycs, 2011	[44, 45]
(Janssen	Tapentadol	forms a viscous gel when placed in fluids.		
Pharmaceuticals Inc.)				
Exalgo	ER tablet	OROS Push-Pull osmotic delivery system (Alza Corp.) –	Yes. 2010	[46-48]
(Mallinckrodt, Inc.)	Hydrom orphone HCI	_ tablet is surrounded by a drug release rate-controlling		
Concerta	ER tablet	semipermeable and non-erodible rigid cellulose acetate	Yes, 2000	[48, 49]
(Janssen	Methylphenidate HCI	membrane which is resistant to physical tampering and		
Pharmaceuticals Inc.)		extraction.		
Xartemis XR	EK tablet	Acutorn (Depomed+ - polymer-based gastric retentive	Yes. 2014	[48.50.51]
(Mallinckrodt	Oxycodone	platform (not intended as ADF, but high amount of PEO		
Phamaceuticals)	HCI/acetaminophen	makes the tablets harder to crush, snort or inject).		

 Table 1

 Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

Nchemical b				
	Dosage form/API	Technology FDA ap	ıpproval Refer	ences
	ER tablet	PODRAS Paradoxical OverDose Resistance Not yet.	t, but FDA [29, 52	2.53]
eutics	Oxycodone HCI	Activating System (Intellipharmaceutics Inc.) - is grants F	Fast Track	
		intended to decrease the likelihood of oral abuse. designa	ation in	
		Product is difficult to chew, crush, grind, snort or May 20'	015	
		inject. Additionally. the product claims to be dose-		
		dumping resistant.		
	ER capsule	DETERx (Collegium Pharmaceutical Inc.) - Not yet.	t.but FDA [48.5 <sup>z</sup>	H57]
	Oxycodone HCI	microsphere-in-capsule formulation consists of grants F	Fast Track	
lnc.)		hydrophobic waxes and drug-fatty acid ionic designa	ation in	
		complexes. designed to resist tampering and dose. Februar	ary 2015	
		dumping without compromising the drug release		
		profile. Additionally , the product can be administered		
		as a sprinkle or through feeding tubes. which offer a		
		benefit for chronic pain patients with dysphaghie.		
	IR oral dosage form	SMART/Script technology (SMART/Simple, Not	yet. has [48.50	5
	Oxycodone HCI	Controllable. Resistant. Insoluble. Physical Trapi finished	d preclinical	
Is Inc.)		(Atlantic Pharmaceuticals Inc.) – uses a testing		
		physical/chemical component system. Upon		
		tampering inactive ingredients are released which		
		can be used to soften the impact of crushing and to		
		agglomerate with and imay sequester the drug		
		thereby slowing drug release and hinder dose		
		dumbina.		

Continuation of Table 1 Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent

<b>Physical/chemical</b>	barriers			
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
Egalet-001;	ER tablet	Guardian technology (Egalet Corp.) - uses injection	Not yet, in late-	[46, 59, 60]
Egalet-002	<b>MorphineHCI</b>	molding to create mechanically strong matrix tablets	stage clinical	
(Egalet Corp.)	Oxycodone HCI	combined of an outer non-erodible shell (ethyl cellulose	development	
		or polylactic acid) that is filled with an erodible drug	(phase III)	
		matrix core (primarily made of PEO and plasticizer).		
		Recistant to physical tampering and exhibits a precision		
		zero-order delivery profile.		
	IR/CR oral dosage	<i>Nobus</i> e (Tris Pharma) – a drug-ion exchange resin	No.	[48, 61]
	form	complex is formed and coated with a flexible non-	under	
		breakable film (PVA. plasticizer. enteric polymers).	development	
	IR/ER oral dosage	Opt/Ge/ Lock technology (Catalent Inc.) - softgel	No.	[48, 62]
	form	formulation that can be used for both IR and ER oral	under	
		products and offers multi-level abuse deterrence.	development	
		Softgels cannot easily be crushed or ground into tine		
		powders. thereby impede nasal administration and		
		inhalation. May also include bubbling agents that foam		
		when the product is aspirated which prevent injection		
		abuse by decreasing syringeability.		
1	CR oral dosage form	IntelliPASTE (Intellipharmaceutics Inc.) – novel	No.	[48.63]
		technology described as "paste in a capsule" and is	under	
		composed of hydrophobic fatty materials (e.g., oll, wax)	development	
		mixed with clay (e.g., bentonite). The paste behaves like		
		toothpaste and has abuse-deterrent properties.		

#### Continuation of Table 1

Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

hysical/chemical ba	Irriers			
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
CEP-33237	≣R tablet	OraGuard technology (Cima Labs Inc.) - tamper-	Not yet, FDA	[48, 64-66]
Teva Phannaceutical	Hydrocodone bitartrate	and dose dumping-resistant properties achieved	has accepted	
ndustries Ltd.)		due to a multistep process: drug is wet granulated	for review the	
		with appropriate polymers: subsequently, granules	NDA for CEP.	
		are coated with strong polymer film, mixed with	33237 in	
		gel-form ng polymersand corr pressed into tablets.	February 2015	
	<b>CR</b> solid oral dosage	Trigger Lock platform (Flamel Technologies) -	Na	[67.68]
	<sup>+</sup> orm :capsules or	∵drug oad≎c coated <i>Micropump</i> <sup>6</sup> microparticles	under	
	tablets)	which are resistant to all usual crushing tools	deve opment	
		(retaining its coating integrity even after crushing)		
		and extraction.		
Maxiluo	R/CR solid oral dosage	Stealth Beadlets (ORxPhanna) - beadlets (i.e.,	No	[48.69]
OR × Pharma)	iorm :capsules or	· group of pellets. granules or beads) consists of	unde <sup>.</sup>	
	tablets)	acth hydrophilic and hydrophobic substances and	deve opment	
	Murphine	mixed with an alkalizing agent (i.e., meglumine).		
	HCI/Oxycodone HCI	Forming a barner to product tampering and		
		provide resistance against extraction and dose		
		dumping.		
evoCap ER	ΞR capsule	SECUREL (Relmada Therapeut cs Inc.) - the	Not yet, end of	[48.70]
Reimada Therapeutics	_evorphanol	formulation is composed of drug. HPMIC (deters	phase II	
nc.)		extraction by gel forming when heated above 40	expected to	
		C). fumed silica (enhances thickening of HPMC in	take place	
		aqueous environment), cocorrut oil (produces	hefore the end	
		stickiness to waxes and makes organic extraction	cf2015	
		医自己的 计分子分子 化合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合合		

Continuation of Table 1

Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

Ca Ca te	ontinuation of T ategorization of chnologies.	<b>able 1</b> ADFs approa	ches and	associated	products	with	suitable	abuse-deter	rren
	rences 2]	3-75]			5		0, 81]		

Product	Dosage form/API	Technology FDA approval	Referen
	IR/CR/SR capaula	ABUSOLVE (Encep Drug Delivery, a division of No.	[71, 72]
		Capsugel) – hard shell capsules filled with various under developm	ŧ
		materials to provide the desired release profile (IR, CR,	
		SR) and deter abuse by snorting, heating, injecting and	
		dose dumping (high melting point excipients, highly	
		viscous, or water/ethanol insoluble materials).	
	ER tablet	LookTab (Ethypharm) — high mechanical strength tablets. No.	[48. 73-7
	Oxycodone HCI	which limit the abuse via crushing, shorting, chewing and lunder developm	ŧ
		extraction in addition, the formulation prevents dose	
		dumping.	
	ER tablets	INTELLITAB (Altus Formulation) – mechanically strong No.	[76]
		tablets that resist common drug tampering Tablets under developm	ŧ
		immediately form hard. stable gels upon extracting in	
		common solvents.	
Hysingla ER	ER tablets	RES/STEC (Purdue Pharma L.P.) - unique combination Yes. 2014	[77]
(Purdue Pharma L.P.)	Hydrocodone bitartrate	of polymer and processing to ensure a high tablet	
		hardness. When dissolved in aqueous environment, the	
		tablet instantly forms a viscous hydrogel.	
Zohydro ER	ER capsule	BeadTek technology (Pemix Therapeutics) – a capsule Yes. 2015	[78. 79]
(Pemix Therapeutics)	Hydrocodonebitartrate	formulation technology comprises an indistinguishable	
		blend of mactive beads, active IK drug beads and active	
		ER drug beads. If the capsule is crushed and dissolved in	
		liquids. a viscous gel is immediately formed.	
MorphaBond ER	ER tablet	Unnamed (inspirion delivery technologies, LLC) - solid No,	[48. 80, 8
(Inspinon delivery	<ul> <li>Morphine suitate</li> </ul>	tablet consists of central core (e.g., gelling agents) under developm	nt
technologies. LLCJ		covered by protective coating barrier that provides	
		mechanical strength. Core is surrounded by a diffusion-	
		controlled drug layer. Upon crushing/extracting the	
		central core starts to gel and entraps the drug.	

Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
Talwin NX	Tablets	Co-formulated with a small amount of naloxone to block	Yes, 1967	[24, 48]
(Sanofi-Aventis)	Pentazocine	euphoric effects of pentazocine when injected.	(reformulation in	
			1982)	
Embeda CII	ER capsule	Gelatin capsule containing pellets of morphine sulfate	Yes, 2009	[48,82]
(Pfizer)	Morphine sulfate	surrounding an inner core of sequestered nattrexone HCI		
		rantagonist). When tampered the antagonist is released		
		to counteract the addictive effects of the opioid.		
ALO-02	ER capsule	Gelatin capsule containing pellets of morphine sulfate	No, FDA has	[83]
(Pfizer)	Oxycodone HCI	surrounding an inner core of sequestered nattrexone HCI	accepted for	
		rantagoristi. When tampered the antagonist is released	review the NDA	
		to counteract the addictive effects of the opioid.	for ALO-02 in	
			February 2015	
ELI-200	SR capsule	ART technology (Elite Pharmaceuticals Inc.) -capsule	Not yet, in phase	[48.84]
(Elite Pharmaceuticals		filled with small beads each containing an opioid and an	≡	
Inc.}		opioid antagonist (naltrexone HCI).		
Suboxone	Sublingual film	Fast dissolving sublingual combination product	Yes. 2010	[48,85]
(Reckitt Benckiser	Buprenorphine	containing an opioid and an opioid antagonist (naloxone)		
Phannaceuticals Inc.)		was introduced as an alternative to tablets due to greater		
		patient acceptance and better abuse deterrence.		
Targiniq ER	ER tablets	Formulation contains a combination of oxycodone and	Yes, 2014	[48,86]
(Purdue Pharma L.P.)	Oxycodone HCI	naloxone in a 2:1 ratio. The antagonist is added to block		
		euphoric effects of the opioid if tablet is manipulated.		

**Continuation of Table 1** Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

Product	Dosage form/API	Technology FC	JA approval	References
l omotil	Tablet	Formulation includ <del>es <i>atropice sulfat</i>e as</del> aversive Ye	19.1960	[48]
(PfizerUS	DiphenoxylateHCI	agent to discourage deliberate overdosage. Atropine		
Pharmaceuticals)		can causa dry month, waaknass, blurrad Malon,		
		fatigue and tachycardia when taken in large doses		
Acurox	IR tablet	Formulation contains the aversive agent macin to No	>. rejected 2010	[85, 86]
(Acuta	Oxycodone HCI	cause unpleasant side effects (flushing, warmth and (ar	nti-abuse	
Pharmaceuticals		tingling of skin, if an overdose is taken. This product pro	operties of niacin	
		is now marketed under the trade name. Oxaydo (see iber	Ing questioned)	
		Combinations) without the niacin.		
Certain delivery	' systems			
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	'DA approval	References
Probuphine	Subdermalimplant	ProNewra toohmology (Titan Pharmaocutioals Ino.) N	lot yet. end of	[87, 88]
(Titan	Buprenorphine HCI	the long acting implant delivers a constant low level of pl	hase III expected	
Pharmaceuticals		the drug for up to six months without the possibility of b;	y mid 2016	
lno.)		tempering. Beceuse of the matrix technology of the		
		implant (small solid rod comprising a mixture of drug		
		and othylone Vinyl acctate) It is difficult to retrieve the		
		drug from the rod and discourages patients' attempts		
		to remove them -		
I	ER oral dosage form	Geopolymer metrix (Emplicure AB) – Geopolymer is a N	lo.	[89, 90]
		porous ceramic material composed of the three u	nder development	
		dimensional polysialate framework containing SiO4		
		and AIO4. The geopolymer matrix offers high		
		mechanical strength, adjustable porosity and good		
		resistance against extraction in different solvents.		
I	Transdermal patch	Geopolymer matrix (Emplicure AB) - tamper resistant N	0	[90, 91]
		transdermal patch based on a geopolymer formulation ui	nder development	
		where the drug is incorporated in a geopolymer matrix.		

#### Continuation of Table 1

Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

New molecular e	ntities (NME) and pro	drugs		
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
Vyvanse	Capsule	In-vivo conversion of lisdexamfetamine dimesviate to	Yes. 2007	[48.94.95]
(Shire US Inc.)	Lisdexamfetamine	dextroamphetamine. The conversion is rate-limiting and		
	dimesylate	occurs in the systemic circulation. The formulation has		
		reduced potential for recreational abuse.		
KP201/APAP	IR oral dosage form	${\cal KP}$ 201 combines hydrocodone with the ligand benzoic	No, NDA filing	[96]
(Kem Pharm Inc.)	KP201 (NME prodrug	acid. Hydrocodone is not released until it is metabolized in	anticipated in the	
	of hydrocodone)/	the GI tract following oral administration (molecular-based	second half of	
	acetaminophen	approach to abuse-deterrence.	2015	
Combinations				
Product	Dosage form/API	Technology	FDA approval	References
Oxaydo	IR tablet	AVERS/ON (Acura Pharmaceuticals) - incorporates a	Yes. 2011	[48.97]
(Egalet Corp.)	Oxycodone HCI	gelling agent (i.e., PEO) to impede injection and a nasal		
		tissue irritant (i.e., sodium lauryl sulfate) to limit nasal		

#### Continuation of Table 1

Categorization of ADFs approaches and associated products with suitable abuse-deterrent technologies.

insufflations.

From table 1 it is obvious that there are some products, which are resistant to multiple routes of drug tampering and alcohol-induced dose dumping. However, the majority of these products are single-unit dosage formulations (i.e., tablets) like Exalgo<sup>®</sup>, a hydromorphone once daily controlled-release formulation. Exalgo<sup>®</sup> was brought into the market after Palladone<sup>™</sup> was withdrawn from the market in 2005 due to concerns relating to alcohol interfering with the release-rate-controlling mechanism and causing lethal episodes of dose dumping [29, 98]. To date, only two multiple-unit preparations (i.e., Xtampza ER capsule, Moxduo), which are currently not yet approved by the FDA, have been designed to resist drug tampering and dose dumping without compromising the drug release profile.

However, beside the above mentioned technologies (see Table 1) there are further approaches described [11], which may help to overcome the problems of alcohol-induced dose dumping. It is suggested, to consider the physico-chemical key factors (i.e., solubility, wettability, swellability) of the drug, the excipients and the final dosage form. Moreover, the selection of appropriate polymers (i.e., polyethylene oxide, cross-linked high amylose starch, carbomer, hypromellose) in combination with alcohol resistant coatings (i.e., Aquacoat ARC<sup>®</sup>) and/or promising technologies, such as HME, are beneficial for the preparation of multiple-unit alcohol-robust formulations. For detailed information, please refer to chapter 2.

#### 1.4 Objective

Prescription opioid abuse is a worldwide growing significant health problem. The best strategy to address this problem would be the development of new molecular entities that are able to relieve pain without possessing euphoric and physical dependence effects, which is not possible up to date. Thus, the manufacturing of abuse-deterrent dosage forms is highly important. Furthermore, it is known that patients who suffer from (chronic) pain, and who are frequently treated with controlled-release opioid analgesics as first choice medications, often consume alcoholic beverages together with their medications to manage pain [99]. Alcohol is likely to interact with the drug product and causes a sudden drug liberation (i.e., dose dumping), which possibly results in dangerous side effects and poses a serious safety concern. Hence, to tackle the problem of alcohol-induced dose dumping, robust dosage forms that withstand the influence of alcohol need to be designed. So far, publications regarding safe multiple-unit drug products that prevent both drug abuse and alcohol-induced dose dumping remain limited, thus this thesis focused on the development of multiple-unit pellets via HME that feature a controlled drug release, drug abuse deterrence and a minimal risk of alcohol dose dumping.

First of all, this work deals with physico-chemical key factors, which have to be considered, as well as suitable matrix systems and promising technological approaches, which are appropriate to prevent alcohol-induced dose dumping. Moreover, this work encompasses investigations of the interactions between alcohol and a lipophilic hot-melt extruded pellet formulation. In-vitro drug release studies in alcoholic and non-alcoholic media were performed and the pellet surface properties and internal morphology were studied. Moreover, media uptake and wetting behavior upon exposure to alcoholic media were examined. To additionally impede intentional drug tampering with common household devices, deformable pellets with high compression strength were prepared via an innovative continuous one-step HME technique, with the drug fed as an aqueous solution into the molten matrix material. Subsequent coating of the pellets ensured a controlled drug release and avoids alcohol-induced dose dumping. Again, the in-vitro drug release behavior of the pellets in alcoholic and non-alcoholic media was examined and characterization of the pellets regarding their mechanical properties was conducted.

#### 1.5 References

[1] R. Gandhi, C. Lal Kaul, R. Panchagnula, *Extrusion and spheronization in the development of oral controlled-release dosage forms*, Pharm. Sci. Technol. To. 2 (1999) 160-170.

[2] H. Bechgaard, G.H. Nielsen, *Controlled-release multiple-units and single-unit doses a literature review*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 4 (1978) 53-67.

[3] R. Bodmeier, Tableting of coated pellets, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 43 (1997) 1-8.

[4] M.A. Rahman, A. Ahuja, S. Baboota, Bhavna, V. Bali, N. Saigal, J. Ali, *Recent advances in pelletization technique for oral drug delivery: A review*, Curr. Drug Del. 6 (2009) 122-129.

[5] P.C. Kayumba, N. Huyghebaert, C. Cordella, J.D. Ntawukuliryayo, C. Vervaet, J.P. Remon, *Quinine sulphate pellets for flexible pediatric drug dosing: Formulation development and evaluation of taste-masking efficiency using the electronic tongue*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 66 (2007) 460-465.

[6] P. Roy, A. Shahiwala, *Multiparticulate formulation approach to pulsatile drug delivery: Current perspectives*, J. Control. Release 134 (2009) 74-80.

[7] C. Vervaet, L. Baert, J.P. Remon, *Extrusion-spheronisation a literature review*, Int. J. Pharm. 116 (1995) 131-146.

[8] E. Roblegg, E. Jäger, A. Hodzic, G. Koscher, S. Mohr, A. Zimmer, J. Khinast, *Development of sustained-release lipophilic calcium stearate pellets via hot melt extrusion*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 79 (2011) 635-645.

[9] M.M. Crowley, F. Zhang, M.A. Repka, S. Thumma, S.B. Upadhye, S. Kumar Battu, J.W. McGinity, C. Martin, *Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part I*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 909-926.

[10] M.A. Repka, S. Shah, J. Lu, S. Maddineni, J. Morott, K. Patwardhan, N.N. Mohammed, *Melt extrusion: process to product*, Expert Opin. Drug Del. 9 (2012) 105-125.

[11] N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping – A review*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 87 (2014) 217-226.

[12] A. Forster, J. Hempenstall, T. Rades, *Characterization of glass solutions of poorly water-soluble drugs produced by melt extrusion with hydrophilic amorphous polymers*, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53 (2001) 303-315.

[13] S. Shah, S. Maddineni, J. Lu, M.A. Repka, *Melt extrusion with poorly soluble drugs*, Int. J. Pharm. 453 (2013) 233-252.

[14] J. Breitenbach, *Melt extrusion: from process to drug delivery technology*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 54 (2002) 107-117.

[15] A. Dreiblatt, *Process Design*, in: I. Ghebre-Sellassie, C. Martin (Eds.), Pharmaceutical Extrusion Technology, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 2003, pp. 153-169.

[16] D. Treffer, P. Wahl, D. Markl, G. Koscher, E. Roblegg, J.G. Khinast, *Hot melt extrusion as a continuous pharmaceutical manufacturing process*, in: M.A. Repka, N. Langley, J. DiNunzio (Eds.), Melt Extrusion, Springer New York, 2013, pp. 363-396.

[17] S. Bialleck, H. Rein, *Preparation of starch-based pellets by hot-melt extrusion*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 79 (2011) 440-448.

[18] N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, S. Mohr, A. Feichtinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Alcohol dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 92 (2015) 83-95.

[19] M.A. Repka, S.K. Battu, S.B. Upadhye, S. Thumma, M.M. Crowley, F. Zhang, C. Martin, J.W. McGinity, *Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part II*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 1043-1057.

[20] W. Roth, B. Setnik, M. Zietsch, A. Burst, J. Breitenbach, E. Sellers, D. Brennan, *Ethanol effects on drug release from Verapamil Meltrex, an innovative melt extruded formulation*, Int. J. Pharm. 368 (2009) 72-75.

[21] J.H. Bartholomaeus, E. Arkenau-Maric, E. Galia, *Opioid extended-release tablets with improved tamper-resistant properties*, Expert Opin. Drug Del. 9 (2012) 879-891.

[22] Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2014

[23] H. Harwood , D. Fountain, G. Livermore, *The economic costs of alcohol and drug abuse in the United States-1992*, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Rockville, 1998.

[24] D.J. Mastropietro, H. Omidian, *Current approaches in tamper-resistant and abusedeterrent formulations*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 39 (2013) 1-14.

[25] N. Katz, Abuse-deterrent opioid formulations: Are they a pipe dream?, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 10 (2008) 11-18.

[26] G.K. Gourlay, Sustained relief of chronic pain: pharmacokinetics of sustained release morphine, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 35 (1998) 173-190.

[27] J.P. Skelly, G.L. Amidon, W.H. Barr, L.Z. Benet, J.E. Carter, J.R. Robinson, V.P. Shah, A. Yacobi, *In vitro and in vivo testing and correlation for oral controlled/modified-release dosage forms*, Pharm. Res. 7 (1990) 975-982.

[28] M. Walden, F.A. Nicholls, K.J. Smith, G.T. Tucker, *The effect of ethanol on the release of opioids from oral prolonged-release preparations*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 1101-1111.

[29] L.M. Lourenço, M. Matthews, R.N. Jamison, *Abuse-deterrent and tamper-resistant opioids: how valuable are novel formulations in thwarting non-medical use?*, Expert Opin. Drug Del. 10 (2013) 229-240.

[30] S.E. McCabe, J.A. Cranford, M. Morales, A.M.Y. Young, *Simultaneous and concurrent polydrug use of alcohol and prescription drugs: prevalence, correlates, and consequences*, J. Stud. Alcohol 67 (2006) 529-537.

[31] J.M. White, R.J. Irvine, *Mechanisms of fatal opioid overdose*, Addiction 94 (1999) 961-972.

[32] R.J. Meyer, A.S. Hussain, *Awareness topic: Mitigating the risks of ethanol induced dose dumping from oral sustained/controlled release dosage forms*, in: ACPS Meeting October, 2005.

[33] H. Lennernäs, *Ethanol-drug absorption interaction: potential for a significant effect on the plasma pharmacokinetics of ethanol vulnerable formulations*, Mol. Pharm. 6 (2009) 1429-1440.

[34] H.M. Fadda, M.A. Mohamed, A.W. Basit, *Impairment of the in vitro drug release behaviour of oral modified release preparations in the presence of alcohol*, Int. J. Pharm. 360 (2008) 171-176.

[35] L.R. Webster, B. Bath, R.A. Medve, *Opioid formulations in development designed to curtail abuse: who is the target?*, Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 18 (2009) 255-263.

[36] N.P. Katz, E.H. Adams, H. Chilcoat, R.D. Colucci, S.D. Comer, P. Goliber, C. Grudzinskas, D. Jasinski, S.D. Lande, S.D. Passik, S.H. Schnoll, E. Sellers, D. Travers, R. Weiss, *Challenges in the development of prescription opioid abuse-deterrent formulations*, Clin. J. Pain 23 (2007) 648-660.

[37] *FDA Guidance for Industry Abuse-Deterrent Opioids - Evaluation and Labeling*, www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/U CM334743.pdf (11.06.2015).

[38] Durect, Oradur Oral Delivery Technology, www.durect.com/pdf/Durect\_Oradur\_Brochure\_2012.pdf (11.06.2015).

[39] Pain Therapeutics Inc., Remoxy, http://www.paintrials.com/remoxy.html (11.06.2015).

[40] J.V. Pergolizzi, G. Zampogna, R. Taylor, R.B. Raffa, *Long-term efficacy, safety and tolerability of Remoxy for the management of chronic pain*, Expert Rev. Neurotherapeutics 15 (2015) 231-238.

[41] R. Moorman-Li, C.A. Motycka, L.D. Inge, J.M. Congdon, S. Hobson, B. Pokropski, *A review of abuse-deterrent opioids for chronic nonmalignant pain*, Pharmacy Therapeutics 37 (2012) 412-418.

[42] FDA, *FDA approves abuse-deterrent labeling for reformulated OxyContin*, http://www.fda.gov/newsevents/newsroom/pressannouncements/ucm348252.htm (11.06.2015).

[43] Grünenthal Group Backgrounder, *Opioid Abuse Backgrounder*, http://www.google.at/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CB8QFjAAah UKEwjyyO-

vr4jGAhWH7RQKHRiEAJA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.grunenthal.com%2Fcms%2Fcda %2F\_common%2Finc%2Fdisplay\_file.jsp%3FfileID%3D225300057&ei=xeB5VbLSF4fbU5 ilgoAJ&usg=AFQjCNGWJJz9t10Ne9nJBPZjpANjWEwemw&bvm=bv.95515949,bs.1,d.bG Q&cad=rja (11.06.2015).

[44] J.H. Bartholomaeus, S. Schwier, M. Brett, H.-J. Stahlberg, E. Galia, K. Strothmann, *New abuse deterrent formulation (ADF) technology for immediate-release opioids*, Drug Dev. Deliv. 13 (2013) 76-81.

[45] S.K. Vosburg, J.D. Jones, J.M. Manubay, J.B. Ashworth, D.Y. Shapiro, S.D. Comer, *A comparison among tapentadol tamper-resistant formulations (TRF) and OxyContin<sup>®</sup> (non-TRF) in prescription opioid abusers*, Addiction 108 (2013) 1095-1106.

[46] G. Sathyan, K. Sivakumar, J. Thipphawong, *Pharmacokinetic profile of a 24-hour controlled-release OROS formulation of hydromorphone in the presence of alcohol*, Curr. Med. Res. Opin. 24 (2008) 297-305.

[47] J. Gardner-Nix, S. Mercadante, *The role of OROS<sup>®</sup> hydromorphone in the management of cancer pain*, Pain Pract. 10 (2010) 72-77.

[48] D.J. Mastropietro, H. Omidian, *Abuse-deterrent formulations: Part 2: commercial products and proprietary technologies*, Expert Opin. Pharmaco. 16 (2015) 305-323.

[49] R. DuPont, S.D. Lande, *Impact of drug formulation: the impact of abuse deterrent formulation on the incidence of abuse and diversion of OROS methylphenidate*, Drug Alcohol Depend. 83 (Suppl 1) (2006) S83-89.

[50] Depomed, *Our technology - Acuform*, http://www.depomed.com/technology (12.06.2015).

[51] J. Pergolizzi, Jr., R. Taylor, Jr., R. Raffa, *The potential role of an extended-release, abuse-deterrent oxycodone/acetaminophen fixed-dose combination product for the treatment of acute pain*, Adv. Ther. (2015) 1-11.

[52] Intellipharmaceutics, *FDA* grants fast track designation for Intellipharmaceutics Rexista<sup>TM</sup> Oxycodone XR incorporating PODRAS<sup>TM</sup> technology, http://www.intellipharmaceutics.com/releasedetail.cfm?ReleaseID=914770 (15.06.2015).

[53] Intellipharmaceutics, *Rexista™ Oxycodone*, http://www.intellipharmaceutics.com/product-detail.cfm?productID=118886 (15.06.2015).

[54] A.B. Fleming, D.R. Carlson, R.K. Varanasi, M. Grima, S.P. Mayock, S. Saim, E.A. Kopecky, *Evaluation of an extended-release, abuse-deterrent, microsphere-in-capsule analgesic for the management of patients with chronic pain with dysphagia (CPD)*, Pain Practice (2015).

[55] Collegium Pharmaceutical, Collegium Pharmaceutical announces FDA acceptance for filing of NDA for Xtampza ER<sup>TM</sup> (oxycodone extended-release capsules), an abusedeterrent analgesic for chronic pain, http://www.collegiumpharma.com/news/2015/02/collegium-pharmaceutical-announcesfda-acceptance-nda-xtampza-er (15.06.2015).

[56] Collegium Pharmaceutical, *DETERx Technology Platform*, http://www.collegiumpharma.com/technology-platform/overview (15.06.2015).

[57] P. Kopecky, MBA, Ernest A., P. Fleming, Alison B., P. Noonan, Patrick K., M. Varanasi, Ravi K., B. Grima, Michael, P. Saim, Said, B. Mayock, Stephen P., *Impact of physical manipulation on in vitro and in vivo release profiles of oxycodone DETERx<sup>®</sup>: An extended-release, abuse-deterrent formulation, J. Opioid Management, 10 (2014) 14.* 

[58] Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, *Abuse deterrent oral delivery system (SMART/Script™),* http://www.atlanticpharma.com/technology.html (16.06.2015).

[59] Egalet Corporation, *Egalet category 1 abuse-deterrent studies demonstrated strong abuse-deterrent properties of Egalet-002 compared to reformulated OxyContin<sup>®</sup>, http://egalet.investorroom.com/2015-05-28-Egalet-Category-1-Abuse-Deterrent-Studies-Demonstrated-Strong-Abuse-Deterrent-Properties-of-Egalet-002-Compared-to-Reformulated-OxyContin (16.06.2015).* 

[60] Egalet Corporation, *Egalet Guardian™ Technology*, http://egalet.com/rd/technologyoverview/ (16.06.2015).

[61] Tris Pharma, *Abuse Resistance: Nobuse™,* http://www.trispharma.com/technologies\_nobuse.php (17.06.2015).

[62] Catalent Inc, *OptiGel™ Lock Technology*, http://www.catalent.com/index.php/offerings/A-Z-Offerings/optigel-lock-for-abuse-deterrence (16.06.2015).

[63] Intellipharmaceutics, *Technology Portfolio*, http://www.intellipharmaceutics.com/technology\_portfolio.cfm (16.06.2015).

[64] Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd, *Teva announces FDA acceptance for review of NDA for its investigational twice-daily hydrocodone bitartrate extended-release tablets with proprietary abuse deterrence technology*, http://ir.tevapharm.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=73925&p=irol-newsArticle&ID=2019875 (16.06.2015).

[65] Cima Labs Inc, OraGuard abuse-deterrent, alcohol-resistant extendend release technology, http://www.cimalabs.com/technology/oraguard.aspx (16.06.2015).

[66] M. Darwish, M. Bond, W. Tracewell, P. Robertson, Jr., R. Yang, *Pharmacokinetics of hydrocodone extended-release tablets formulated with different levels of coating to achieve abuse deterrence compared with a hydrocodone immediate-release/acetaminophen tablet in healthy subjects*, Clin. Drug Investig. 35 (2015) 13-22.

[67] Flamel technologies, *Flamel's proprietary drug delivery platforms*, www.flamel.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/Flamel-Drug-Delivery-Platforms.pdf (16.06.2015).

[68] Flamel technologies, *Trigger Lock™*, http://www.flamel.com/drug-delivery-platforms/trigger-lock/ (16.06.2015).

[69] QRxPharma, *Stealth Beadlets*, http://www.qrxpharma.com/irm/content/stealth-beadlets.aspx?RID=353 (16.06.2015).

[70] Relmada Therapeutics, Relmada Therapeutics announces notice of allowance for U.S. patent covering SECUREL<sup>TM</sup>, its abuse-deterrent, extended-release, technology platform for opioids, http://www.relmada.com/node/163 (17.06.2016).

[71] Capsugel, *ABUSOLVE* abuse deterrent formulations http://www.capsugel.com/abusolve (16.06.2015).

[72] Encap drug delivery, *ABUSOLVE used for abuse resistant opioid*, http://www.encapdrugdelivery.com/news-and-events/articles/encaps-abusolve-technology-successfully-used-to-develop-new-abuse-resistant-medication (16.06.2015).

[73] L. Trichard, *New trends in drug abuse deterrence, LockTab formulations to adress drug misuse and abuse*, in: 7th World Meeting on Pharmaceutics, Biopharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology - APGI/APV, Malta, 2010.

[74] L. Trichard, V. Cailly-Dufestel, C. Herry, P. Oury, *Crush-resistant tablets to prevent psychoactive drug diversion*, in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Conference, Atlanta, 2008.

[75] Ethypharm, *LOCKTAB<sup>®</sup>*, protected by three patent families, http://www.ethypharm.com/drug-technologies/proprietary-technologies.html (16.06.2015).

[76] Altus Formulation, *Intellitab abuse deterrent formulations*, http://altusformulation.com/technologies/intellitab/ (16.06.2015).

[77] Purdue Pharma L.P. receives FDA approval for Hysingla<sup>™</sup> ER (hydrocodone bitartrate) extended-release tablets CII, a once-daily opioid analgesic formulated with abuse-deterrent properties, http://www.purduepharma.com/news-media/2014/11/purdue-pharma-l-p-receives-fda-approval-for-hysinglatm-er-hydrocodone-bitartrate-extended-

release-tablets-cii-a-once-daily-opioid-analgesic-formulated-with-abuse-deterrent-properties/ (04.02.2015).

[78] Zogenix receives FDA approval for Zohydro<sup>™</sup> ER (hydrocodone bitartrate) extendedrelease capsules, http://ir.zogenix.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=220862&p=irolnewsArticle&ID=1868848 (04.02.2015).

[79] Pernix Therapeutics, *Pernix launches Zohydro ER with Beadtek*, http://www.pernixtx.com/news/pernix-launches-zohydro-er-with-beadtek/ (16.06.2015).

[80] Inspirion Delivery Technologies, *Our technology*, http://inspiriondt.com/our-technology/ (16.06.2015).

[81] Inspirion Delivery Technologies announces FDA acceptance of MorphaBond<sup>™</sup> ER (morphine sulfate extended-release) new drug application; its investigational abusedeterrent, extended-release opioid, http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/inspiriondelivery-technologies-announces-fda-acceptance-of-morphabond-er-morphine-sulfateextended-release-new-drug-application-its-investigational-abuse-deterrent-extendedrelease-opioid-300033364.html (16.06.2015).

[82] Pfizer, FDA approves abuse deterrent labeling for EMBEDA<sup>®</sup> (morphine sulfate and naltrexone hydrochloride) extended-release (ER) capsules CII, http://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/press-release-

detail/fda\_approves\_abuse\_deterrent\_labeling\_for\_embeda\_morphine\_sulfate\_and\_naltr exone\_hydrochloride\_extended\_release\_er\_capsules\_cii (22.06.2015).

[83] Pfizer, *Pfizer announces FDA acceptance for review of a new drug application for ALO-02* (oxycodone hydrochloride and naltrexone hydrochloride), http://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/press-release-

detail/pfizer\_announces\_fda\_acceptance\_for\_review\_of\_a\_new\_drug\_application\_for\_alo \_02\_oxycodone\_hydrochloride\_and\_naltrexone\_hydrochloride (22.06.2015).

[84] Elite Pharmaceuticals Inc, *About our abuse-deterrent technology*, http://www.elitepharma.com/technology-overview/ (23.06.2015).

[85] E.J. Lavonas, S.G. Severtson, E.M. Martinez, B. Bucher-Bartelson, M.-C. Le Lait, J.L. Green, L.E. Murrelle, T.J. Cicero, S.P. Kurtz, A. Rosenblum, H.L. Surratt, R.C. Dart, *Abuse and diversion of buprenorphine sublingual tablets and film*, Journal Subst. Abuse Treat. 47 (2014) 27-34.

[86] *FDA* approves *Targiniq ER* with abuse-deterrent properties, http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandPro viders/ucm406290.htm (12.02.2015).

[87] Acura Pharmaceuticals Inc., *Acurox<sup>®</sup> with niacin tablets*, http://acurapharm.com/products/acurox-tablets/ (15.06.2015).

[88] T. Schaeffer, Abuse-deterrent formulations, an evolving technology against the abuse and misuse of opioid analgesics, J. Med. Toxicol. 8 (2012) 400-407.

[89] Titan Pharmaceuticals Inc., *Products and technologies*, http://www.titanpharm.com/products.htm (23.06.2015).

[90] X. Li, D. Shorter, T.R. Kosten, *Buprenorphine in the treatment of opioid addiction: opportunities, challenges and strategies*, Expert Opin. Pharmaco. 15 (2014) 2263-2275.

[91] B. Cai, H. Engqvist, S. Bredenberg, *Evaluation of the resistance of a geopolymer-based drug delivery system to tampering*, Int. J. Pharm. 465 (2014) 169-174.

[92] Emplicure, *Two tamper resistant products for the treatment of chronic pain – oral and transdermal*, http://emplicure.com/products/ (23.06.2015).

[93] B. Cai, H. Engqvist, S. Bredenberg, *Development and evaluation of a tampering resistant transdermal fentanyl patch*, Int. J. Pharm. 488 (2015) 102-107.

[94] D. Jasinski, S. Krishnan, *Abuse liability and safety of oral lisdexamfetamine dimesylate in individuals with a history of stimulant abuse*, J. Psychopharmacol. 23 (2009) 419-427.

[95] D.W. Goodman, *Lisdexamfetamine dimesylate (Vyvanse), a prodrug stimulant for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder*, Pharm. Therapeutics 35 (2010) 273-287.

[96] KemPharm Inc, *Product portfolio: Pain*, http://www.kempharm.com/pages/pipeline/pain.php (23.06.2015).

[97] Acura Pharmaceuticals Inc., *Aversion technology*, http://acurapharm.com/platforms/aversion-technology/ (12.06.2015).

[98] FDA, FDA alert for healthcare professionals: Hydromorphone hydrochloride extended-release capsules (marketed as Palladone), (2005).

[99] P.L. Brennan, K.K. Schutte, R.H. Moos, *Pain and use of alcohol to manage pain: prevalence and 3-year outcomes among older problem and non-problem drinkers*, Addiction 100 (2005) 777-786.

# 2 The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping – A review

Nicole Jedinger<sup>a</sup>, Johannes Khinast<sup>a,b</sup>, Eva Roblegg<sup>a,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Research Center Pharmaceutical Engineering GmbH, Graz, Austria

<sup>b</sup> Institute of Process and Particle Engineering, Graz University of Technology, Austria

<sup>c</sup> Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Graz, Austria

Published in: European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 87 (2014) 217-226. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.02.008

#### 2.1 Graphical abstract



#### 2.2 Abstract

The concomitant intake of alcoholic beverages together with oral controlled-release opioid formulations poses a serious safety concern since alcohol has the potential to alter the release rate controlling mechanism of the dosage form which may result in an uncontrolled and immediate drug release. This effect, known as alcohol-induced dose dumping, has drawn attention of the regulatory authorities. Thus, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommends that in vitro drug release studies of controlled-release dosage forms containing drugs with narrow therapeutic range should be conducted in ethanolic media up to 40%. So far, only a limited number of robust dosage forms that withstand the impact of alcohol are available and the development of such dosage forms is still a challenge. This review deals with the physico-chemical key factors which have to be considered for the preparation of alcohol-resistant controlling dosage forms. Furthermore, appropriate matrix systems and promising technological strategies, which are suitable to prevent alcohol-induced dose dumping, are discussed.

#### 2.3 Introduction

Alcohol-induced dose dumping effects in controlled-release oral dosage forms have received increased attention in recent years. Dose dumping, which is defined as *"unintended, rapid drug release in a short period of time of the entire amount or a significant fraction of the drug contained in a modified release dosage form"* [1], can have

dangerous effects. For example, in 2005 the FDA withdrew a hydromorphone-modified release drug formulation, Palladone<sup>™</sup>, from the US market, since taking it together with alcohol fatally increased the peak plasma concentrations of hydromorphone [2]. Currently, the FDA recommends to assess the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping for opioid and non-opioid drugs with a narrow therapeutic index, such as metoprolol succinate (ßblocker) and venlafaxine HCl (antidepressant) [3-5]. Especially, prolonged-release formulations, which offer a reduced dosing frequency and a prolonged therapeutic effect due to higher drug amounts, are of specific interest. For example, in the treatment of (chronic) pain controlled-release opioid dosage forms have been used as first choice formulations [6-8]. However, if patients suffer from pain, they often turn to alcohol to cope with the pain-related stress and to reduce the pain perception [9]. A study examining the relationship between pain and alcohol reported that both problem drinkers and nonproblem drinkers consume alcohol to manage pain [10]. If patients are treated with opioid analgesics numerous side effects, including respiratory depression, nausea and/or urinary retention might occur [11]. The most deleterious effect is the first one which may arise due to rapid dose escalation. Thus, if the dosage form is consumed with ethanol, the drug release can increase immediately, resulting in an overdose and leading to respiratory depression followed by hypoxia and even death [12]. Regarding non-opioid drugs, alcohol might enhance sedation (through synergistic interactions), decrease of motoric skills and may lead to orthostatic hypotension [13].

Apart from side effects associated with ethanol, the mechanistic understanding of the orogastrointestinal absorption and hepatic metabolism is important. After oral administration of a dose-dumping susceptible formulation co-ingested with ethanol, a major part of the drug is dissolved in the stomach immediately. After a sufficient gastric retention time, the entire amount of the dissolved drug is uncontrollably emptied into the small intestine. Thus, absorption occurs which may result in high plasma concentrations [14]. Generally, the onset of intestinal drug absorption mainly depends on the gastric emptying rate which can individually vary in normal healthy subjects from 120 to 180 min in the fasted state [15]. Lennernäs et al. showed that for in vitro studies an experimental duration of 2 h is necessary to mimic gastric physiology (emptying) and rationally screen possible ethanoldrug interactions under physiological conditions [14].

Moreover, it is known that the consumption of alcoholic beverages may prolong the gastric emptying rate and therefore the onset of drug absorption due to the caloric content of alcohol, which is comparable with the lightly-fed state after the consumption of a meal [15-17]. For example, carbohydrate-rich and fermented beverages, such as beer and red wine, induce a prolonged gastric emptying rate in comparison with strong alcoholic drinks (whiskey, gin, etc.) [16]. Thus, several FDA guidelines for drugs with narrow therapeutic

window suggest to test possible alcohol dose dumping effects over a period of at least 2 h in ethanolic media with different ethanol concentrations [3].

Frömming et al. were the pioneers who studied the influence of ethanol on the in vitro and in vivo drug liberation from acetylsalicylic acid sustained-release tablets. The authors reported faster drug release from tablets if co-ingested with 120 ml commercial brandy, which was proved by urinary excretion data [18]. Because of the ethical issues associated with in vivo-testing in human volunteers, mostly in vitro studies have been performed [19, 20]. The in vitro approach requires drug release studies to be conducted in acidic media to simulate the stomach with alcohol concentrations of 5%, 20% and 40% (v/v) over a period of 2 h [21]. The different ethanol contents in the dissolution media represent different alcoholic beverages: 5% ethanol for beer, 20% for mixed drinks and 40% for hard liquor [21]. Quantification of the dose-dumping effect of a drug formulation is still an open issue without a regulatory decisional framework. One suggestion is to classify whether the drug formulation is "rugged" or "vulnerable" [22]. Here, the drug release of the formulation is investigated in ethanolic media and standard media (without ethanol) and a  $f_2$  similarity test to distinguish between these categories [22, 23] is performed. The similarity factor  $f_2$ is a logarithmic reciprocal square root transformation of the sum of the squared error. According to Moore and Flanner [24] the  $f_2$  value is calculated by the following expression (1):

$$f_2 = 50 \times \log\left\{ \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1}^n (R_t - T_t)^2 \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times 100 \right\}$$
(1)

where *n* corresponds to the number of dissolution time points considered and  $R_t$  and  $T_t$  are the percent drug dissolved of the reference and test formulations at time point *t*. It is a simple and effective tool to assess the similarity of two dissolution profiles: the value of  $f_2$  ranges from 0 to 100 and dissolution profiles are considered similar when the  $f_2$  value exceeds 50 [25]. Values below 50 indicate that the formulation is not alcohol-resistant. The aim is to mitigate the potential dose-dumping risk at the early stages of development of a controlled-release drug formulation [26]. Note, that low  $f_2$  values are also obtained, if drug release is significantly slower in ethanolic media.

A second strategy to assess alcohol resistance of drug formulations is to calculate the relative change in amount of dissolution ( $D_{A/N}$ ) in ethanolic media compared to pure media [27] as given in Eq. (2):

$$D_{A/N} = \frac{100 \times (D_A - D_N)}{D_N}$$
(2)

where  $D_A$  is the percent drug dissolved in ethanolic medium and  $D_N$  corresponds to the percent drug dissolved in pure media [27]. Positive values indicate that ethanol increases dissolution, whereas negative data indicate decreased dissolution in ethanol. However, compared to calculation of  $f_2$  values, no critical values are given. Thus, no classification can be carried out.

Another challenge in the development of safe drug products is tampering with oral controlled-release formulations, which often occurs through chewing or crushing to subsequently snort the drug or to dissolve it in water or ethanol for intravenous injections [28-30]. Many novel drug formulations are under development to counteract these practices, by making the dosage form less prone to abuse. According to Webster et al., formulations can be classified into abuse-deterrent formulations and abuse-resistant formulations [29]. Abuse-deterrent formulations comprise an opioid drug and an opioid antagonist (i.e., naltrexone, naloxone). If the dosage form is applied as suggested in the prescribing information, only the opioid is released. However, if the tablet or capsule is manipulated due to breaking or milling, the antagonist is released and blocks the opioid actions. Thus, opioid euphoria is diminished or even reversed [29]. On the contrary, abuse resistant formulations use physical barriers and mechanical properties, such as increased hardness. Thus, crushing or milling is made impossible and no extraction of the drug is feasible [29].

The aim of this review is to indicate, which physico-chemical parameters must be defined for the rational design of alcohol-resistant controlling dosage forms. Furthermore, we discuss the additives that meet the physico-chemical requirements and describe promising technological strategies for minimizing the risk of dose-dumping.

# 2.4 Physico-chemical factors influencing alcohol-induced dose dumping

To develop an alcohol-resistant controlled-release dosage form, key physical and chemical factors of the formulation components must be considered, such as (i) solubility, (ii) wettability, (iii) swellability, and (iv) mechanical properties of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and the excipient(s) in the final dosage form.

#### 2.4.1 Effect of solubility

Generally, polar molecules are most soluble in polar solvents and non-polar molecules in non-polar solvents. Therefore, the ratio of hydrophilic and hydrophobic groups of the drug plays a crucial role for the solubility behavior in various solvents (Fig. 1). In principal, the aqueous solubility depends on the ability of the drug molecules to form hydrogen bonds with water molecules. Hence, the greater the hydrophilic part of a molecule relative to the hydrophobic part is, the greater the aqueous solubility becomes. In alcohol, which has

lower hydrogen bonding capacity than pure water, solubility decreases [31, 32]. Moreover, ethanol is less polar compared to pure water, which is reflected by the differences in the dielectric constants (25 and 80 for ethanol and water at 20 °C, respectively) [33]. If ethanol is added to water, a decrease in the dielectric constant in relation to pure water occurs, and thus, the solubility of an in-water poorly soluble drug increases [34]. In contrast, for highly soluble drugs in water the addition of ethanol will reduce the solubility [35]. If the drug shows high solubility in ethanol, it has to be protected by integrating/embedding it in a matrix system.

Generally, drug release from matrix systems is governed by various effects, depending on the drug-product design. These effects include medium penetration into the matrix, hydration, swelling, and drug diffusion and/or matrix erosion [36]. This implies that the drug release rate is influenced to a great extent by the medium to which the matrix system is exposed to [37]. If the matrix system is freely soluble in alcohol, the matrix will immediately start to disintegrate/dissolve in alcoholic environment resulting in an early and uncontrollable drug release. Therefore, a matrix system that withstands the influence of alcohol and remains intact during the course of the drug release process is required.

The EDACS<sup>™</sup> technology, just to mention one example, provides a matrix that is insoluble in water and only slightly soluble in ethanol [38, 39]. Also the novel Egalet<sup>®</sup> matrix system works on this principle. Hence, its robust behavior in the presence of ethanolic media is owed to the fact that the matrix offers a higher solubility in aqueous media compared to ethanol [40, 41]. Both matrix systems will be described in more detail in chapter 4.3.

Since there is a limited amount of literature available dealing with the matrix solubility behavior in ethanolic media, there is need for further studies on the effects of alcohol on the matrix system. However, to overcome solubility concerns of drugs in ethanolic media it is necessary to use a robust matrix system with high solubility in aqueous media and/or insolubility in ethanol.

Water (wt.%)	Ethanol (wt.%)	Dielectric constant (ε <sub>r</sub> ) of water- ethanol mixtures at 20 °C (*)	Solubility behavior of drugs with greater hydrophilic parts	Solubility behavior of drugs with greater hydrophobic parts
100%	0%	80.37	++++	+
80%	20%	68.66	+++	++
60%	40%	56.49	++	+++
0%	100%	25.00	+	++++
	•		/	\



**Fig. 1.** Schematic illustration of the solubility behavior of drugs with increased hydrophilic/hydrophobic ratio in various media and the supposed resulting in vitro drug release profiles. (\*) The dielectric constant values are based on Akerlof et al. [33].

#### 2.4.2 Effect of wettability

Wettability is another parameter that influences dose dumping. Wettability of a substance depends on its chemical structure and hydrophilic/hydrophobic nature. Generally, wettability can be determined by measuring the static contact angle of a liquid on a given surface: a contact angle smaller than 90° indicates wettability and above 90° poor wettability [42]. Angles close to 0° correspond to excellent wettability. Lippold et al. reported a correlation between the wetting behavior of a substance and the drug dissolution rate [43], probably because wetting establishes solute-solvent contacts necessary for the solvent to penetrate the matrix system and release the drug [44]. The solvent penetration into the matrix system can follow both dissolution of drug particles and capillary forces acting along the pores within the matrix [45]. Capillary forces occur because of intermolecular forces between the solvent and the matrix surface and draw the solvent into the matrix. In general, the better the wettability of the matrix surface, the higher the penetration rate [46]. It is assumed that for low contact angles (<90°) drug release would occur due to solvent penetration by capillary forces and high contact angles (>90°) are representing a negative capillary pressure, which would hinder the solvent from penetrating the matrix [45] resulting in slower drug release. If wettability of a matrix system is improved when in contact with alcoholic components, accelerated media uptake and, faster drug release will occur. Therefore, materials appropriate for the design of alcohol-
resistant formulations should have wetting angles that do not significantly decrease in the presence of ethanol.

### 2.4.3 Effect of swellability

Another phenomenon which affects alcohol-induced dose dumping is swellability of a polymeric matrix material. Polymers that swell in contact with aqueous media can be generally divided into two categories: (i) swellable polymers that are insoluble in water, also referred as hydrogels, and (ii) swellable polymers that are soluble in water, termed hydrophilic polymers [47]. Hydrogels form a three-dimensional crosslinked polymeric network in the presence of water. These polymeric networks are insoluble due to their chemical or physical crosslinks, such as entanglements, crystallites, or hydrogen bonds. The thermodynamic compatibility of the polymer chains with the molecules of the surrounding fluid is responsible for the swelling [48]. However, in this review we particularly focus on hydrophilic polymers, since they are widely used for the preparation of oral controlled-release dosage forms.

In general, hydrophilic matrix formulations comprise a compressed mixture of a hydrophilic polymer and a drug. On contact with aqueous media a gel layer is formed due to the polymer transition from the glassy state to a hydrated rubbery state [49]. The formation of this gel layer on the matrix surface occurs via simple entanglement of adjacent polymer chains without proper crosslinking [50, 51]. Again, the thermodynamic interactions of the polymer chains and the surrounding media are responsible for the swelling [51]. The composition and physical properties of the gel layer controls the water transport into the matrix system, the drug diffusion (release rate, kinetics) and finally, the erosion of the matrix [52, 53]. According to Missaghi et al. the presence of ethanol in the dissolution media may affect the formation of the gel layer and the integrity of the matrix [53]. Roberts et al. observed an initial rapid release of aspirin from hypromellose matrices with high standard deviations in 40% ethanolic media [19]. This behavior might be attributed to the slower initial interaction between the ethanol and hypromellose, forming a non-uniform gel layer with inconsistent drug release [51]. Thus, if the formation of a gel layer occurs fast enough, which implies that the hydrophilic polymer and the surrounding media immediately reach thermodynamic equilibrium, fast diffusion of ethanol into the matrix is prevented and an alcohol-resistant formulation is obtained (Fig. 2a). If the equilibrium is not reached fast enough, formation of the gel layer is hindered and ethanol may diffuse into the system (Fig. 2b). As a consequence, rapid drug release occurs due to the absence of the protecting gel layer.

Therefore, the rapid formation of a strong and stable gel layer upon swelling in ethanolic media is crucial in designing alcohol-resistant drug formulations.



**Fig. 2.** Schematic illustration of a drug-loaded hydrophilic matrix system in the non-swollen state and upon contact with dissolution media. (a) If the hydrophilic polymer and the surrounding media immediately reach thermodynamic equilibrium the polymer gels fast. The drug molecules dissolve and diffuse consistent through the gel layer into the dissolution media. (b) If the thermodynamic equilibrium is not reached fast enough, the formation of the gel layer is hindered. Therefore, the dissolution media can penetrate deep into the matrix, rapidly dissolve the drug and disintegrate the matrix.

### 2.4.4 Effect of mechanical properties

The mechanical strength (hardness) of the final dosage form is yet another factor that must be considered in formulation development. It strongly depends on porosity and compactness of the formulation and on the technology used for production. It is known that the compression force strongly affects hardness of matrix systems [49, 54]. This phenomenon can also be achieved by applying elevated temperatures and high shear forces, e.g., during hot-melt extrusion. Moreover, depending on the matrix system, also the number of pores may decrease resulting in an increased compactness of the dosage form [55]. Additionally, high shear forces lead to disentangled chains. Upon cooling the polymer chain-drug complex entangles again, resulting in strong solid bridges between the drug and the polymer particles, again increasing the compactness of the system [56, 57].

Furthermore, mechanical strength may prevent drug abuse by making the dosage difficult to crush, chew, dissolve and draw into needles for intravenous injections.

# 2.5 Appropriate matrix systems to minimize the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping

Hydrophilic polymers are widely used as excipients for the preparation of hydrophilic matrix systems with controlled-release profiles. Insoluble in ethanol, they are expected to be unaffected when consumed together with alcohol. Due to their hydrophilic nature, the

polymers begin to swell upon contact with water, forming a gel layer. The drug release is controlled by the diffusion through the layer and/or erosion mechanisms [54]. In this review we particularly focuses on hydrophilic polymers (polyethylene oxide, cross-linked high amylose starch, Carbopol<sup>®</sup> and hypromellose) since we consider them the most interesting candidates with regard to alcohol-resistant dosage forms. A short list of some important polymers is presented in Table 1.

#### Table 1

Polymers that may be suitable for the preparation of alcohol-resistant dosage forms and their properties.

Polymer	Molecular weight (kg/kmol)	Solubility	References
Polyethylene oxide	100,000-7,000,000	Soluble in water; insoluble in most alcohols	[58]
Cross linked high amylose starch (Contramid <sup>®</sup> )	No data available	Soluble in water; insoluble in ethanol	[59]
Carbomer (Carbopol <sup>®</sup> )	1.0-4.0·10 <sup>6</sup>	Not soluble, only swellable in water and ethanol	[20, 60]
Hypromellose	10,000-1,500,000	Soluble in cold water; practically insoluble in ethanol and hot water	[19, 52, 53, 61, 62]

### 2.5.1 Polyethylene oxide

Polyethylene oxide (PEO) is a nonionic homopolymer of ethylene oxide that is commercially available in a wide range of molecular weights (from 100,000 to 7,000,000 Da) [58]. PEO is soluble in water due to hydration of the ether oxygen and insoluble in alcohol [58]. It has been shown that high-molecular-weight PEO can be used as a matrix-forming polymer for solid dosage forms featuring controlled drug release [63-66]. These polymers are also suitable for sustained-release matrix tablets prepared via hot-melt extrusion [67, 68]. When PEO comes in contact with water, it hydrates rapidly, swells to a significant extent and forms a hydrogel layer on the matrix surface [65]. Drug release from the PEO matrix is controlled by erosion of the matrix and diffusion of the drug through the swollen hydrogel layer at the tablet surface [67].

Recently, Palmer et al. investigated the influence of hydro-alcoholic media on the drug release from PEO extended-release matrix tablets using freely water-soluble metformin HCl and water insoluble gliclazide as model APIs with different solubility behavior [69]. Robust matrix tablets with a mechanical strength of 2.32 MPa for gliclazide and 0.70 MPa

for metformin HCl were manufactured using a rotary tablet press. The in vitro drug release studies indicated that the PEO matrices remained intact, and no dose dumping effect was observed after exposure to 5% and 40% hydro-alcoholic media for up to 12 hours. To compare the drug release profiles from PEO matrices in hydro-alcoholic media with those in purified water, a  $f_2$  similarity test was conducted. The obtained  $f_2$  values were acceptable ( $f_2 > 50$ ) for gliclazide release profiles in both tested alcoholic media. For the metformin HCI matrix tablets a  $f_2$  value below 50 ( $f_2 = 42$ ) was calculated after 12-h exposure to 40% hydro-alcoholic media. Due to a higher solubility of metformin HCl in water (compared with ethanol) [69], the drug release significantly decreased in 40% hydro-alcoholic media. Although this yields good alcohol resistance, the difference between the dissolution profiles from metformin HCI matrix tablets in hydro-alcoholic media compared to purified water is too high, resulting in low  $f_2$  values. Thus, we state that once the drug release decreases in alcoholic media (i.e., no dose dumping will occur) the similarity factor is not an appropriate tool to evaluate alcohol-induced dose dumping. Furthermore, we suppose that if drug liberation in alcoholic media is reduced this may prevent drug abuse.

In addition, the authors examined the effect of hydro-alcoholic media on the hydration and swelling properties of pure, mechanically strong (i.e., 3.3 MPa) PEO compacts, which were prepared using three viscosity grades of commercially available PEO (Polyox<sup>™</sup>). The results demonstrated that all compacts exhibited consistent swelling and gelation without compromising the matrix's integrity in water and in hydro-alcoholic media [69]. As such, PEO may be a suitable hydrophilic polymer for controlled-release matrix tablets, providing resistance to alcohol-induced dose dumping. To our knowledge, there is no literature addressing alcohol-resistant multiple-unit dosage forms with PEO as a matrix system.

#### 2.5.2 Starches and starch derivatives

Starch is composed of two polysaccharids, linear amylose and branched amylopectin and is widely used for food and non-food applications [70]. In the pharmaceutical industry modified and pregelatinized starches serve as excipients in hydrophilic matrix systems for orally-administered solid dosage forms with controlled drug release [58, 71-74]. In the past few years cross-linked high-amylose starch (CLA), or Contramid<sup>®</sup>, emerged as a promising excipient for the preparation of controlled-release matrix tablets manufactured mainly via direct compression [75-79].

For the production of Contramid<sup>®</sup>, a high-amylose corn starch containing 70% amylose and 30% amylopectin is used. When placed into water, a Contramid<sup>®</sup> tablet begins to swell and a sponge-like gel is formed [77]. Due to a self-assembly process of amylose and amylopectin chains into double helices, a tri-dimensional network is formed which swells

to reach a final thickness. [80]. The swelling process of Contramid<sup>®</sup> tablets is anisotropic, meaning that the tablets swell more in the axial direction (70-80%) than in the radial (25-35%) which can be explained by the flattening of the particles in the axial direction during direct compression of the tablet [76, 80]. Upon swelling, a dense membrane is formed at the external tablet surface, while the core maintains a coarse porous texture. The outer membrane acts as the diffusion rate-limiting barrier for drug delivery. If the outer membrane has a smaller diffusion coefficient than the inner core a quasi-zero-order-release kinetic from a Contramid<sup>®</sup> matrix tablet can be obtained [80].

Traynor et al. examined the influence of ethanol on the in vitro release behavior of extended-release tablets with a controlled-release core based on tramadol hydrochloride (HCI) and Contramid<sup>®</sup> (Tridural<sup>™</sup>; Labopharm, Canada) [59]. This core is coated with a release-controlling matrix composed of polyvinylpyrrolidone-polyvinyl acetate copolymer, xanthan gum and tramadol HCl to allow an early onset of the drug [59]. Tramadol HCl is a centrally-acting analgesic with weak opioid agonist properties [81]. Its high solubility in water requires a careful choice of retarding additives to ensure a desirable release profile [82]. Moreover, since tramadol HCI is an opioid analgesic, it is particularly important to prevent uncontrolled drug release. Drug release of Tridural<sup>™</sup> extended-release tablets was evaluated in phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), with and without ethanol [59]. In phosphate buffer the API release followed a zero-order-release kinetics for 4 to 16 h [59], which was attributed to the core component, Contramid<sup>®</sup>. However, the presence of ethanol in the dissolution media caused a significant decrease in the release rate of tramadol HCI [59]. Because pregelatinized starches (e.g., Contramid<sup>®</sup>) are insoluble and not swellable in alcohol [58, 59], ethanolic media prevented the formation of the release-controlling membrane, resulting in a 25% reduction in the drug release rate [59].

Since other non-pregelatinized starches, including corn, rice and potato starch, are insoluble in ethanol and have Contramid<sup>®</sup>-like properties, they may be suitable as additives to an alcohol-resistant formulation. To our knowledge, no data are available concerning these excipients in combination with alcohol-induced dose dumping.

#### 2.5.3 Carbomer

Carbomers are synthetic polymers of acrylic acid with high molecular weight that are crosslinked with either allyl sucrose or allyl ethers of pentaerythritol [58]. Marketed under the trade name "Carbopol<sup>®</sup>," they are available in a number of different grades, which vary in molecular weight and polymer type [83]. Due to their hydrophilic nature and tightly cross-linked structure, Carbopol<sup>®</sup> resins are widely used in oral controlled-release dosage forms [60, 84-86]. Being highly cross-linked, rather than dissolving in water and polar solvents (e.g., alcohol) these polymers readily swell upon hydration, producing a gel layer. Unlike other hydrophilic polymers, such as HPMC whose swelling is due to the relaxation

of polymer chains and their subsequent entanglement or physical cross-linking, chemically cross-linked Carbopol<sup>®</sup> polymers form a hydrogel upon hydration. This hydrogel is not a simple, entangled chains of polymer, but consists of discrete microgels composed of many polymer particles, into which the drug is dispersed [83]. Since the gel layer is water-insoluble and not erodible, drug release from Carbopol<sup>®</sup> dosage forms is not controlled by erosion. If the gel layer is fully hydrated osmotic pressure from within the network might break up the structure by sloughing off discrete pieces of the hydrogel followed by drug diffusion through water-filled interstitial spaces between the microgels [83, 87]. This mechanism results in much slower drug liberation from Carbopol<sup>®</sup> matrices. Due to the pK<sub>a</sub> of 6 of the polymer, the mechanism of drug release may be affected by the dissolution medium, as the formation of the gel layer is pH-dependent. It was observed that at lower pH values the polymer is not fully swollen, providing a faster drug release. However, when the pH increased above the pK<sub>a</sub> of 6, the maximum swelling up to 1000 times of the original volume and 10 times of the original diameter occurred, leading to retardation of the drug liberation [83, 88-90].

Rahim et al. determined the influence of ethanol on the swelling and release behavior of Carbopol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets [91]. The matrix systems were a lightly cross-linked Carbopol<sup>®</sup> 971P and highly cross-linked Carbopol<sup>®</sup> 974P. Freely-soluble metformin HCI, moderately-soluble caffeine and slightly-soluble theophylline were used as model drugs to represent different degrees of aqueous solubility. The swelling and dissolution studies were conducted separately in acidic (pH 1.2) and buffered (pH 6.8) media, each with 0%, 20% and 40% (*v/v*) ethanol. During the swelling studies the media uptake (non-alcoholic versus alcoholic) was determined and after drying the mass loss was calculated. The results revealed that the interaction between the ethanol concentration and the dissolution media uptake and the mass loss of drug-free polymer compacts. The dissolution media uptake and mass loss decreased with increasing amount of ethanol in buffered media. Conversely, the increasing ethanol concentration in acidic media caused an increase in dissolution media uptake and mass loss from compacts.

In addition, the presence of ethanol affected the in vitro release behavior of Carbopol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets. In the case of metformin HCl, the release rate decreased with the increasing ethanol concentration due to the solubility of metformin HCl decreasing with the increasing amount of ethanol in the dissolution media [91]. As for the effect of hydroalcoholic media on the drug release rate for caffeine and theophylline, the release was the slowest at 20% ethanol concentration and increased at the ethanol concentration of 40%. This effect can be attributed to the higher solubility of these APIs in ethanol. Although the

drug release rate and mechanism were significantly influenced by the presence of ethanol in the dissolution media, no dose dumping from Carbopol<sup>®</sup> matrices was observed [91]. These results show that the influence of alcohol on Carbopol<sup>®</sup>-based tablets is due to the drug solubility, the polymer grade and the interplay between the ethanol concentration and the medium pH. Therefore, it can be concluded that the characteristics of Carbopol<sup>®</sup>, including its cross-linked structure and swelling behavior in water and ethanol, makes it suitable for the development of controlled-release dosage forms, reducing the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping [20].

#### 2.5.4 Cellulose ethers

Cellulose derivatives are the most widely-used excipients for hydrophilic matrix systems. In particular, hypromellose, formerly known as hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), is the polymer of choice for the preparation of oral-controlled drug delivery systems [49, 58]. Hypromellose is a non-inonic water soluble polymer with a pH-independent drug release profile. If hypromellose comes into contact with water, it hydrates rapidly, which leads to the relaxation of polymer chains and subsequent entanglement. The cross-linking of the polymer chains forms a viscous gel layer [92]. The mechanism of drug release through the gel layer is based on several processes: on the one hand, drug diffusion through the swelling gel layer and, on the other hand, the matrix erosion of the swollen layer [49]. To effectively control and prevent premature drug release from hypromellose matrix systems, it is crucial that the hydration of the polymer and the gel layer formation occur fast to ensure complete swelling of the matrix.

There are several reports available dealing with the effect of ethanol on hypromellose matrices [19, 52, 53, 61, 62]. Asare-Addo et al. studied the impact of ethanol on drug release for direct-compressed hypromellose matrix tablets containing theophylline as model drug and the polyol maltitol as diluent [62]. The dissolution results revealed that there was no failure of the formulation in 5-40% ethanolic-acidic media (pH 1.2) up to 12 h. The obtained  $f_2$  values ranged from 57 to 74 [62]. The drug release was slightly increased in 5 and 20% ethanolic media. In the 40% ethanolic media the drug release decreased after 2 h, despite a twofold increase in theophylline's solubility in the presence of 40% ethanol (*v*/*v*). This phenomenon might be due to the lower solubility of maltitol in ethanol, which could account for the decreased drug release in 40% ethanolic media [62].

Gohel et al. formulated venlafaxine-HCI-coated and triple-layered matrix tablets using water-soluble hypromellose and water-insoluble ethyl cellulose to obtain the controlled-release profile and to prevent burst release of the highly aqueous-soluble drug [61]. In response to the FDA's suggestion to examine the in vitro release behavior of modified-release dosage forms in dissolution media containing ethanol, drug liberation studies were conducted in distilled water with 10% ethanol. Since the tested batches showed unaltered

dissolution profiles in the presence of 10% ethanolic media, the authors concluded that the formulations are alcohol-resistant and that the hypromellose matrix remains intact in a 10% ethanolic solution. As the used ethyl cellulose comprises more than 46.5% of ethoxyl groups, it is freely soluble in ethanol but insoluble in aqueous media [58]. Therefore, it was suggested that ethyl cellulose is also insoluble in a 10% ethanolic solution [61]. Despite the fact that the drug release of the formulation was not affected in 10% ethanolic media, it is presumed, that dose dumping will occur in higher concentrated ethanolic media (40%) due to the high solubility of ethyl cellulose in ethanol.

Roberts et al. investigated the influence of ethanol on aspirin's release rate and the mechanism in hypromellose-matrix-based controlled-release tablets [19]. It was found that the presence of ethanol in the dissolution media had an impact on the drug release kinetics and the mechanism in matrix tablets, the magnitude of which depended on the used ethanol concentration (0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%). The in-vitro release of aspirin increased proportionally to the increasing ethanol levels due to higher solubility of aspirin in hydro-ethanolic media. The obtained release profiles showed a near-zero-order release profile and drug release was considered to be erosion dominated, with the exception of 40% ethanolic medium in which an initial rapid erosion- and diffusion-controlled drug release was observed. The swelling behavior showed a slower initial interaction between 40% ethanolic medium and hypromellose, which was responsible for the initial rapid release during the first 30 min [19]. This slower initial interaction can be ascribed to the practically insolubility of hypromellose in alcohol, and hence a delayed formation of the strong gel layer. Image analysis of the matrix swelling behavior in 40% ethanolic medium showed that the formation of a less porous and stronger gel layer, which limits the medium uptake, occurred after 75 min. In the 0% ethanolic medium this was already observed after 25 min. However, no alcohol-induced dose dumping occurred [19].

Levina et al. studied the effect of 5% and 40% (v/v) ethanol solutions on hydration, gel formation and drug liberation in hypromellose matrix systems comprising three model drugs: felodipine (freely soluble in alcohol), gliclazide (slightly soluble in alcohol) and metformin HCI (slightly soluble in alcohol) [52]. The obtained drug release profiles in the ethanolic medium differed from those in the aqueous medium and had an increase in standard deviation. However, the  $f_2$  values used for establishing a similarity between the two dissolution profiles indicated conformity and confirmed that no dose dumping effect occurred [93]. The observed discrepancies in the dissolution profiles of the hypromellose matrix tablets were ascribed to the drug solubility changes in ethanol solutions [52]. Furthermore, it was recorded that all tested hypromellose matrix tablets consistently retained their matrix integrity when placed in ethanol solutions. Moreover, the consistent swelling and gel layer formation of the hypromellose compacts did not disrupt the matrix

integrity [52]. These results are consistent with Missaghi et al. [53] who stated that the presence of up to 40% ethanolic media had little effect on the textural behavior of hypromellose compacts. The rheological analysis of various viscosity grades of hypromellose in hydro-ethanolic solutions/dispersions demonstrated a pseudoplastic behavior for all tested hypromellose grades whereas the measured viscosity revealed dependency on the ethanol contents of the solutions and increased with the increasing ethanol concentration. Regardless of the ethanol concentrations in the solution, the hypromellose matrices remained intact for up to 6 h of hydration [53].

Although all of the above studies indicate that alcohol influences the kinetics, release mechanism and rheological properties of hypromellose matrix systems, no dose dumping was observed. Therefore, hypromellose can be considered suitable for the design of alcohol- resistant dosage forms.

In general, it has to be noticed that although the above described alcohol-induced dose dumping studies were conducted with a conventional United States Pharmacopeia (USP) testing apparatus, various dissolution media (i.e., phosphate buffer, acidic media and aqueous media) and different ethanol concentrations ranging from 5% to 40% were used. Therefore, it is challenging to check the resulted data against each other. Additionally, the conventional methods only use non-physiologic buffers and do not mimic hydrodynamic conditions. Thus, physiological in vivo conditions are not accurately reflected which makes in vitro in vivo correlations difficult.

# 2.6 Technological strategies to minimize risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping

The available controlled-release technologies that can reduce the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping include osmotic drug delivery devices, controlled-release matrix systems and controlled-release coated systems. However, in this section we particular focus on osmotic drug delivery devices since controlled-release matrix systems were covered in more detail in chapter 3. Methods to prepare such devices can be classified in hot-melt extrusion, wet granulation and direct compaction. Since the latter two are rather standard methods in the field of pharmaceutical technology, we particularly focus on hot-melt extrusion as promising alternative to prepare such dosage forms.

### 2.6.1 Osmotic drug delivery devices

A novel long-acting opioid formulation of oral hydromorphone was developed to provide continuous pain control over a 24-h period and to enhance treatment compliance [94]. For a continuous drug release over an extended period of time, the oral osmotic (OROS<sup>®</sup>) Push-Pull delivery system based on the principle of osmosis is used for OROS<sup>®</sup> hydromorphone tablets [94]. Each OROS<sup>®</sup> system comprises an osmotically-active bilayer

core tablet surrounded by a rate-controlling semipermeable coating membrane. The tablet bilayer core consists of two layers: the pull layer with hydromorphone and the push layer that contains a hydrophilic expanding compartment. After ingestion, the semipermeable membrane allows fluid from the gastrointestinal tract to enter in the core tablet. The push layer expands and forces the suspended drug out of the tablet through a small delivery orifice in the membrane. The osmotically-controlled system is designed such that the drug release rate is actively controlled by the dosage form regardless of the environmental factors, such as the gastrointestinal motility, the surrounding pH or the presence of food and alcohol [95]. Sathyan et al. investigated the pharmacokinetic profile of OROS® hydromorphone in the presence of alcohol [94] and concluded that the pharmacokinetics of the dosage form was only minimally affected by alcohol. Moreover, it was reported that the controlled-release properties and functionality of the delivery system remained unchanged in the presence of alcohol due to the specific OROS<sup>®</sup> technology and that no dose dumping of hydromorphone occurred [94]. The findings are consistent with those of Koziara et al., who determined the influence of ethanol on semipermeable cellulose acetate-based membranes used as osmotic drug delivery systems [96]. It was found that ethanol increased the permeability, elasticity and swelling of cellulose acetate membranes. Although increasing ethanol concentrations up to 60% caused a slight increase in the drug release from OROS<sup>®</sup> systems, the drug delivery system maintained the controlled-release properties and no dose-dumping was observed [96].

#### 2.6.2 Controlled-release matrix/coated systems

Ethypharm developed a flexible and well-adapted formulation (LockTab<sup>®</sup>) to minimize risks associated with drug abuse [97, 98]. Oxycodone HCI and selected excipients were compressed into tablets using conventional manufacturing methods that involve high-compression forces. The tablets had a high tensile strength of 8.2 MPa and could not be destroyed by a mortar and a pestle [98], which in addition may limit the abuse via snorting, chewing and extraction. In-vitro release tests of the LockTab<sup>®</sup> tablets were conducted in acidic media (0.1N HCI) with up to 40% ethanol. Since drug release from the tablets occurred even slower in the presence of ethanol, it can be concluded that no dose dumping effect would occur if the tablets were co-ingested with alcoholic beverages [97, 98].

Another promising technology is the OraGuard<sup>™</sup> extended-release technology, developed by CIMA Labs, which provides resistance against alcohol-induced dose dumping, mechanical crushing and extraction with aqueous and organic solvents [99]. The tamperand dose dumping-resistant properties were achieved due to a multistep process, in which the API is granulated with appropriate polymers that were chosen according to their solubility behavior in water and ethanol. Subsequently, the granules were coated with a

strong film-forming polymer followed by compression into tablets with gel-forming polymers [100].

Regarding controlled-release coated systems, Traynor et al. reported that the release profile of capsules containing controlled-release coated tramadol pellets markedly increased in ethanolic media [59]. This can be attributed to coating the pellets with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> NE30D, an alcohol soluble polymer that immediately dissolved in the dissolution media resulting in an immediate drug release [59]. Similar results were obtained by Walden et al. [8] who investigated the effect of high ethanol concentrations (up to 40%) on the in vitro release properties of various prolonged-release opioid formulations and who reported that a major effect of ethanol on the drug release was only observed in Palladone<sup>™</sup> SR capsules produced via a coated bead technology [8]. This could be due to the coating excipients, i.e., ethyl cellulose and dibutyl sebacate, which are both soluble in ethanol [8]. Sundari et al. studied the influence of 5% and 10% alcoholic media on the in vitro drug release of diclofenac pellets prepared by wet-extrusion/spheronisation technique. The extruded pellets were coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RSPO/RLPO and cellulose acetate butyrate, respectively. The observed drug release in 5% and 10% alcoholic media was slower from the prepared pellet formulations compared to marketed diclofenac formulations. However, in 5% and 10% alcoholic media the drug release was markedly increased after 2 h from both pellet formulations [101].

So far, to our knowledge there is only one coating material available that is robust in ethanolic media. FMC BioPolymer has developed Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC (Alcohol Resistant Coating) which consists of guar gum that is blended with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD (Ethylcellulose Aqueous Dispersion) [102]. These two components possess contrary solubility properties. Therefore, in ethanolic media the insoluble guar gum acts as a protecting layer for the alcohol soluble ethylcellulose resulting in an intact controlled-release film. In-vitro dissolution studies of theophylline pellets coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC were conducted in ethanolic media with ethanol concentrations of 10%, 20% and 40%. Similar controlled-release drug rates were obtained at all tested ethanol concentrations levels, revealing the robustness of the coating system [102].

#### 2.6.3 Hot-melt extruded systems

Hot-melt extrusion (HME) and injection molding are innovative technologies for the production of a variety of dosage forms. As continuous and solvent-free manufacturing methods, they do not require subsequent drying steps and make the process fast, efficient and cost-effective. HME converts a powder mix into a product of uniform shape and density by forcing it through an orifice at high temperatures [103, 104]. Also injection molding is a process which transfers thermoplastic polymers with the aid of heat and pressure into a shape-specific mold [105].

For example, the innovative Meltrex<sup>®</sup> technology developed by Roth et al. based on poorly soluble verapamil embedded into hypromellose and hydroxypropylcellulose matrices results in hard tablets that cannot be crushed into a fine powder [106], which may minimize the chance of physical tampering. In-vitro studies showed that ethanol concentrations of up to 40% over 8 h had no effect on the dissolution profiles of the Meltrex<sup>®</sup> formulation. This implies that the melt-extruded tablets were robust in the in-vitro environment and that no dose dumping occurred [106].

In another study, the aim was to prepare polyethylenoxide (PEO)-based matrix (INTAC<sup>®</sup>) formulation technology, developed by Grünenthal GmbH) tablets with extended opioid release, which resist crushing and withstand dissolution and chemical extraction in different solvents [107]. The tablets were manufactured via HME followed by compression of the extrudates in an eccentric tablet press. The obtained tablets had extensive mechanical strength due the high-molecular-weight PEO and the HME technology. The tablets could not be crushed by a mortar, a pestle and a 500-g hammer and did not break in a hardness tester that applied a force of 500 N. In-vitro drug dissolution tests that were conducted in 40% ethanolic media showed a decrease in the drug release rate compared with that in 0.1N HCI media. Furthermore, intact tablets and tampered tablets were subjected to a standard operating procedure to determine their robustness with regard to chemical extraction in simulated alcoholic beverages. The obtained results indicated that the extraction rate of an active drug substance from the tablets in simulated alcoholic drinks was even lower than in aqueous media. The authors concluded that the hard PEOmatrix's resistance to crushing and chemical extraction made the tablet less prone to abuse [107].

One promising patent-pending technology introduces the "Extruded Deterrence of Abusable Controlled Substances" (EDACS<sup>™</sup>) matrix developed by Akela Pharmaceuticals [38, 39] and achieved by HME. The drug molecules are dispersed into the matrix and then molded into hard tablets. Due to the insolubility of the matrix, this drug delivery platform offers several solutions to problems associated with drug abuse and alcohol dose dumping. Furthermore, because the matrix is not friable and does not break upon compression, it prevents drug tampering and alcohol-induced dose dumping [38, 39]. The EDACS<sup>™</sup> technology is designed to deter drug abuse and can be combined with proven opioids to maintain a solid dosage form with extended-release profile [39].

The novel Egalet<sup>®</sup> controlled-release matrix tablet system is prepared via a conventional two-component injection molding process, which is based on the same process principles as HME and which shapes the material in three dimensions into the final dosage form at elevated temperatures [108]. The key technology of Egalet<sup>®</sup> involves two components: an erodible matrix, in which morphine sulfate is dispersed, and a non-erodible shell that partly

covers the cylindrical tablet. Hence, both ends of the tablet are uncoated and exposed to erosion in the dissolution media [40]. A constant drug release over 12 h is maintained through the fixed surface erosion area. Haahr et al. investigated the abuse resistance of Egalet<sup>®</sup> dosage units by conducting crush tests, melting tests, extraction and in vitro dissolution tests in ethanolic media [41]. The results showed that since Egalet<sup>®</sup> dosage units were impossible to crush (hammering led to flattened units), no fine powder of the API for injection could be obtained. Melting the Egalet<sup>®</sup> dosage units resulted in a texture similar to a highly-viscous chewing gum unsuitable for injection. Extraction with different solvents (e.g., water, ethanol and methanol) yielded highly viscous solutions that could not be used for injections. The in vitro dissolution studies that were performed in phosphate buffer media (pH 6.8), including 4%, 20% and 40% ethanol, showed that the drug release rate decreased with the increasing amount of ethanol in the dissolution media. The authors concluded that the Egalet<sup>®</sup> technology minimizes the risk of alcohol induced-dose dumping and makes these dosage units almost entirely abuse-prone, which may be due to a higher solubility of the Egalet<sup>®</sup> composition in water than in ethanol [41].

It can be concluded that HME and injection molding are promising manufacturing processes for the production of robust dosage forms with a number of advantages over standard pharmaceutical technologies. Several studies indicated that the in-vitro drug release in HME systems is slower than in those prepared via traditional methods [56, 109, 110]. This can be attributed to the dense structure of HME dosage forms, since intense mixing and melting during the process result in matrices that have lower porosity than compressed matrices [109]. Liu et al. reported that the content uniformity and the hardness of wax-based tablets and granules prepared using HME were higher than of those manufactured via a high-shear melt granulation [110]. In summary, these data demonstrate that HME and injection molding are promising technologies with regard to the development of alcohol-resistant dosage forms.

### 2.7 Conclusions and open remarks

Currently, alcohol-induced dose dumping of oral controlled-release dosage forms is a significant challenge in the formulation development of several different APIs, including opoids and drugs with narrow therapeutic window. To design a robust and alcohol-resistant dosage form, it is vital to systematically analyze the physico-chemical key factors, including solubility, wettability, swellability and mechanical properties of the API, the excipients and the properties of the final dosage form, including hardness, swelling and drug release characteristics. There are several technological strategies, such as HME and injection molding that are helpful in minimizing the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping and abuse by producing dosage forms with high mechanical strength. Keeping

this in mind during the early development phases of a novel alcohol-resistant dosage form, possible later reformulation or even withdrawal of the product from the market may be avoided. Nevertheless, there is still necessity for further investigations of the alcoholinduced dose dumping phenomenon to gain better insight in how the alcohol interacts with the drug formulation and how this impacts drug dissolution and absorption. Moreover, it is known that the intake of alcoholic beverages also influences the gastrointestinal physiology and, thus, the in vivo performance of modified-release dosage forms [111]. It is likely that ethanol prolongs the gastric emptying rate, induces gastric acid secretion, increases the permeability of the intestinal mucosa and impacts the gastrointestinal motor activity and fluid composition. It should be noted that the precise mechanism through which alcohol affects the in vivo behavior and bioavailability of drugs is still not fully understood, which makes prediction of the in vivo performance of a drug from conventional in vitro dissolution studies difficult. Therefore, in vitro test methods have to be adapted to the physiological conditions in order to perform rational in vitro in vivo correlations.

### 2.8 References

[1] R.J. Meyer, A.S. Hussain, *Awareness topic: Mitigating the risks of ethanol induced dose dumping from oral sustained/controlled release dosage forms*, in: ACPS Meeting October, 2005.

[2] FDA, FDA alert for healthcare professionals: Hydromorphone hydrochloride extendedrelease capsules (marketed as Palladone), (2005).

[3] FDA, *Bioequivalence recommendations for specific products*, http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm075 207.htm (11.10.2012).

[4] S. Murray, E. Wooltorton, *Alcohol-associated rapid release of a long-acting opioid*, JAMC 173 (2005) 756.

[5] A.C. Darke, Controlled-release opioids and alcohol, CMAJ 174 (2006) 352.

[6] J.P. Skelly, G.L. Amidon, W.H. Barr, L.Z. Benet, J.E. Carter, J.R. Robinson, V.P. Shah, A. Yacobi, *In vitro and in vivo testing and correlation for oral controlled/modified-release dosage forms*, Pharm. Res. 7 (1990) 975-982.

[7] G.K. Gourlay, Sustained relief of chronic pain: pharmacokinetics of sustained release morphine, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 35 (1998) 173-190.

[8] M. Walden, F.A. Nicholls, K.J. Smith, G.T. Tucker, *The effect of ethanol on the release of opioids from oral prolonged-release preparations*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm., 33 (2007) 1101-1111.

[9] EMA, *Modified release oral opioids - Article 31 referral - Annex II (2011)*, http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Referrals\_document/Modified-released\_oral\_opioids\_31/WC500107313.pdf

[10] P.L. Brennan, K.K. Schutte, R.H. Moos, *Pain and use of alcohol to manage pain: prevalence and 3-year outcomes among older problem and non-problem drinkers*, Addiction 100 (2005) 777-786.

[11] M. Chaney, Side effects of intrathecal and epidural opioids, Can. J. Anaesth. 42 (1995) 891-903.

[12] J.M. White, R.J. Irvine, *Mechanisms of fatal opioid overdose*, Addiction 94 (1999) 961-972.

[13] R. Weathermon, D.W. Crabb, *Alcohol and medication interactions*, Alcohol Res. Health 23 (1999) 40.

[14] H. Lennernäs, *Ethanol-drug absorption interaction: potential for a significant effect on the plasma pharmacokinetics of ethanol vulnerable formulations*, Mol. Pharm. 6 (2009) 1429-1440.

[15] K. Higaki, S.Y. Choe, R. Löbenberg, L.S. Welage, G.L. Amidon, *Mechanistic understanding of time-dependent oral absorption based on gastric motor activity in humans*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 70 (2008) 313-325.

[16] A. Franke, S. Teyssen, H. Harder, M.V. Singer, *Effect of ethanol and some alcoholic beverages on gastric emptying in humans*, Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 39 (2004) 638-644.

[17] A. Franke, I.A. Nakchbandi, A. Schneider, H. Harder, M.V. Singer, *The effect of ethanol and alcoholic beverages on gastric emptying of solid meals in humans*, Alcohol Alcohol. 40 (2005) 187-193.

[18] K.H. Frömming, Y. Topaloglu, *Influence of ethanol on the in vitro and in vivo drug release from some sustained release tablets*, Arzneimittelforschung 25 (1975) 1958-1964.

[19] M. Roberts, M. Cespi, J.L. Ford, A.M. Dyas, J. Downing, L.G. Martini, P.J. Crowley, *Influence of ethanol on aspirin release from hypromellose matrices*, Int. J. Pharm. 332 (2007) 31-37.

[20] Lubrizol, *Effect of alcohol on the drug dissolution properties of tablets formulated with carbopol polymers*, Technical data sheet TDS-793, 2012, http://www.lubrizol.com/Pharmaceutical/Literature/TDS.html (23.11.2012).

[21] O. Anand, L. Yu, D. Conner, B. Davit, *Dissolution testing for generic drugs: an FDA perspective*, AAPS J. 13 (2011) 328-335.

[22] A.S. Hussain, *Preventing alcohol induced dose dumping is a desired product design feature*, in: ACPS Meeting October, 2005.

[23] A.G. Arieta, *Dissolution studies to investigate dose-dumping caused by alcohol*, in: EUFEPS BABP Network Open Discussion Forum, 2011.

[24] J.W. Moore, H.H. Flanner, *Mathematical comparison of dissolution profiles*, Pharm. Technol. 20 (1996) 64-74.

[25] V.P. Shah, Y. Tsong, P. Sathe, J.-P. Liu, *In vitro dissolution profile comparison - statistics and analysis of the similarity factor, f2*, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 889-896.

[26] S.K. Singh, T.G. Venkateshwaran, S.P. Simmons, *Oral controlled drug delivery: quality by design (QbD) approach to drug development*, in: H. Wen, K. Park (Eds.) Oral Controlled Release Formulation Design and Drug Delivery, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New Jersey, 2010, pp. 279-303.

[27] A.P. Smith, T.W. Moore, B.J. Westenberger, W.H. Doub, *In vitro dissolution of oral modified-release tablets and capsules in ethanolic media*, Int. J. Pharm. 398 (2010) 93-96.

[28] L.R. Webster, *Update on abuse-resistant and abuse-deterrent approaches to opioid formulations*, Pain Med. 10 (2009) S124-S133.

[29] L.R. Webster, B. Bath, R.A. Medve, *Opioid formulations in development designed to curtail abuse: who is the target?*, Expert Opin Invest. Drugs 18 (2009) 255-263.

[30] D.J. Mastropietro, H. Omidian, *Current approaches in tamper-resistant and abusedeterrent formulations,* Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 39 (2013) 1-14.

[31] J.H. Fagerberg, Y. Al-Tikriti, G. Ragnarsson, C.A.S. Bergström, *Ethanol effects on apparent solubility of poorly soluble drugs in simulated intestinal fluid*, Mol. Pharm. 9 (2012) 1942-1952.

[32] K. Downie, A.V. Pedersen, A.-M. Haahr, P.H. Hemmingsen, D. Bar-Shalom, *Pharmaceutical compositions and methods for mitigationg risk of alcohol induced dose dumping or drug abuse*, US 2010/0291205 A1 (2010).

[33] G. Akerlof, *Dielectric constants of some organic solvent-water mixtures at various temperatures*, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 54 (1932) 4125-4139.

[34] N. Seedher, S. Bhatia, Solubility enhancement of cox-2 inhibitors using various solvent systems, AAPS PharmSciTech 4 (2003) 36-44.

[35] A. Li, S.H. Yalkowsky, *Solubility of organic solutes in ethanol/water mixtures*, J. Pharm. Sci. 83 (1994) 1735-1740.

[36] Y. Qiu, *Rational design of oral modified-release drug delivery systems*, in: Y. Qiu, Y. Chen, G.G.Z. Zhang, L. Liu, W.R. Porter (Eds.) Developing Solid Oral Dosage Forms: Pharmaceutical Theory and Practice, Elsevier Inc., New York, 2009, pp. 469-499.

[37] S. Jamzad, L. Tutunji, R. Fassihi, *Analysis of macromolecular changes and drug release from hydrophilic matrix systems*, Int. J. Pharm. 292 (2005) 75-85.

[38] M.F. Khan, C. Gharibo, *Abuse deterrent opioids*, Tech. Reg. Anesth. Pain Manag. 14 (2010) 99-103.

[39] C. Gharibo, F. Montecillo, *Tamper-resistant opioids*, in: R.S. Sinatra, J.S. Jahr, J.M. Watkins-Pitchford (Eds.) The Essence of Analgesia and Analgesics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011, pp. 463-467.

[40] C. Andersen, L. Jespersen, *Egalet<sup>®</sup> morphine, a once-a-day, abuse resistant opioid analgesics: a double-blind, randomized, cross-over efficacy study in cancer patients,* http://www.egalet.eu/multimedia/Morphine\_PhaseII\_Poster\_final\_2009-04-29.pdf (16.11.2012).

[41] A.-M. Haahr, L. Lyhne-Iversen, S. Ridderberg, M. Nilsson, P. Hemmingsen, *Drug abuse resistant, controlled release, using Egalet<sup>®</sup> dosage units*, in: 34th Annual Meeting and Exposition of the Controlled Release Society, Long Beach, California, 2007.

[42] G. Buckton, *Interfacial phenomena in drug delivery and targeting*, Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, Switzerland, 1995.

[43] B.C. Lippold, A. Ohm, *Correlation between wettability and dissolution rate of pharmaceutical powders,* Int. J. Pharm. 28 (1986) 67-74.

[44] P.E. Luner, *Wetting properties of bile salt solutions and dissolution media*, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 382-395.

[45] S. Koennings, A. Berié, J. Tessmar, T. Blunk, A. Goepferich, *Influence of wettability and surface activity on release behavior of hydrophilic substances from lipid matrices*, J. Control. Release 119 (2007) 173-181.

[46] F. Carli, L. Simioni, Permeability and penetrability of solid beds in dosage form design and development, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 3 (1977) 1-21.

[47] N.K. Ebube, A.B. Jones, *Sustained release of acetaminophen from a heterogeneous mixture of two hydrophilic non-ionic cellulose ether polymers*, Int. J. Pharm. 272 (2004) 19-27.

[48] N.A. Peppas, P. Bures, W. Leobandung, H. Ichikawa, *Hydrogels in pharmaceutical formulations*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 50 (2000) 27-46.

[49] C. Maderuelo, A. Zarzuelo, J.M. Lanao, *Critical factors in the release of drugs from sustained release hydrophilic matrices*, J. Control. Release 154 (2011) 2-19.

[50] J.H. Collett, R.C. Moreton, *Modified-release peroral dosage forms*, in: M.E. Aulton (Ed.), Aulton's Pharmaceutics The Design and Manufacture of Medicines, Elsevier Limited, 2007, pp. 483-499.

[51] P. Colombo, R. Bettini, P. Santi, N.A. Peppas, *Swellable matrices for controlled drug delivery: gel-layer behaviour, mechanisms and optimal performance*, Pharm. Sci. Technol. To. 3 (2000) 198-204.

[52] M. Levina, H. Vuong, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *The influence of hydro-alcoholic media on hypromellose matrix systems*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 1125-1134.

[53] S. Missaghi, K.A. Fegely, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *Investigation of the effects of hydroalcoholic solutions on textural and rheological properties of various controlled release grades of hypromellose*, AAPS PharmSciTech 10 (2009) 77-80.

[54] M.V.S. Varma, A.M. Kaushal, A. Garg, S. Garg, *Factors affecting mechanism and kinetics of drug release from matrix-based oral controlled drug delivery systems*, Am. J. Drug Deliv. 2 (2004) 43-57.

[55] Y.-E. Zhang, R. Tchao, J.B. Schwartz, *Effect of processing methods and heat treatment on the formation of wax matrix tablets for sustained drug release*, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 6 (2001) 131-144.

[56] M.M. Crowley, B. Schroeder, A. Fredersdorf, S. Obara, M. Talarico, S. Kucera, J.W. McGinity, *Physicochemical properties and mechanism of drug release from ethyl cellulose matrix tablets prepared by direct compression and hot-melt extrusion*, Int. J. Pharm. 269 (2004) 509-522.

[57] C.R. Young, J.J. Koleng, J.W. McGinity, *Properties of drug-containing spherical pellets produced by a hot-melt extrusion and spheronization process*, J. Microencapsul. 20 (2003) 613-625.

[58] R.C. Row, P.J. Shesky, M.E. Quinn, *Handbook of Pharmaceutical Excipients*, sixth ed., Pharmaceutical Press, 2009.

[59] M.J. Traynor, M.B. Brown, A. Pannala, P. Beck, G.P. Martin, *Influence of alcohol on the release of tramadol from 24-h controlled-release formulations during in vitro dissolution experiments*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 34 (2008) 885-889.

[60] G.M. Khan, Z. Jiabi, Formulation and in vitro evaluation of ibuprofen-carbopol<sup>®</sup> 974P-NF controlled release matrix tablets III: influence of co-excipients on release rate of the drug, J. Control. Release 54 (1998) 185-190.

[61] M. Gohel, S.H. Bariya, Advanced formulation design of venlafaxine hydrochloride coated and triple-layer tablets containing hypromellose, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 14 (2009) 650-658.

[62] K. Asare-Addo, B.R. Conway, M.J. Hajamohaideen, W. Kaialy, A. Nokhodchi, H. Larhrib, *Aqueous and hydro-alcoholic media effects on polyols*, Colloids Surf. B. Biointerfaces 111 (2013) 24-29.

[63] C.-J. Kim, *Drug release from compressed hydrophilic POLYOX-WSR tablets*, J. Pharm. Sci. 84 (1995) 303-306.

[64] A. Moroni, I. Ghebre-Sellassie, *Application of poly(oxyethylene) homopolymers in sustained release solid formulations*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 21 (1995) 1411-1428.

[65] H. Li, R. Hardy, X. Gu, *Effect of drug solubility on polymer hydration and drug dissolution from polyethylene oxide (PEO) matrix tablets*, AAPS PharmSciTech 9 (2008) 437-443.

[66] D. Palmer, M. Levina, A. Nokhodchi, D. Douroumis, T. Farrell, A. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *The influence of sodium carboxymethylcellulose on drug release from polyethylene oxide extended release matrices*, AAPS PharmSciTech 12 (2011) 862-871.

[67] F. Zhang, J.W. McGinity, *Properties of sustained-release tablets prepared by hot-melt extrusion*, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 4 (1999) 241-250.

[68] M.M. Crowley, F. Zhang, J.J. Koleng, J.W. McGinity, *Stability of polyethylene oxide in matrix tablets prepared by hot-melt extrusion*, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 4241-4248.

[69] D. Palmer, M. Levina, T.P. Farrell, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *The influence of hydro-alcoholic media on drug release from polyethylene oxide extended-release matrix tablets*, Pharmaceut. Technol. 35 (2011) 50-58.

[70] H. Röper, *Starch: present use and future utilization*, in: H. van Bekkum, H. Röper, F. Voragen (Eds.) Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials III, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Weinheim, 2007, pp. 17-35.

[71] J. Khandare, R. Haag, *Pharmaceutical used polymers: principles, structures, and applications of pharmaceutical delivery systems*, Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 197 (2010) 221-250.

[72] S.B. Tiwari, J. DiNunzio, A. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *Drug-polymer matrices for extended release*, in: C.G. Wilson, P.J. Crowley (Eds.) Controlled Release in Oral Drug Delivery, Springer, US, New York, 2011, pp. 131-159.

[73] P. Van Aerde, J.P. Remon, *In vitro evaluation of modified starches as matrices for sustained release dosage forms*, Int. J. Pharm. 45 (1988) 145-152.

[74] J. Herman, J.P. Remon, J. De Vilder, *Modified starches as hydrophilic matrices for controlled oral delivery. I. Production and characterisation of thermally modified starches*, Int. J. Pharm. 56 (1989) 51-63.

[75] V. Lenaerts, I. Moussa, Y. Dumoulin, F. Mebsout, F. Chouinard, P. Szabo, M.A. Mateescu, L. Cartilier, R. Marchessault, *Cross-linked high amylose starch for controlled release of drugs: recent advances*, J. Control. Release 53 (1998) 225-234.

[76] F. Ravenelle, R.H. Marchessault, A. Légaré, M.D. Buschmann, *Mechanical properties and structure of swollen crosslinked high amylose starch tablets*, Carbohydr. Polym. 47 (2002) 259-266.

[77] P. Le Bail, F.G. Morin, R.H. Marchessault, *Characterization of a crosslinked high amylose starch excipient*, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 26 (1999) 193-200.

[78] M. Rahmouni, V. Lenaerts, D. Massuelle, E. Doelker, J.-C. Leroux, *Influence of physical parameters and lubricants on the compaction properties of granulated and non-granulated cross-linked high amylose starch*, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 50 (2002) 1155-1162.

[79] V. Lenaerts, Y. Dumoulin, M.A. Mateescu, *Controlled release of theophylline from cross-linked amylose tablets*, J. Control. Release 15 (1991) 39-46.

[80] F. Ravenelle, M. Rahmouni, *Contramid<sup>®</sup>: high-amylose starch for controlled drug delivery*, in: R. Marchessault, F. Ravenelle, X.X. Zhu (Eds.) Polysaccharides for Drug Delivery and Pharmaceutical Applications, ACS Symposium Series, Oxford University Press, 2006, pp. 79-104.

[81] T.P. Gibson, *Pharmacokinetics, efficacy, and safety of analgesia with a focus on tramadol HCI,* Am. J. Med. 101 (Supplement 1A) (1996) S47-S53.

[82] S. Tiwari, T. Murthy, M. Raveendra Pai, P. Mehta, P. Chowdary, *Controlled release formulation of tramadol hydrochloride using hydrophilic and hydrophobic matrix system*, AAPS PharmSciTech 4 (2003) 18-23.

[83] Lubrizol, *Lubrizol pharmaceutical polymers for controlled release tablets and capsules*, http://www.lubrizol.com/Pharmaceutical/Literature/Bulletins.html (05.10.2012).

[84] G.M. Khan, J.-B. Zhu, Studies on drug release kinetics from ibuprofen-carbomer hydrophilic matrix tablets: influence of co-excipients on release rate of the drug, J. Control. Release 57 (1999) 197-203.

[85] M.M. Meshali, G.M. El-sayed, Y. El-said, H.M. Abd El-Aleem, *Preparation and evaluation of theophylline sustained-release tablets*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 22 (1996) 373-376.

[86] J. Parojcic, Z. Duric, M. Jovanovic, S. Ibric, *An investigation into the factors influencing drug release from hydrophilic matrix tablets based on novel carbomer polymers*, Drug Deliv. 11 (2004) 59-65.

[87] M. Efentakis, A. Koutlis, M. Vlachou, *Development and evaluation of oral multiple-unit and single-unit hydrophilic controlled-release systems*, AAPS PharmSciTech 1 (2000) 62-70.

[88] Lubrizol, *Formulating controlled release tablets and capsules with carbopol polymers*, http://www.lubrizol.com/Pharmaceutical/Literature/Bulletins.html (05.10.2012).

[89] C.R. Young, C. Dietzsch, M. Cerea, T. Farrell, K.A. Fegely, A. Rajabi-Siahboomi, J.W. McGinity, *Physicochemical characterization and mechanisms of release of theophylline from melt-extruded dosage forms based on a methacrylic acid copolymer*, Int. J. Pharm. 301 (2005) 112-120.

[90] B. Perez-Marcos, J.L. Ford, D.J. Armstrong, P.N.C. Elliott, C. Rostron, J.E. Hogan, *Influence of pH on the release of propranolol hydrochloride from matrices containing hydroxypropylmethylcellulose K4M and carbopol 974*, J. Pharm. Sci. 85 (1996) 330-334.

[91] S.A. Rahim, M. Al-Ghazawi, N. Al-Zoubi, *Influence of ethanol on swelling and release behaviors of Carbopol<sup>®</sup>-based tablets*, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 18 (2013) 1089-1100.

[92] S.B. Tiwari, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *Extended-release oral drug delivery technologies: monolithic matrix systems*, in: K.K. Jain (Ed.), Drug Delivery Systems, Humana Press, Totowa, 2008, pp. 217-243.

[93] P. Costa, J.M. Sousa Lobo, *Modeling and comparison of dissolution profiles*, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 13 (2001) 123-133.

[94] G. Sathyan, K. Sivakumar, J. Thipphawong, *Pharmacokinetic profile of a 24-hour controlled-release OROS formulation of hydromorphone in the presence of alcohol*, Curr. Med. Res. Opin. 24 (2008) 297-305.

[95] J. Gardner-Nix, S. Mercadante, *The role of OROS<sup>®</sup> hydromorphone in the management of cancer pain*, Pain Pract. 10 (2010) 72-77.

[96] J. Koziara, J. So, N. Agarwal, *The effect of ethanol on semipermeable cellulose acetate-based membranes,* in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition, San Antonio, TX, USA, 2006.

[97] L. Trichard, *New trends in drug abuse deterrence, LockTab formulations to adress drug misuse and abuse*, in: 7th World Meeting on Pharmaceutics, Biopharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology - APGI/APV, Malta, 2010.

[98] L. Trichard, V. Cailly-Dufestel, C. Herry, P. Oury, *Crush-resistant tablets to prevent psychoactive drug diversion*, in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Conference, Atlanta, 2008.

[99] CIMALabs, OraGuard<sup>™</sup> Abuse-deterrent, alcohol-resistant extended release technology, http://www.cimalabs.com/technology/oraguard.aspx (22.11.2013).

[100] OraGuard<sup>™</sup>: A tampering-deterrent & alcohol-resistant extended-release technology, http://www.drug-dev.com/Main/Back-Issues/OraGuardTM-A-TamperingDeterrent-AlcoholResistant-E-517.aspx (22.11.2013).

[101] T. Sundari, R.S. Gaud, *Formulation and evaluation of alcohol resistant dosage forms of diclofenac sodium*, Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 5 (2013) 854-857.

[102] FMC, *BioPolymer Aquacoat*<sup>®</sup> *ARC*, http://www.fmcbiopolymer.com/Pharmaceutical/Products/NEWAquacoatARC.aspx (27.05.2013).

[103] J. Breitenbach, *Melt extrusion: from process to drug delivery technology*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 54 (2002) 107-117.

[104] M.M. Crowley, F. Zhang, M.A. Repka, S. Thumma, S.B. Upadhye, S. Kumar Battu, J.W. McGinity, C. Martin, *Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part I*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 909-926.

[105] L. Zema, G. Loreti, A. Melocchi, A. Maroni, A. Gazzaniga, *Injection molding and its application to drug delivery*, J. Control. Release 159 (2012) 324-331.

[106] W. Roth, B. Setnik, M. Zietsch, A. Burst, J. Breitenbach, E. Sellers, D. Brennan, *Ethanol effects on drug release from Verapamil Meltrex, an innovative melt extruded formulation*, Int. J. Pharm. 368 (2009) 72-75.

[107] J.H. Bartholomaeus, E. Arkenau-Maric, E. Galia, *Opioid extended-release tablets with improved tamper-resistant properties,* Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 9 (2012) 879-891.

[108] P.H. Hemmingsen, M.R. Olsen, *Injection molding and hot-melt extrusion processing for pharmaceutical materials*, in: D. Douroumis (Ed.), Hot-melt Extrusion: Pharmaceutical Applications, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 2012, pp. 239-260.

[109] C.R. Young, J.J. Koleng, J.W. McGinity, *Production of spherical pellets by a hot-melt extrusion and spheronization process*, Int. J. Pharm. 242 (2002) 87-92.

[110] J. Liu, F. Zhang, J.W. McGinity, *Properties of lipophilic matrix tablets containing phenylpropanolamine hydrochloride prepared by hot-melt extrusion*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 52 (2001) 181-190.

[111] F.J.O. Varum, G.B. Hatton, A.W. Basit, *Food, physiology and drug delivery*, Int. J. Pharm. 457 (2013) 446-460.

# 3 Alcohol dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids

Nicole Jedinger <sup>a</sup>, Simone Schrank <sup>c</sup>, Stefan Mohr <sup>a</sup>, Andrea Feichtinger <sup>a</sup>, Johannes Khinast <sup>a,b</sup>, Eva Roblegg <sup>a,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Research Center Pharmaceutical Engineering GmbH, Graz, Austria

<sup>b</sup> Institute of Process and Particle Engineering, Graz University of Technology, Austria

<sup>c</sup> Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Graz, Austria

Published in: European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 92 (2015) 83-95. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.02.022

### 3.1 Graphical abstract



#### 3.2 Abstract

The objective of the present study was to investigate interactions between alcohol and hot-melt extruded pellets and the resulting drug release behavior. The pellets were composed of vegetable calcium stearate as matrix carrier and paracetamol or codeine phosphate as model drugs. Two solid lipids (Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>) were incorporated into the matrix to form robust/compact pellets. The drug release characteristics were a strong function of the API solubility, the addition of solid lipids, the dissolution media composition (i.e., alcohol concentration) and correspondingly, the pellet wettability. Pellets comprising paracetamol, which is highly soluble in ethanol, showed alcohol dose dumping regardless of the matrix composition. The wettability increased with increasing ethanol concentrations due to higher paracetamol solubilities yielding increased dissolution rates. For pellets containing codeine phosphate, which has a lower solubility in ethanol than in acidic media, the wettability was a function of the matrix composition. Dose dumping occurred for formulations comprising solid lipids as they showed increased wettabilities with increasing ethanol concentrations. In contrast, pellets comprising calcium stearate as

single matrix component showed robustness in alcoholic media due to wettabilities that were not affected by the addition of ethanol.

The results clearly indicate that the physico-chemical properties of the drug and the matrix systems are crucial for the design of ethanol-resistant dosage forms. Moreover, hydrophobic calcium stearate can be considered a suitable matrix system that minimizes the risk of ethanol-induced dose dumping for certain API's.

### 3.3 Introduction

Alcohol-induced dose dumping of controlled-release oral dosage forms containing opioid and non-opioid drugs with narrow therapeutic ranges is a significant challenge in the formulation development. Since alcohol may alter the release-rate-controlling mechanism of the formulation, possibly resulting in an immediate and uncontrolled drug release, the concomitant intake of alcoholic beverages together with such dosage forms poses a serious safety concern. This phenomenon, known as alcohol-induced dose dumping (ADD), can have dangerous effects [1]. Particularly susceptible are controlled-release formulations that contain a high total amount of API in order to reduce the dosing frequency and prolong the therapeutic effect. In 2005, Palladone<sup>™</sup>, a hydromorphone modified-release capsule formulation, was withdrawn from the US market, since taking it together with alcohol drastically increased the peak plasma concentrations of hydromorphone by causing failure in the release-rate-controlling mechanism [2]. Such opioid-overdose may lead to respiratory depression followed by hypoxia and even death [3]. To test for possible alcohol dose dumping effects, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommends to conduct in vitro drug release studies in ethanolic media of controlled-release dosage forms containing opioid and non-opioid drugs with a narrow therapeutic range [1, 4].

To date, only a limited number of robust single unit dosage forms [5], such as osmotic drug delivery devices [6, 7] and controlled-release matrix systems [8-15] that can withstand the effect of alcohol, are available. For the former one, a controlled-release tablet formulation of oral hydromorphone was developed using a patented oral osmotic (OROS<sup>®</sup>) Push-Pull delivery system [6]. It was shown that the controlled-release properties remained unchanged in the presence of alcohol and no dose dumping of hydromorphone occurred [6]. The same effect was reported by Koziara et al. [7]: although increasing ethanol concentrations up to 60% caused a slight increase in the drug release of OROS<sup>®</sup> systems, controlled-release properties of the drug delivery system remained unaffected and no dose dumping occurred. This could be attributed to the specific OROS<sup>®</sup> technology, which is designed such that the drug release rate is actively controlled by the dosage form, regardless of such environmental factors as gastrointestinal motility,

# ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS

surrounding pH and presence of food and alcohol [16]. In the field of matrix systems and alcohol-robust controlled-release matrix tablets, hydrophilic polymers (e.g., polyethylene oxide [8], cross-linked high amylose starch [9], carbomer [10] and hypromellose [11-15]) can be used. Insoluble in EtOH, they are expected to remain unaffected when consumed together with alcohol.

Currently, only one multiple unit dosage form is available that can withstand the influence of alcohol and remain intact in the course of the drug release process. It comprises theophylline pellets coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC (Alcohol Resistant Coating), which consists of guar gum blended with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD (Ethylcellulose Aqueous Dispersion) [17]. Insoluble in alcohol, guar gum acts as a protective layer for the alcohol-soluble ethylcellulose, leaving the controlled-release film intact. Similar controlled-release drug rates were obtained at all tested EtOH concentrations levels (10%, 20%, 40%), confirming the robustness of the coating system [17].

However, to our knowledge, no literature exists concerning the development of uncoated alcohol-resistant multiple unit dosage forms with sustained-release. To fill this gap, in this study we investigated the influence of ethanol on the *in vitro* drug release behavior of hot-melt extruded pellets. Hot-melt extrusion (HME) is a promising technology for the preparation of alcohol-resistant controlling dosage forms. For example, Roth et al. developed the innovative sustained-release Verapamil Meltrex<sup>®</sup> formulation [18]. The *in vitro* dissolution studies indicated that ethanolic media (5%, 20% and 40% (v/v)) did not affect the drug release rate after 8 h in dissolution media. The authors concluded that the melt-extruded tablets remained intact in the *in vitro* environment and no dose dumping occurred [18].

The hot-melt extruded pellets prepared in our study were composed of the wellcharacterized analgesic and antipyretic drug paracetamol and the opioid analgesic drug codeine phosphate as model active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) and vegetable calcium stearate (CaSt) as a matrix carrier. Being a mixture of water-insoluble calcium salts of stearic and palmitic acid, CaSt is primarily used as a lubricant in tablet and capsule formulations [19]. However, Roblegg et al. demonstrated that CaSt could be used as a pelletisation matrix carrier for spherical slow-release pellets using the wet extrusion/spheronisation technique [20]. Another study by Roblegg et al. established that controlled-release spherical CaSt pellets could be produced via HME [21]. It was demonstrated that CaSt retarded the drug release to a significant extent and by adding plasticizers the *in vitro* release profile could be tailored as desired [21]. Due to its hydrophobic nature, CaSt is insoluble in water and ethanol and is a promising matrix system for alcohol-resistant formulations. In the current study, two ethanol- and water-insoluble solid lipids (Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>), which are suitable for hot-melt extrusion [22, 23] were incorporated to form a robust/compact multiple unit dosage form resistant to ethanol. As calcium stearate shows a very high melting point, it is not expected to melt during HME. Hence, the low melting lipids Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> were incorporated which melt during the process and therefore, act as binders. All formulations were tested regarding their release characteristics in the presence of ethanol. The main goal was to achieve a better understanding of how alcohol interacts with the formulation, which is the basis for a rational formulation design. To that end, media uptake and wetting behavior upon exposure to ethanolic media were examined. Furthermore, the pellet surface properties and internal morphology were studied via scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

#### 3.4 Materials and methods

#### 3.4.1 Materials

Paracetamol and codeine phosphate hemihydrates donated by G.L. Pharma GmbH, Lannach, Austria were used as model APIs. The matrix carrier system was vegetable calcium stearate (stearic acid 44% and palmitic acid 54%, EP) purchased from Werba-Chem GmbH, Vienna, Austria. The solid lipids Precirol<sup>®</sup> ATO 5 (glycerol distearate) and Compritol<sup>®</sup> 888 ATO (glycerol dibehenate) were supplied by Gattefossé, Weil am Rhein, Germany. The *in vitro* drug release studies were carried out with 0.1 N hydrochloric acid (HCI) and a trisodiumphosphate-dodecahydrate buffer purchased from Merck, Darmstadt, Germany. For the dose-dumping studies, absolute ethanol (EP) was obtained from VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany. The mobile phase for the reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) consisted of ammonium hydrogenphosphate and ammonium dihydrogenphosphate (Fluka, Sigma Aldrich Chemicals, St. Louis, USA), phosphoric acid (85%, VWR international, Darmstadt, Germany) and methanol (LiChrosolv<sup>®</sup> Reag., EP, VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany).

#### 3.4.2 HME process

The powder mixtures for HME were obtained by blending the matrix carrier CaSt and the model drugs paracetamol and codeine phosphate with each of the solid lipids in a turbula mixer at 60 Hz for 20 min (Turbula<sup>®</sup> TypT2F, Turbula System Schatz, Willy Bachofen AG, Muttenz, Switzerland). The powder blend was transferred into a dosing device (K-Tron, Niederlenz, Switzerland) and gravimetrically fed into a co-rotating twin-screw extruder (ZSK 18, Coperion GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany) with a length-to-diameter ratio (L/D) of 40. The screws were located inside of a cylindrical barrel composed of 10 individually-controllable heating sections. The chosen temperature profiles of all barrel zones are listed in Table 1. Pellets were made directly with our in-house developed hot-die cutter

# ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS

[24]. To produce suitable extruded strands via hot die-face pelletizing, the formulations were extruded at temperatures ranging from 75 to 130 °C (depending on the formulation). The screw speed was set to 200 rpm for all experiments and the throughput of the extruder was 0.5 kg/h. The molten material was extruded through a die plate with a diameter of 1.0 mm. Subsequently, homogeneous strands were cut directly at the die face using a hot die-face pelletizer (Automatik Plastics Machinery GmbH, Großostheim, Germany) with two rotating knives and immediately air-cooled. To obtain pellets in the desired size range, the rotational speed of the knives was set manually to 1200-1300 (depending on the formulation). An overview of the formulations and the processing parameters is given in Table 1.

### ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS

Table 1

Formulations (wt.%) and HME process parameters.

Knife rotation speed (rpm) 1300 1250 1250 1300 1200 1200 110 Ő <u>1</u> ģ ខ្ល 5 飞 10 10 10 5 袑 o 怒 110 <u>6</u> 100 <u>8</u> 咒 œ 82 120 5 8 5 8 Ю 130 6 10 5 58 咒 ω Process parameters Throughput (kg/h) Torque (%) Barrel-zone temperatures (°C) Œ ģ 8 Ő 90 00 5 ю 110 130 110 <u>8</u> ř 58 ব 110 110 130 <u>8</u> 8 82 က 110 <u>1</u> 8 8 ß ř N 100 100 ន 挖 ۱r 8 8 ő ę ų μ μ ę 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 CaSt/CodPh20/Comprito[10 CaSt/CodPh20/Precirol10 CaSt/P20/Compritol10 CaSt/P20/Precirol10 Formulation (wt.%) CaSt/CodPh20 CaSt/P20

### 3.4.3 Characterization of powder substances and pellets

### **Differential scanning calorimetry**

Thermal properties of the pure powder substances and the hot-melt extruded pellets were characterized using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC 204F1 Phoenix<sup>®</sup>, Netzsch GmbH, Selb, Germany). Samples of about 6-9 mg were weighed into aluminium crucibles, which were sealed and pierced. The model API's and CaSt were scanned between 25 to 200 °C at a heating rate of 5 K/min, with pure nitrogen as the purge gas at a flow rate of 20 ml/min. After cooling (10 K/min) to 25 °C, a second heating run was performed. Since both solid lipids are expected to melt during HME, the samples were heated from 25 °C to 110 °C (highest applied extrusion temperature) at a heating rate of 5 K/min, hold at 110 °C for 10 min, cooled to 25 °C (10 K/min) and reheated from 25 °C to 200 °C. For hot-melt extruded pellets, only one heating cycle was performed (temperature range 25-200 °C). An empty aluminum crucible was used as a reference. The DSC data analysis was conducted with Proteus Thermal Analysis software (Netzsch GmbH, Selb, Germany).

### Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)

FT-IR spectroscopy using a Bruker Vertex 70 spectrometer was applied to evaluate chemical interactions between the model drugs, matrix carrier system CaSt and solid lipids. The pure substances and the hot-melt extruded pellets were placed in close contact with the diamond ATR device. Each sample was measured in triplicate with 16 scans at a resolution of 4 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The spectra were collected at wavelengths ranging from 4500 to 600 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

### Drug solubility determination

The solubility of paracetamol and the opioid drug codeine phosphate was evaluated in ethanol and dissolution media with and without alcohol by preparing saturated solutions. The solutions were left in an incubator shaker for 48 h at 37  $\pm$  0.5 °C. Samples of 1 ml were taken, filtered (cellulose acetate filter with a pore size of 0.2 µm) and diluted appropriately, and the concentration of the dissolved drug was quantified via UV/VIS spectrometry at a wavelength of 244 nm (paracetamol) and 284 nm (codeine phosphate), respectively. The solubility studies were performed in triplicate.

### Media uptake studies

Compacts of pure CaSt, Precirol<sup>®</sup> and Compritol<sup>®</sup> and the hot-melt extruded pellets were prepared by direct compression using an electro-hydraulic press (Perkin Elmer, Überlingen, Germany) equipped with a 13 mm die assembly. In order to determine the media uptake of the compacts, the experiments were conducted similarly to the *in vitro* dissolution studies described in Section 2.3.6 using the same media. The compacts were

weighed and placed into the dissolution apparatus. After 120 min they were withdrawn from the medium and the excess surface liquid was carefully removed with tissue paper. After they were re-weighed ( $w_0$ ), the compacts were transferred into an oven and dried to a constant weight ( $w_1$ ) at 37 °C. The experiments were repeated three times for each time point. The media uptake capacity (%) was determined in accordance to Kreye et al. using the following equation [25]:

media uptake capacity (%) = 
$$\frac{w_0 - w_1}{w_0} \times 100$$
 (1)

#### **Contact angle measurements**

Prior to the experiments, compacts of the pure powder substances (i.e., CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>) and the hot-melt extruded pellets were prepared as described in Section 2.3.4. The contact angles of the compacts with water, ethanol, dissolution media without ethanol and dissolution media with 20% and 40% ethanol were examined using the EasyDrop System (Krüss, Hamburg, Germany). Images of the liquid drop in contact with the compacts surface were captured with a CCD camera. The contact angle values were obtained by applying the height and width (H/W) method, where the contact angle is measured optically using drop shape analysis. The contact angle values were calculated from the width of a sessile drop and its height at the apex [26]. All measurements were performed six times and the mean value was determined.

#### *In-vitro* drug release studies

All *in vitro* dissolutions tests were carried out via the USP 28 rotating basket method <711> (Pharma Test, Hainburg, Germany) at a rotational speed of 100 rpm and a release temperature of 37 ± 0.5 °C. For each formulation, 1 g of the pellets was transferred into the basket (n=3). Dissolution medium consisted of 750 ml 0.1 N HCl. After 2 h, 250 ml trisodiumphosphate-dodecahydrate buffer was added to switch the pH from 1.2 to 6.8. Samples of 1 ml were withdrawn from each vessel at predetermined time intervals (after 10 min followed by sampling at 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8 h). The drug content was determined using reversed phase HPLC. A dissolution study was also performed on the pellet formulations after 12 months of storage in closed dishes at room conditions.

For the alcohol-induced dose dumping studies, additional dissolution testing was conducted in 900 mL HCI (0.1 N) with ethanol concentrations of 20% (equivalent to mixed drinks) and 40% (equivalent to hard liquor) (v/v) over a period of 2 h. To compare the drug release profiles in alcoholic and non-alcoholic media, the  $f_2$  similarity factor was used. According to Moore and Flanner, the  $f_2$  value was calculated using the following expression [27]:

$$f_2 = 50 \times \log\left\{ \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1}^n (R_t - T_t)^2 \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times 100 \right\}$$
(2)

where *n* is to the number of dissolution time points considered and  $R_t$  and  $T_t$  are the percent of drug dissolved of the reference and test formulations at time point *t*. In general, an  $f_2$  value in the range of 50-100 indicates that the dissolution profiles are similar.

#### **Reversed phase HPLC analysis**

The HPLC system (HP1090 liquid chromatography, Hewlett Packard, Palo Alto, USA) comprised a diode array detector (detection at 272 nm). The analysis was carried out using a reversed phase ODS silica column (125 x 4 mm, LiChrospher<sup>®</sup>, 5  $\mu$ m RP-18, 100 Å pore size, VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany) as the stationary phase. An aqueous solution containing 7.6 mM ammonium hydrogenphosphate and 5.4 mM ammonium dihydrogenphosphate served as the mobile phase. This mixture was adjusted with phosphoric acid to pH 2.6. Next, the mobile phase was diluted with methanol at the ratio of 60:40 (w/w) followed by filtration through a cellulose nitrate filter (pore size 0.2  $\mu$ m, Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). Subsequently, the filtrate was degassed with helium (purity: 5.0) for 10 minutes. A volume of 5-10  $\mu$ l of each sample was injected automatically with an autosampler, and the flow rate was set to 0.8 ml/min. The quantification was performed by a single-point calibration with a 100% standard solution of the API.

#### Pellet morphology

SEM was performed to visualize the surface morphology of the CaSt/paracetamol and CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets, with and without solid lipids before and after the *in vitro* drug release studies in dissolution media without ethanol (8 h) and ethanolic media (2 h). The pellets were mounted on stubs using a double-sided sticky band and were sputtered with chromium under vacuum. Images were obtained using a scanning electron microscope (Zeiss Ultra 55, Carl Zeiss NTS GmbH, Oberkochen, Germany) operating at an accelerating voltage of 5 kV.

#### Statistical analysis

All tests were performed three times, except the contact angle measurements that were conducted six times. The results were expressed as a mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistical differences between each formulation were determined by a *p*-value < 0.05 (Student's unpaired t-test).

### 3.5 Results and discussion

### 3.5.1 Preparation of pellets via HME

The CaSt/paracetamol blend was extruded at a temperature ranging from 100 to 130°C, and the evaluated torque value was 16%. The temperature profile was chosen according to the softening temperature of CaSt (i.e., around 120 °C) as it was previously shown that paracetamol does not act as plasticizer in this system [21]. At this temperature range cuttable extrudates with a suitable melt viscosity were obtained. For the CaSt/codeine phosphate blend, however, the extrusion temperature had to be reduced to 85-100°C, in order to obtain a homogeneous material that can be extruded and cut at the die. The necessary reduction in the extrusion temperature suggests that codeine phosphate has a plasticizing effect on the matrix material, which is the case for a number of drugs [28, 29]. Adding Precirol<sup>®</sup> and Compritol<sup>®</sup> required a reduction in the process temperature for both model drugs, in order to obtain extrusion strands suitable for further down-streaming. For the CaSt/codeine phosphate/Compritol<sup>®</sup> formulation and for the CaSt/codeine phosphate/Precirol<sup>®</sup> formulation the extrusion temperature had to be reduced to 75 and 80-85° C, respectively (Table 1). For the CaSt/paracetamol/Compritol<sup>®</sup> formulation and for the CaSt/paracetamol/Precirol<sup>®</sup> formulation the extrusion temperature had to be reduced to 100-110 °C and 90-110° C, respectively (Table 1). These findings are in accordance with Islam et al., who observed that Compritol<sup>®</sup> acted as a plasticizer during the extrusion process [22]. Extruding a blend of paracetamol, ethylcellulose and Compritol<sup>®</sup> resulted in reduced necessary extrusion temperatures compared to the binary blend of paracetamol and ethylcellulose [22].

After cooling the melt-extruded pellets, a sieve analysis was carried out. The pellets prepared with the 1.0 mm die plate had a yield between 62.53% and 70.42% in the desired size fraction of 1.0-1.25 mm, which were used for further characterization.

### 3.5.2 Thermal characterization and compatibility studies

In order to determine the thermal behavior of the drug and the excipients, DSC measurements were performed on pure powder substances and hot-melt extruded pellets (Figs. 1 and 2). From the literature, it is well known that paracetamol exists in three polymorphic forms [30-33]. Form I (monoclinic paracetamol) is the commercially available and most thermodynamically stable form with a single endothermic melting peak at about 171 °C [32]. The second modification is the metastable form II (orthorhombic paracetamol), with a melting endotherm at about 157 °C [31]. The unstable form III is considered an important intermediate step in the transformation into the orthorhombic form [31]. Figure 1 illustrates the DSC signal of paracetamol used in this study. The thermogram of the first heating cycle clearly showed only one sharp endothermic event at

172.8 °C (onset = 169.4 °C), which corresponds to the characteristic melting peak of monoclinic paracetamol. No thermal events were observed during cooling, indicating an amorphous substance. Upon reheating the solidified melt, two exothermic events and one endotherm were detected. This effect was also reported in other studies [31, 33]. The exothermic signal at 82.6 °C (onset = 76.8 °C) was due to the crystallization to form III. The second exothermic event that occurred at 129.5 °C (onset at 125.8 °C) could be attributed to the transformation of form III to form II, followed by melting of form II at 160.8 °C (onset = 157.0 °C).

Codeine phosphate hemihydrate (0.5 water equivalent), which is a pseudo-polymorph of codeine phosphate [34], had a weak endothermic signal at 107.6 °C (onset = 97.1 °C), which was also reversible upon cooling (109.3 °C), and an endothermic event at 151.6 °C (onset = 146.3 °C), respectively (Fig. 2). According to the literature, these endothermic events could be attributed to the loss of water and the phase transition from the hemi-hydrate to the anhydrous form of codeine phosphate [34]. A third endothermic peak appeared at 187.7 °C (onset = 179.2 °C) as a result of internal structural rearrangements in the codeine molecule [34]. Upon reheating, this endotherm was reproducible at 180.0 °C (onset = 176.6 °C).

The thermogram of the matrix carrier CaSt showed two endothermic events during the first heating cycle (Figs. 1 and 2). The first signal outlined a broad endothermic peak in a temperature range of 113.9 °C to 123.6 °C, due to softening of the substance [35]. The endothermic peak at 189.9 °C (onset = 186.7 °C) was a result of transition of CaSt into the liquid state [21]. This thermal event was also reversible upon cooling (169 °C). Both endotherms of the first heating cycle were reproducible at repeated heating. The softening peak of CaSt occurred at 119.0 °C (onset = 111.3 °C) and the transition into the liquid state was detected at 190.3 °C (onset = 186.8 °C). The DSC scan of Compritol<sup>®</sup> was characterized by one endothermic melting peak at 75.1 °C (onset = 69.6 °C) during heating. Upon cooling, one recrystallization exotherm at 64.9 °C (onset = 58.7 °C) was obtained. Reheating of the lipid led to a slight shift of the melting endotherm towards lower temperatures (74.0 °C; onset = 67.9 °C), which indicates solid-state transitions. These findings are in agreement with the literature [36, 37]. During the first heating of Precirol<sup>®</sup>, a melting endotherm was recorded at 58.6 °C (onset = 48.5 °C). The cooling curve displayed the recrystallization exotherm of Precirol<sup>®</sup> at 52.5 °C (onset = 47.3 °C). During the second heating cycle, two melting endotherms (45.91 °C and 54.37 °C, respectively) were detected, which was reported in previous studies [36, 38-40]. The peak at lower temperatures may be due to partly melting of the lipid mass and recrystallization of lower melting crystal structures [40]. For both, Precirol<sup>®</sup> and Compritol<sup>®</sup> it is reported that the crystal structure may transform to a more stable modification during storage depending upon the storage conditions [36]. The solid-state transformation can affect the drug release properties of the dosage form [40, 41]. However, this was not evaluated during the present study.

The obtained thermograms of the melt-extruded pellets appeared as a sum of the characteristic peaks of the individual components (Figs. 1 and 2). The pellet formulations containing paracetamol clearly indicate the presence of a crystalline drug since an endothermic event occurred during heating at 170.2 °C (onset =  $168.1 \, ^{\circ}$ C) for CaSt/paracetamol and 170.0 °C (onset =  $168.0 \, ^{\circ}$ C) for Cast/paracetamol/Compritol<sup>®</sup> and for Cast/paracetamol/Precirol<sup>®</sup>, respectively (Fig. 1). This endotherm corresponds well to the melting peak of monoclinic paracetamol. Additionally, the softening of CaSt at 120 °C was evident from all thermograms.

All codeine phosphate pellet formulations had an endothermic peak at 182.4 °C (onset = 179.6 °C) that was associated with the structural rearrangement within the codeine molecule, as described above (Fig. 2). Moreover, a broad endotherm was observed at around 120 °C (onset = 110 °C) due to softening of the matrix carrier, CaSt.

The melting peaks of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> were identified in the thermograms of all pellet formulation (Figs. 1 and 2). The paracetamol formulations had melting peaks at 74.5 °C (onset = 65.7 °C) and at 57.6 °C (onset = 54.6 °C) for Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>, respectively. The thermograms of the codeine phosphate pellet formulations showed melting endotherms at 63.0 °C (onset = 58.8 °C) and at 46.0 °C (onset = 41.3 °C). The plasticizing effect of codeine phosphate led to a shift of the melting endotherms towards lower temperatures. However, the intensity of the Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> peaks was very low, which may be due to either the smaller quantity used in the pellet formulations or partial interactions of the components. To investigate chemical interactions between the drug, the matrix system and the solid lipids FT-IR measurements were conducted.

# ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS



**Fig. 1.** DSC scans of the pure powder substances (i.e., paracetamol, CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup>, Precirol<sup>®</sup>) (2 heating cycles) and hot-melt extruded pellets (one heating cycle).



**Fig. 2.** DSC scans of the pure powder substances (i.e., codeine phosphate, CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup>, Precirol<sup>®</sup>) (2 heating cycles) and hot-melt extruded pellets (one heating cycle).

# ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS

The FT-IR spectra of the pure drugs and excipients, along with the melt-extruded pellet formulations, are illustrated in Figs. 3 and 4. Characteristic peaks corresponding to the pure substances were retrieved from the infrared spectra of the melt-extruded pellets. This confirms the absence of drug-matrix interactions (for paracetamol as well as for codeine phosphate) since neither shifting of any peak nor new peaks were detected.



**Fig. 3.** FT-IR spectra of the pure powder substances (i.e., paracetamol, CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup>, Precirol<sup>®</sup>) and hot-melt extruded pellets.



**Fig. 4.** FT-IR spectra of the pure powder substances (i.e., codeine phosphate, CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup>, Precirol<sup>®</sup>) and hot-melt extruded pellets.

#### 3.5.3 Drug solubility

The solubility of paracetamol and codeine phosphate was determined in the hydrochloric dissolution media with and without alcohol. The data are presented in Table 2. The results demonstrate that the solubility of paracetamol is significantly affected by dissolution
media, i.e., paracetamol has a higher solubility in the presence of ethanol, i.e., a threeand ten-fold rise compared to 0.1 N HCl media was observed in 20% and 40% EtOH, respectively. These findings are consistent with the literature [42].

In contrast, the solubility of codeine phosphate markedly decreased with increasing alcohol concentration. Codeine phosphate is most soluble in polar solvents like water and the addition of ethanol will lower the dielectric constant in relation to pure water, and hence, the solubility of the drug decreases [5, 43].

Table 2

Solubility of paracetamol and	codeine phosphate in var	rious media at 37 $\pm$ 0.5 °C.				
Various modia tostad	Paracetamol	Codeine phosphate				
Valious media lesied	solubility [mg/ml]	solubility [mg/ml]				
0.1 N HCl 14.6 518.41						
0.1 N HCI/EtOH 20%	47.38	273.77				
0.1 N HCI/EtOH 40%	151.44	186.09				
EtOH pure	232.75 <sup>a</sup>	3.88				

<sup>a</sup> Based on Granberg et al. [42].

#### 3.5.4 Media uptake and wetting studies

The media uptake of the pure matrix materials and the pellet formulations was studied. Furthermore, contact angle measurements were conducted to characterize the wetting behavior of the matrix substances and the pellet formulations in non-alcoholic media and alcoholic media.

Fig. 5 illustrates the media uptake of the compacts after 120 min of exposure to nonalcoholic and alcoholic media. The results indicate that the uptake of pure CaSt compacts was similar in 0.1 N HCl (i.e., 0.31%), in 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer (i.e., 0.18%) and in 20% ethanol media (i.e., 0.22%) (Fig. 5A, B, C). In 40% alcoholic media however, the media uptake was 1.02% as CaSt is swellable in ethanol (Fig. 5D) [44]. Pure Compritol<sup>®</sup> compacts showed a media uptake of 1.8% in 0.1 N HCl (Fig. 5A). The media uptake was increased in HCl/phosphate buffer (i.e., 5.5%; Fig. 5B) and was even higher when ethanol was present (i.e. 8.2% in 20% alcoholic media and 9.1% in 40% alcoholic media; Fig. 5C and 5D). In contrast, the media uptake of the pure Precirol<sup>®</sup> compacts was similar in all media (i.e., 1.2%, 0.57%, 1.2% and 1.6% in 0.1 N HCl, 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer, 20% and 40% alcoholic media; Fig. 5).

For the paracetamol formulations the media uptake in non-alcoholic media was independent on the pH-value (0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer) and on the formulation composition (addition of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>) (Fig. 5A and B). All media uptake values were below 1.0%. The formulation compacts increased slightly with increasing alcoholic concentration (i.e., 1.9%, 1.1%, 2.2% and 3.5%, 3.0% and 3.8% for

CaSt/paracetamol, CaSt/paracetamol/Precirol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/paracetamol/Compritol<sup>®</sup> in 20% and 40% alcoholic media, respectively; Fig. 5C and D).

The media uptake values for the codeine phosphate formulation compacts highly exceeded those of the paracetamol formulation compacts in all tested media (Fig. 5). Most probably, this was attributed to the higher solubility of codeine phosphate. A comparatively high fraction of codeine phosphate was released during the studies leaving behind a porous matrix system. The porous system provided a higher surface area accessible to the swelling media and consequently, higher fractions of swelling media were absorbed.

The media uptake of CaSt/codeine phosphate compacts was nearly similar in 0.1 N HCI (11.4%), 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer (10.6%), 20% (12.9%) and 40% (12.1%) ethanolic media (Fig. 5). In non-alcoholic media the media uptake was decreased when Compritol® was added to the formulation (i.e., 9.7% and 9.9% for 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer) and was further decreased when Precirol® was added (i.e., 7.4% and 7.3% for 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer) (Fig. 5A and B). This was rather unexpected as both pure solid lipid compacts showed higher media uptake values compared to pure CaSt. It should be noted, that the pure substances were used in the pure not molten state, not reflecting the situation as present in the pellet formulation compacts, which were produced from hot-melt extruded pellets. The addition of 10% Compritol<sup>®</sup> vielded decreased media uptake compared to CaSt/codeine phosphate in 20% alcoholic media (i.e., 10.8%), whereas the addition of 10% Precirol<sup>®</sup> yielded increased media uptake (i.e., 13.2%) (Fig. 5C). In 40% ethanol however, CaSt/codeine phosphate/Compritol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/codeine poshphate/Precirol<sup>®</sup> showed increased media uptake (i.e., 15.6% and 17.1%) compared to CaSt/codeine phosphate (Fig. 5D). Again, the observed media uptake behavior of the pure components was not reflected in the behavior of the pellet formulation compacts as pure Compritol<sup>®</sup> showed higher media uptake in 20% and 40% ethanol than pure Precirol<sup>®</sup>.

Furthermore, the wetting behavior of the compacts in alcoholic and non-alcoholic media was determined.



**Fig. 5.** Media uptake of the compacts after 120 min of exposure to (A) 0.1 N HCI, (B) 0.1 N HCI/phosphatebuffer pH 6.8, (C) 0.1 N HCI/20% EtOH and (D) 0.1 N HCI/40% EtOH; Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).

The wetting behavior of a substance depends on its chemical structure and hydrophilic/hydrophobic nature. It correlates with the drug dissolution rate [45] probably because wetting establishes solute-solvent contacts that the solvent needs in order to penetrate the matrix system and release the drug [46].

Table 3 lists contact angles of the pure powder substance compacts and the hot-melt extruded pellet formulation compacts with water, ethanol, and non-alcoholic and alcoholic dissolution media. Due to the hydrophobic nature of CaSt and solid lipids, the measured contact angles in water were well above 90° (Table 3). Both solid lipids also had high contact angle values of above 90° in dissolution media. In alcoholic media, the contact angle values of CaSt slightly decreased with the increasing ethanol concentration. The obtained contact angle values of CaSt were in accordance with Schrank et al., who reported that pure water did not wet CaSt and contact angles of pure ethanol and 50% ethanol were well below 90° [44]. In the case of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>, the contact angle values strongly decreased with increasing ethanol concentration, indicating enhanced wetting in alcoholic media. Adding 40% ethanol almost reduced the contact angle by 50%. As expected, large contact angle values of the large amount of hydrophobic materials used in the formulations (i.e., CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>). No significant

differences between the measured contact angle values in acidic media and 20% alcoholic media were found for all pellet formulations. In contrast, the obtained contact angles in 40% alcoholic media markedly decreased (i.e., < 70°), indicating enhanced wetting properties of the formulations with higher amounts of alcohol. This was supported by the contact angle values obtained in pure ethanol, which were around 30° for the codeine phosphate pellet formulations. The contact angle of the paracetamol pellet formulation compacts in pure ethanol could not be determined due to an immediate drop penetration into the compacts, proposing a total wetting of the pellet formulation compacts in pure alcohol.

#### Table 3

Contact angle	values of the	compacts with	different media.	Mean values ± SD	(n=6).

			Contact angle	e (°) with:		
Formulations	Water	0.1 N HCI	0.1 N HCI/	0.1 N	0.1 N	EtOH
Formulations			Phosphate-	HCI/	HCI/	pure
			buffer pH	EtOH	EtOH	
			6.8	20%	40%	
CaSt_pure	113.7±2.65	79.8±0.49	77.2±1.55	71.4±0.07	69.9±0.77	34.3±0.24
Precirol_pure	103.2±1.34	100.3±1.06	101.1±2.82	65.1±0.35	57.7±0.14	25.1±0.21
Compritol_pure	108.2±1.98	95.8±2.89	103.3±2.05	79.8±0.56	56.3±0.84	20.6±4.10
CaSt/P20	106.6±1.25	99.0±1.73	104.0±1.98	97.5±2.11	67.6±1.10	N/A <sup>a</sup>
CaSt/P20/Compritol10	107.7±0.84	86.3±0.28	89.9±0.21	86.1±1.84	65.8±0.14	N/A <sup>a</sup>
CaSt/P20/Precirol10	106.9±1.91	78.9±0.01	79.6±0.84	78.1±1.27	62.0±0.28	N/A <sup>a</sup>
CaSt/CodPh20	91.0±1.96	80.5±2.17	95.0±1.76	77.3±2.22	75.5±2.25	32.9±2.56
CaSt/CodPh20/Compritol10	98.1±0.45	82.0±2.30	92.2±2.55	80.6±1.79	67.4±1.54	30.9±1.08
CaSt/CodPh20/Precirol10	99.9±1.06	82.4±2.04	95.7±1.44	80.1±85.7	65.6±1.57	32.4±0.84

<sup>a</sup> Determination of the contact angles were impossible due to an immediate drop penetration

In summary, it is clear that alcohol affected the media uptake and wetting behavior of all compacted matrix materials, except for pure CaSt and CaSt/codeine phosphate pellet formulation, where only a small impact is seen. The media uptake of pure CaSt and CaSt/codeine phosphate was nearly similar in all tested media and the measured contact angle values decreased only slightly in alcoholic media. The media uptake of pure Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> and the pellet formulation compacts increased and the contact angle values markedly decreased with the increasing alcohol content, leading to enhanced wetting of the formulation.

#### 3.5.5 In-vitro drug release of hot-melt extruded pellets

In a previous study, Roblegg et al. reported that melt-extruded CaSt/paracetamol pellets significantly retarded the API release, which was diffusion-controlled [21]. After 8 h, only 11.54% of paracetamol were released. Adding Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> significantly

increased the drug release rates: 18.04% (p = 0.04) and 29.55% (p = 0.005) (Fig. 6A) paracetamol, were found in the dissolution media after 8 h. The higher drug release rates were due to decreased contact angles resembling increased wettabilities (Table 3). In general, the better the wettability of the matrix surface, the higher the penetration rate and the faster the drug release [47].

The addition of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> did not alter the release mechanism as all dissolution data obeyed the Higuchi law rather well ( $R^2 > 0.98$ , data not shown) indicating diffusion-controlled drug release. Due to the dense matrix system and due to the fact that the pellets did neither swell significantly in 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer (media uptake < 1.0%, Fig. 5) nor did the matrix materials dissolve in the dissolution media [21, 44, 48, 49], initially only paracetamol located at the pellet surface was dissolved. The dissolved paracetamol left behind pores, through which the dissolution media could enter more internal pellet regions, dissolve the drug accessible to the pores and subsequently, the API needs to diffuse through the porous system prior to entering the bulk dissolution medium [50].

The incomplete paracetamol release could be attributed, on the one hand, to the dense CaSt matrix system [21] and, on the other hand, to all the investigated formulations being rather hydrophobic (Table 3).

Fig. 6B-D illustrate the drug release profiles of the dissolution experiments carried out in alcoholic media over a period of 2 h. Clearly, the drug release depended on the alcohol concentration. The drug release rates from the CaSt/paracetamol pellets in dissolution media with 20% ethanol did not significantly differ from the 0% ethanol condition and showed a  $f_2$ -value of 71.52 (p = 0.11). Similar release profiles were obtained as the media uptake (Fig. 5) and the contact angles (Table 3) did not vary markedly in 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/20% ethanolic media. However, in 40% alcoholic media the amount of paracetamol release increased significantly (p < 0.05;  $f_2$ -value 25.05) due to the improved pellet wettability (Table 3). The better wettability favored interactions between the pellet and the dissolution media and consequently, increased the drug release rates. The improved wettability was also reflected by the higher media uptake (Fig. 5). Additionally, the solubility of paracetamol was much higher in 40% alcoholic media compared to 0.1 N HCl (Table 2), which yielded higher drug release rates.

Similar results were observed in the case of CaSt/paracetamol/Precirol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/paracetamol/Compritol<sup>®</sup>. Adding 20% ethanol to dissolution media did not significantly (p = 0.37 and 0.94, respectively) affect the API release from the pellets ( $f_2 = 79.42$  and 95.58, respectively) as the wettability of the pellets was similar in 0.1 N HCl and 0.1 N HCl/20% alcoholic media (Table 3). Again the wettability increased in 40% alcoholic media yielding significantly (p < 0.05) higher release rates. After 2 h, drug release rates of

nearly 65% and 35% were observed for the CaSt/paracetamol/Precirol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/paracetamol/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellets, respectively. The estimated  $f_2$ -values were below 50 (19.86 and 35.98, respectively), indicating dose dumping.



**Fig. 6.** Paracetamol release profiles from CaSt/P, CaSt/P/Compritol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/P/Precirol<sup>®</sup> hot-melt extruded pellets (1-1.25 mm) in (A) non-alcoholic media over 8 h and (B, C and D, respectively) alcoholic media over 2 h; Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3). Release profile of pure CaSt/paracetamol pellets (Fig. 1A) is based on previous data of Roblegg et al. [21].

The drug release profiles of the CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets showed that 41.36% of the drug was detected in dissolution media without alcohol after 2 h (Fig. 7A). After 8 h, codeine phosphate was almost entirely released (i.e., 97.70%). Since the solubility of codeine phosphate is very high in the dissolution media (Table 2) the API release was rather fast even for a very dense matrix system. Incorporating Compritol® and Precirol® decreased the drug release rate to 26.83% and 29.10% (Fig. 7A), after 2 h, despite similar contact angle values (Table 3). However, fitting the dissolution data according to the Korsmeyer-Peppas approach (data not shown) revealed that CaSt/codeine phosphate/Precirol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/codeine phosphate/Compritol<sup>®</sup> showed diffusion-controlled drug release, whereas CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets showed diffusion-controlled and case-II-transport (i.e., anomalous transport). Hence, variations in the release profiles were

attributed to different underlying release mechanisms. The drug release rate of the CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets in 20% and 40% alcoholic media increased only slightly (p = 0.44 and 0.64, respectively). The estimated  $f_{2}$ -values (55.85 and 67.59, respectively) confirmed that no dose dumping occurred (Fig. 7B). These results are in accordance with the findings of the media uptake and wetting studies in 20% and 40% alcoholic media, where similar contact angle values (Table 3) were obtained. This was also reflected by similar media uptake values (Fig. 5). The drug release being higher in 20% alcoholic media than in 40% one could be attributed to the lower solubility of codeine phosphate in 40% ethanol (Table 2). Although the codeine phosphate solubility was highest in non-alcoholic media (Table 2) the amount of drug release was lowest in non-alcoholic media. This might be attributed to different underlying release mechanisms; the release was diffusion-controlled in alcoholic media whereas anomalous transport was prevalent in non-alcoholic media (data not shown).

The dissolution studies of the CaSt/codeine phosphate/Precirol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/codeine phosphate/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellets carried out in alcoholic media demonstrated that the API liberation increased with the increasing alcohol concentration (Fig. 7C and 7D) due to improved wettabilities (Table 3) and consequently, increased media uptake values (Fig. 5). The influence of 20% and 40% alcoholic media on the drug release profile was the highest (p = 0.39 and 0.02) for the pellets containing Precirol<sup>®</sup>, and the calculated  $f_2$ -values were below 50 (47.13 and 31.87). Although the Compritol<sup>®</sup> formulation showed robustness in 20% alcoholic media ( $f_2 = 56.44$ ), adding 40% ethanol to acidic media affected the drug release rate ( $f_2 = 43.59$ ) and resulted in non-robust pellets compared to CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets.

ALCOHOL DOSE DUMPING: THE INFLUENCE OF ETHANOL ON HOT-MELT EXTRUDED PELLETS COMPRISING SOLID LIPIDS



**Fig. 7.** Codeine phosphate release profiles from CaSt/CodPh, CaSt/CodPh/Compritol<sup>®</sup> and CaSt/CodPh/Precirol<sup>®</sup> hot-melt extruded pellets (1-1.25 mm) in (A) non-alcoholic media over 8 h and (B, C and D, respectively) alcoholic media over 2 h. Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).

Although the matrix materials CaSt, Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> are reported to be insoluble in ethanol and water [19, 48, 49], and thus, expected to withstand ethanol dose dumping, the results showed that only CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets without solid lipids maintained their controlled-release mechanism, even at high ethanol concentrations. Rosiaux et al. investigated the drug release from theophylline/Compritol<sup>®</sup> and niacin/Compritol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets in 0.1 N HCl and in 0.1 N HCl/40% alcoholic media [51]. The authors reported that the change in drug solubility in hydroalcoholic media will likely affect the release kinetics of the Compritol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets. The results showed that the drug release rate from the theophylline/Compritol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets in 40% alcoholic media increased significantly. The undesired rapid drug release was due to the higher solubility of theophylline in 40% ethanol compared to acidic media. In contrast, drug release from the niacin/Compritol<sup>®</sup> matrix tablets exhibited a slower release rate in 40% alcoholic media, which could be attributed to the twofold less solubility of the drug in alcoholic media compared to 0.1 N HCl [51]. These observations correlate well with the results of the dissolution studies from the CaSt/paracetamol pellet formulations. Here, the drug

release was markedly faster in 40% ethanolic media and dose dumping occurred. This could be assigned to the increased solubility of paracetamol in alcoholic media. Unexpectedly, the addition of alcohol to the dissolution media affected the drug release of the CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets with solid lipids significantly, although codeine phosphate exhibited a lower solubility in alcoholic media compared to acidic media. This clearly shows, that beside the solubility of the drug also possible interactions between the matrix system and ethanol (mixtures) has to be considered in the rational development of ethanol resistant formulations.

#### 3.5.6 Pellet morphology

To determine the morphology of the hot-melt extruded pellets before and after the *in vitro* drug dissolution in the non-alcoholic dissolution media (8 h) and in alcoholic media (2 h), SEM images were taken. CaSt/paracetamol pellets showed a smooth surface (Fig. 8A). After the *in vitro* dissolution studies in 0.1 N HCl/phosphate buffer few pores on the pellet surface were visible due to paracetamol's dissolution in the outer layer (Fig. 8B), which is in accordance with previous studies [21]. Similarly, after dissolution in 20% alcoholic media the surface of the CaSt/paracetamol pellets exhibited a rather smooth and dense surface (Fig. 8C). In contrast, after exposure to 40% alcoholic media the surface is rough and covered by slit pores (Fig. 8D). Prior to the drug release studies, CaSt/paracetamol pellet formulations containing solid lipids had a non-porous surface (Fig. 8A1 and A2). After 8 h of dissolution in non-alcoholic media, the Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellets had a lamellar structure and a porous surface (Fig. 8B1). The Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellets had a ruptured structure with slit pores and a porous lamellar surface (Fig. 8B2). Adding 20% alcohol to dissolution media resulted in pellets with a lamellar/plate-like structure. Compared to dissolution in non-alcholic media, the pellets had an increasingly porous surface (Fig. 8C1 and C2). After dissolution in 40% alcoholic media, the lamellar and highly porous structure of the Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet surface seemed to be more defined as lamellar plates increased in size (Fig. 8D1 and D2).



Figure 8: SEM images of: detailed internal structure of (A) a CaSt/P pellet, (A1) a CaSt/P/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (A2) a CaSt/P/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet before dissolution; detailed internal structure of (B) a CaSt/P pellet, (B1) a CaSt/P/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (B2) a CaSt/P/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 8 h of drug release in non-alcoholic media; detailed internal structure of (C) a CaSt/P pellet, (C1) a CaSt/P/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (C2) a CaSt/P/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 2 h of dissolution in 20% alcoholic media; detailed internal structure of (D) a CaSt/P pellet, (D1) a CaSt/P/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 2 h of dissolution in 40% alcoholic media.

The SEM pictures of the CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets with and without solid lipids displayed dense pellet surfaces (Fig. 9A, A1 and A2). After drug release in non-alcoholic media, pores were found at the surface, indicating that the drug dissolved in the outer layer (Fig. 9B, B1 and B2). In the case of CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets, adding 20% ethanol to dissolution media did not markedly affect the pellet surface and a rather smooth surface was detected (Fig. 9C). In contrast, the surface of the CaSt/codeine phosphate

pellets containing Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> obviously changed after dissolution in alcoholic media. In 20% alcoholic media a ruptured structure with deep cracks was observed (Fig. 9C1 and C2). With the addition of 40% alcohol to dissolution media the surface of the CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets displayed a close-meshed lamellar structure (Fig. 9D). In the case of Cast/codeine phosphate pellets containing Compritol<sup>®</sup> a lamellar and porous surface was found (Fig. 9D1). After dissolution in 40% alcoholic media the surface of the Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellets is covered by well defined pores (Fig. 9D2).



Figure 9: SEM images of: detailed internal structure of (A) a CaSt/CodPh pellet, (A1) a CaSt/CodPh/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (A2) a CaSt/CodPh/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet before dissolution; detailed internal structure of (B) a CaSt/CodPh<sup>®</sup> pellet, (B1) a CaSt/CodPh/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (B2) a CaSt/CodPh/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 8 h of drug release in non-alcoholic media; detailed internal structure of (C) a CaSt/CodPh pellet, (C1) a CaSt/CodPh/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (C2) a

CaSt/CodPh/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 2 h of dissolution in 20% alcoholic media; detailed internal structure of (D) a CaSt/CodPh pellet, (D1) a CaSt/CodPh/Compritol<sup>®</sup> pellet and (D2) a CaSt/CodPh/Precirol<sup>®</sup> pellet after 2 h of dissolution in 40% alcoholic media.

3.5.7 In-vitro drug release and thermal characterization of pellets after storage Stability of the drug release profiles of the hot-melt extruded pellets was examined after 12 months of storage at room conditions. Comparing the dissolution profiles of the initial hot-melt extruded pellets and the stored hot-melt extruded pellets indicated that the obtained drug release profiles were nearly identical (data not shown) and no significant changes in the dissolution profiles were observed, compared to the initial pellet formulations (p > 0.05).

In addition, DSC measurements were performed of the stored hot-melt extruded pellets to evaluate their solid-state stability. The thermograms showed no changes in the solid-state behavior (data not shown). These results are considered favorable with regard to stability concerns and significant changes in drug release kinetics during long-term storage associated with solid lipids [36, 38].

### 3.6 Conclusions

Alcohol-induced dose dumping of controlled-release oral dosage forms is a significant challenge in formulation development. Thus, the objective of this study was to investigate the interaction between ethanol and a multiple-unit pellet formulation, using various hydrophobic lipids (i.e., pure CaSt, CaSt with either Compritol<sup>®</sup> or Precirol<sup>®</sup>) as matrix carriers for HME. Highly ethanol-soluble paracetamol and codeine phosphate, having a lower solubility in alcoholic media than in acidic media, were used as model drugs. The following results were obtained:

- The *in vitro* drug release profiles showed that pure CaSt/codeine phosphate pellets maintained their drug release behavior and dose dumping did not occur even at high ethanol concentrations.
- In contrast, pure CaSt/paracetamol pellets showed accelerated drug release in 40% alcoholic media which can be attributed to the significantly higher solubility of the drug and better wettability in alcoholic media.
- Pellets comprising Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> showed an increased drug release with increasing alcohol levels and dose dumping occurred at the highest ethanol concentrations for all APIs.

To better understand how alcohol interacts with the ethanol/water-insoluble lipids and the pellet formulations, contact angles and media uptake were studied:

• Neither the wetting nor the media uptake of pure CaSt was changed by alcoholic media, making CaSt a suitable matrix material to minimize the risk of alcohol-

induced dose dumping. However, to obtain a sustained-release profile, appropriate release modifiers need to be added. The release modifier should slow down (for codeine phosphate formulations) or increase (for paracetamol formulations) the drug release rate, while withstanding the impact of ethanol.

• The addition of alcohol to acidic media increased the media uptake and enhanced the wetting of pure Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>, and all pellet formulations comprising Compritol<sup>®</sup> or Precirol<sup>®</sup>.

Therefore, it is critical that apart from the physico-chemical properties (e.g., API solubility), the complex effects of ethanol on the media uptake and wetting properties of matrix substances are considered, even if they are reported to be insoluble in ethanol/water.

### 3.7 Conflict of interest

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

### 3.8 Acknowledgements

This work was funded under the Austrian COMET Program by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Transport, Innovation and Technology (BMVIT), the Austrian Federal Ministry of Economy, Family and Youth (BMWFJ) and by the State of Styria (Styrian Funding Agency SFG).

The authors would like to thank G.L. Pharma GmbH (Lannach, Austria) for providing the model drug paracetamol, the extrusion team at the RCPE GmbH, Graz, Austria for their assistance with the hot-melt extrusion process and Ing. H. Schröttner, FELMI, Graz, Austria for his assistance with the scanning electron microscope.

### 3.9 References

[1] R.J. Meyer, A.S. Hussain, *Awareness topic: Mitigating the risks of ethanol induced dose dumping from oral sustained/controlled release dosage forms*, in: ACPS Meeting October, 2005.

[2] FDA, FDA alert for healthcare professionals: Hydromorphone hydrochloride extendedrelease capsules (marketed as Palladone), (2005).

[3] J.M. White, R.J. Irvine, *Mechanisms of fatal opioid overdose*, Addiction 94 (1999) 961-972.

[4] FDA, *Bioequivalence recommendations for specific products*, http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ucm075 207.htm (11.10.2012).

[5] N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping – A review*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 87 (2014) 217-226.

[6] G. Sathyan, K. Sivakumar, J. Thipphawong, *Pharmacokinetic profile of a 24-hour controlled-release OROS formulation of hydromorphone in the presence of alcohol*, Curr. Med. Res. Opin. 24 (2008) 297-305.

[7] J. Koziara, J. So, N. Agarwal, *The effect of ethanol on semipermeable cellulose acetate-based membranes*, in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition, San Antonio, TX, USA, 2006.

[8] D. Palmer, M. Levina, T.P. Farrell, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *The influence of hydro-alcoholic media on drug release from polyethylene oxide extended-release matrix tablets*, Pharm. Technol. 35 (2011) 50-58.

[9] M.J. Traynor, M.B. Brown, A. Pannala, P. Beck, G.P. Martin, *Influence of alcohol on the release of tramadol from 24-h controlled-release formulations during in vitro dissolution experiments*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 34 (2008) 885-889.

[10] S.A. Rahim, M. Al-Ghazawi, N. Al-Zoubi, *Influence of ethanol on swelling and release behaviors of Carbopol<sup>®</sup>-based tablets*, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 18 (2013) 1089-1100.

[11] K. Asare-Addo, B.R. Conway, M.J. Hajamohaideen, W. Kaialy, A. Nokhodchi, H. Larhrib, *Aqueous and hydro-alcoholic media effects on polyols*, Colloids Surf. B. Biointerfaces 111 (2013) 24-29.

[12] M. Gohel, S.H. Bariya, Advanced formulation design of venlafaxine hydrochloride coated and triple-layer tablets containing hypromellose, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 14 (2009) 650-658.

[13] M. Levina, H. Vuong, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *The influence of hydro-alcoholic media* on hypromellose matrix systems, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 1125-1134.

[14] S. Missaghi, K.A. Fegely, A.R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, *Investigation of the effects of hydroalcoholic solutions on textural and rheological properties of various controlled release grades of hypromellose*, AAPS PharmSciTech 10 (2009) 77-80.

[15] M. Roberts, M. Cespi, J.L. Ford, A.M. Dyas, J. Downing, L.G. Martini, P.J. Crowley, *Influence of ethanol on aspirin release from hypromellose matrices*, Int. J. Pharm. 332 (2007) 31-37.

[16] J. Gardner-Nix, S. Mercadante, *The role of OROS<sup>®</sup> hydromorphone in the management of cancer pain*, Pain Pract 10 (2010) 72-77.

[17] FMC, BioPolymer Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC, http://www.fmcbiopolymer.com/Pharmaceutical/Products/NEWAquacoatARC.aspx (27.05.2013).

[18] W. Roth, B. Setnik, M. Zietsch, A. Burst, J. Breitenbach, E. Sellers, D. Brennan, *Ethanol effects on drug release from Verapamil Meltrex, an innovative melt extruded formulation*, Int. J. Pharm. 368 (2009) 72-75.

[19] R.C. Row, P.J. Shesky, M.E. Quinn, *Handbook of Pharmaceutical Excipients*, sixth ed., Pharmaceutical Press, 2009.

[20] E. Roblegg, S. Ulbing, S. Zeissmann, A. Zimmer, *Development of lipophilic calcium stearate pellets using ibuprofen as model drug*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 75 (2010) 56-62.

[21] E. Roblegg, E. Jäger, A. Hodzic, G. Koscher, S. Mohr, A. Zimmer, J. Khinast, *Development of sustained-release lipophilic calcium stearate pellets via hot melt extrusion*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 79 (2011) 635-645.

[22] M. Islam, M. Maniruzzaman, S. Halsey, B. Chowdhry, D. Douroumis, *Development of sustained-release formulations processed by hot-melt extrusion by using a quality-by-design approach*, Drug Deliv. Transl. Res. 4 (2014) 377-387.

[23] Y. Rosiaux, J.-M. Girard, F. Desvignes, C. Miolane, D. Marchaud, *Is Compritol*<sup>®</sup>888 *ATO Chemically Stable in Hot Melt Extrusion Processed at High Temperature?*, in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition, San Diego, 2014.

[24] D. Treffer, P.R. Wahl, T.R. Hörmann, D. Markl, S. Schrank, I. Jones, P. Cruise, R.-K. Mürb, G. Koscher, E. Roblegg, J.G. Khinast, *In-line implementation of an image-based particle size measurement tool to monitor hot-melt extruded pellets*, Int. J. Pharm. 466 (2014) 181-189.

[25] F. Kreye, F. Siepmann, J. Siepmann, *Drug release mechanisms of compressed lipid implants*, Int. J. Pharm. 404 (2011) 27-35.

[26] G.L. Mack, D.A. Lee, *The determination of contact angles from measurements of the dimension of small bubbles and drops. II. The sessile drop method for obtuse angles*, J. Phys. Chem. 40 (1936) 169-176.

[27] J.W. Moore, H.H. Flanner, *Mathematical comparison of dissolution profiles*, Pharm. Technol. 20 (1996) 64-74.

[28] S. Qi, A. Gryczke, P. Belton, D.Q.M. Craig, *Characterisation of solid dispersions of paracetamol and EUDRAGIT® E prepared by hot-melt extrusion using thermal, microthermal and spectroscopic analysis*, Int. J. Pharm. 354 (2008) 158-167.

[29] C. de Brabander, G. van den Mooter, C. Vervaet, J.P. Remon, *Characterization of ibuprofen as a nontraditional plasticizer of ethyl cellulose*, J. Pharm. Sci. 91 (2002) 1678-1685.

[30] P. Di Martino, A.M. Guyot-Hermann, P. Conflant, M. Drache, J.C. Guyot, A new pure paracetamol for direct compression: The orthorhombic form, Int. J. Pharm. 128 (1996) 1-8.

[31] P. Di Martino, P. Conflant, M. Drache, J.P. Huvenne, A.M. Guyot-Hermann, *Preparation and physical characterization of forms II and III of paracetamol*, J. Therm. Anal. Calorim. 48 (1997) 447-458.

[32] G. Nichols, C.S. Frampton, *Physicochemical characterization of the orthorhombic polymorph of paracetamol crystallized from solution*, J. Pharm. Sci. 87 (1998) 684-693.

[33] S. Qi, P. Avalle, R. Saklatvala, D.Q.M. Craig, *An investigation into the effects of thermal history on the crystallisation behaviour of amorphous paracetamol*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2008) 364-371.

[34] G. Petruševski, S. Ugarkovic, P. Makreski, Solid-state transformation of the pseudopolymorphic forms of codeine phosphate hemihydrate and codeine phosphate sesquihydrate monitored by vibrational spectroscopy and thermal analysis, J. Mol. Struct. 993 (2011) 328-335.

[35] V.A. Dubinsksaya, N.A. Polyakov, Y.L. Suponitskii, N.N. Dement'eva, V.A. Bykov, *Studies of moisture exchange between stearic acid, calcium stearate, and magnesium stearate*, Pharm. Chem. J. 44 (2010) 89-93.

[36] J. Hamdani, A.J. Moes, K. Amighi, *Physical and thermal characterisation of Precirol*<sup>®</sup> *and Compritol*<sup>®</sup> *as lipophilic glycerides used for the preparation of controlled-release matrix pellets*, Int. J. Pharm. 260 (2003) 47-57.

[37] E.B. Souto, W. Mehnert, R.H. Müller, *Polymorphic behaviour of Compritol*®888 ATO as bulk lipid and as SLN and NLC, J. Microencapsul. 23 (2006) 417-433.

[38] B. Evrard, K. Amighi, D. Beten, L. Delattre, A.J. Moes, *Influence of melting and rheological properties of fatty binders on the melt granulation process in a high-shear mixer*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 25 (1999) 1177-1184.

[39] C. Reitz, C. Strachan, P. Kleinebudde, *Solid lipid extrudates as sustained-release matrices: The effect of surface structure on drug release properties*, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 35 (2008) 335-343.

[40] C. Reitz, P. Kleinebudde, *Solid lipid extrusion of sustained release dosage forms*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 67 (2007) 440-448.

[41] M. Windbergs, C.J. Strachan, P. Kleinebudde, *Understanding the solid-state behaviour of triglyceride solid lipid extrudates and its influence on dissolution*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 71 (2009) 80-87.

[42] R.A. Granberg, A.C. Rasmuson, *Solubility of paracetamol in pure solvents*, J. Chem. Eng. Data 44 (1999) 1391-1395.

[43] A. Li, S.H. Yalkowsky, *Solubility of organic solutes in ethanol/water mixtures*, J. Pharm. Sci. 83 (1994) 1735-1740.

[44] S. Schrank, A. Hodzic, A. Zimmer, B. Glasser, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Ibuprofenloaded calcium stearate pellets: Drying-induced variations in dosage form properties*, AAPS PharmSciTech 13 (2012) 686-698.

[45] B.C. Lippold, A. Ohm, Correlation between wettability and dissolution rate of pharmaceutical powders, Int. J. Pharm. 28 (1986) 67-74.

[46] P.E. Luner, *Wetting properties of bile salt solutions and dissolution media*, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 382-395.

[47] F. Carli, L. Simioni, *Permeability and penetrability of solid beds in dosage form design and development*, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 3 (1977) 1-21.

[48] Gattefossé, *Technical Data Sheet Precirol ATO 5*, http://www.gattefosse.com/node.php?articleid=173 (24.10.2012).

[49] Gattefossé, *Technical Data Sheet Compritol 888 ATO*, http://www.gattefosse.com/node.php?articleid=172 (24.10.2012).

[50] S. Schrank, B. Kann, E. Saurugger, M. Hainschitz, M. Windbergs, B.J. Glasser, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The effect of the drying temperature on the properties of wetextruded calcium stearate pellets: Pellet microstructure, drug distribution, solid state and drug dissolution*, Int. J. Pharm. 478 (2015) 779-787.

[51] Y. Rosiaux, J.-M. Girard, F. Desvignes, C. Miolane, D. Marchaud, *Ethanol Resistant Extended Release Matrix Tablets with Compritol*<sup>®</sup>888 ATO, in: AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition, San Diego, 2014.

# 4 Development of an abuse and alcohol-resistant formulation based on hot-melt extrusion and film coating

Nicole Jedinger <sup>a</sup>, Simone Schrank <sup>c</sup>, Johannes M. Fischer <sup>a</sup>, Karlheinz Breinhälter <sup>a</sup>, Johannes Khinast <sup>a,b</sup>, Eva Roblegg <sup>a,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Research Center Pharmaceutical Engineering GmbH, Graz, Austria

<sup>b</sup> Institute of Process and Particle Engineering, Graz University of Technology, Austria

<sup>c</sup> Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Graz, Austria

Accepted in: AAPS PharmSciTech (15.07.2015)

#### 4.1 Abstract

This study focused on the development of flexible (i.e., deformable) multiple-unit pellets that feature i) a prolonged drug release, ii) drug abuse deterrence and iii) a minimal risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping (ADD). Deformable pellets were prepared via an advanced continuous one-step hot-melt extrusion (HME) technique, with the drug (i.e., antipyrine and codeine phosphate) fed as an aqueous solution into the molten matrix material (i.e., cornstarch, gum arabic and xanthan). Formulations that had suitable mechanical characteristics (i.e., high compression strength) were coated with a flexible Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC film to ensure prolonged release and to avoid ADD. The pellets were characterized in terms of their mechanical properties and in-vitro drug release behavior in alcoholic media. All formulations were abuse deterrent: they had a high compression strength and grinding the pellets into powder was impossible. Since the pellets comprising gum arabic and xanthan as a matrix did not remain intact during dissolution testing, they had a very fast drug release rate. Cornstarch-based pellets that swelled but remained intact in the dissolution media had a slower drug release. Coated cornstarch-based pellets had a prolonged release over eight hours and resistance to dose dumping in 20% and 40% ethanol.

Our results indicate that cornstarch-based pellets manufactured via the advanced HME process followed by coating are a promising formulation that makes tampering difficult due to a high compression strength combined with robustness in alcoholic media.

### 4.2 Introduction

Drug abuse of oral opioids and non-opioid drugs with a narrow therapeutic window, such as benzodiazepines (central nervous system depressants) and amphetamines (stimulants), has received increased public attention in recent years [1]. Drug abuse can be defined as *"the use of medication for its mind-altering effects, whether or not one also has pain or has been prescribed the medication"* [2]. Due to their high drug loading and euphoric effects, controlled-release opioid dosage forms that are first-choice formulations for (chronic) pain treatment [3-5] are especially popular among drug abusers [1]. Drugs are either chewed or crushed to subsequently snort or dissolve them in common solvents for intravenous injections in order to achieve euphoric and mind-altering effects [1, 6, 7]. To counteract these practices, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) suggested several approaches described in the draft guidance document covering the evaluation and labeling of abuse deterrent opioids [7, 8], which include i) physical and chemical barriers, ii) agonist/antagonist combinations, iii) aversion, iv) certain delivery systems, v) prodrugs and vi) combinations thereof (Fig. 1). Physical barriers prevent destruction of the dosage form (e.g., due to increased hardness), whereas chemical barriers impede extraction using common solvents

[9]. Incorporating an antagonist reduces the euphoria if the drug product is manipulated (e.g., ground). If the drug product is swallowed (i.e., used as prescribed), the antagonist is not clinically active. Aversion is created when upon manipulation the drug product releases substances that cause unpleasant temporary side effects (e.g., warmth, flushing, itching, sweating). Furthermore, it is recommended to use unattractive delivery systems (e.g., subcutaneous implants). Prodrugs that hinder opioid activity and the associated euphoric effects until they are transformed in the gastrointestinal tract can prevent abuse via the intravenous and nasal routes [9].



Figure 1: Systematic overview of drug abuse and alcohol-induced dose dumping.

Although these are promising tools of ensuring safe and abuse-deterrent drugs, only a few proven products are available on the market and studies in this field are scarce [10-12]. Hysingla<sup>™</sup> ER tablets (Purdue Pharma) containing hydrocodone bitartrate provide abuse resistance via physical and chemical barriers [13]. They are formulated using RESISTEC<sup>™</sup>, which obstructs tablet crushing by applying a unique combination of polymer and processing to ensure a high tablet hardness (i.e., physical barrier). Moreover, when dissolved in aqueous environment, the tablet immediately forms a viscous hydrogel (i.e., chemical barrier) [13], making injecting it impossible. Another abuse-deterrent drug product is Zohydro<sup>®</sup> ER capsules comprising hydrocodone bitartrate and manufactured via BeadTek<sup>™</sup> [14], a capsule formulation technology that incorporates well-known excipients and is designed to deter abuse. If the capsule is crushed and dissolved in liquids, a viscous gel is immediately formed [14].

Despite existing and hypothetical approaches to make affective abuse-deterrent formulations, tampering with drugs and subsequent drug abuse can never be eliminated entirely. Rather, formulators should focus on reducing the abuse potential by making tampering difficult and time consuming. Such formulations are less attractive to drug abusers, who are reported to spend no more than 10 minutes on tampering [15, 16].

Another challenge in the development of safe drug products is minimizing the risk of alcoholinduced dose dumping (ADD) (Fig. 1). Concomitant intake of alcoholic beverages and controlled-release oral dosage forms may alter the release-rate-controlling mechanism of the formulation, resulting in an immediate and uncontrolled drug release [17] (e.g., an opioid overdose, which may lead to respiratory depression followed by hypoxia and even death [18]). Especially those patients that suffer from (chronic) pain tend to consume alcohol to cope with the pain-related stress and reduce the pain perception [17].

Overall, there is a growing demand for new flexible technologies for producing safe drug products that prevent both (1) drug abuse and (2) ADD. Recently, Gruenenthal GmbH patented a tamper-resistant oral dosage form comprising a drug with a psychotropic action and an ethylene-vinyl acetate (EVA) polymer [19]. Manufactured via thermoforming technologies, such as hot-melt extrusion (HME), it is resistant to solvent extraction, grinding and dose dumping in aqueous ethanol [19]. However, the majority of the existing studies address either abuse-deterrence or ADD [20] but not both topics at the same time.

In this study we focus on the development of multiple unit dosage forms (i.e., pellets) that show a prolonged release and are designed to resist ADD and (due to their high compression strength) tampering with the most common household devices. For pellet preparation, an innovative manufacturing processes based on HME technique was applied. Thereby, the (visco)elastic properties of the matrix materials (i.e., cornstarch, gum arabic and xanthan) can be achieved by introducing water directly into the matrix melt. Subsequent coating of the pellets ensured a prolonged release of the model drugs (i.e., antipyrine and codeine phosphate) and ADD resistance.

#### 4.3 Materials and methods

#### 4.3.1 Materials

Antipyrine (Fluka, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) and codeine phosphate hemihydrate (donated by G.L. Pharma GmbH, Lannach, Austria) were used as the model drugs. Cornstarch (Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany), gum arabic (ACM Herba Chemosan AG, Vienna, Austria) and xanthan (Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) were the matrix carrier systems. Purified water was used as plasticizer.

The *in-vitro* drug release studies were carried out with 0.1 N hydrochloric acid (HCI) and a trisodiumphosphate-dodecahydrate buffer purchased from Merck, Darmstadt, Germany. For

the dose dumping studies, absolute ethanol (EP) was purchased from VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany. The mobile phase for the reversed phase (RP) high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) consisted of MilliQ water, acetonitrile (VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany), phosphoric acid (85%, VWR international, Darmstadt, Germany) and methanol (LiChrosolv<sup>®</sup> Reag., EP, VWR International, Darmstadt, Germany). Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC (Alcohol Resistant Coating, consisting of ethanol soluble Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD 30 and ethanolinsoluble guar gum) from FMC BioPolymer was used for pellet coating. Talc (Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) served as anti-tacking agent and trieethyl citrate (TEC) (donated by G.L. Pharma GmbH, Lannach, Austria) was applied as a plasticizer for the coating dispersion.

#### 4.3.2 Drug solubility determination

The drug solubility was determined in (a) water, (b) 0.1 N HCl, (c) 0.1 N HCl with ethanol concentrations of 20% and 40% (v/v) and (d) in pure ethanol (96 v%). Saturated solutions were prepared and stored in an incubator shaker at 37  $\pm$  0.5 °C for 48 h. Samples of 1 ml were taken, filtered through a cellulose acetate filter (pore size 0.2 µm) and, if necessary, diluted. The concentration of the dissolved drug was quantified via UV/VIS spectrometry at wavelengths of 244 nm (antipyrine) and 284 nm (codeine phosphate). The solubility studies were performed in triplicate.

#### 4.3.3 HME process

Extrusion was based on the NANEX process [21], which allows side feeding of aqueous drug suspensions and solutions directly into a molten polymer that is miscible with water [22]. The matrix material (i.e., cornstarch, xanthan and gum arabic) in the powder form was placed into the co-rotating twin screw extruder (ZSK 18, Coperion GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany). The model drugs (i.e., codeine phosphate hemihydrates and antipyrine) were dissolved in purified water (i.e., plasticizer) at concentrations of 0.5 g/ml and 1.0 g/ml for codeine phosphate and 1.0 g/ml for antipyrine. The solutions were fed from the side into the extruder containing the matrix melt. For codeine phosphate, two concentrations were used to provide different drug loadings while keeping the water content constant. Details regarding the process parameters are summarized in Table 1.

The matrix material was fed into the extruder via a gravimetric dosing device (K-Tron, Niederlenz, Switzerland) at a feeding rate of 0.5 kg/h. The screws had a length-to-diameter ratio (L/D) of 40, and the barrel consisted of 10 individually-controllable heating sections. The screw speed was 200 rpm. The drug solutions were fed via a calibrated peristaltic pump (Ismatec IP 65, IDEX Health & Science GmbH, Wertheim, Germany) into barrel 3 of the extruder. The feeding rate of the aqueous solution was adjusted to 100 g/h to yield a final drug loading of 20% for antipyrine and of 10% and 20% for codeine phosphate. The material

was extruded through a die plate with die holes of 1.0 mm in diameter. The cornstarch/antipyrine formulation was also extruded through a die plate with die holes of 1.5 mm diameter. The homogeneous strands were cut directly at the die face using a hot dieface pelletizer [23] (Automatik Plastics Machinery GmbH, Großostheim, Germany) with two rotating knives developed in-house. The rotational speed of the knives was adjusted manually to obtain pellets in the desired size range (i.e., 1.25-1.40 mm), which were immediately air-cooled [24]. An overview of the formulations and the processing parameters is provided in Table I.

Loss on drying (LOD) of the pellets was measured for 24 h at 60 °C in an oven.

Pellets were sieved according to Pharm. Eu. 7.0/2.09.38.00 using analytical DIN sieves (Retzsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). The pellet fractions between 1.25-1.4 mm were applied for further characterization studies.

#### Table 1

Formulations and process parameters applied during HME.

Formulation	Matrix material	Active ingredient (wt.%)	Process	parar	neters									
				Barrel	zonete	mpera	tures	0						Knife
			Torque (%)	÷	2	ŝ	ব	ß	မ	r~	ω	6	10	i utational speed
														(Tpm)
<del>.</del>	Cornstarch	without ( $20\%$ $H_{2}O$ )	ő	65	52	50 00	92 82	35	85	85	65	8	85	1300
2	Cornstarch	Antipyrine 20% (aqueous solution)	7	65	85	85	85	85	85	85	85	85	85	1500
ო	Cornstarch	Codeine phosphate 10% (aqueous solution)	52	65	85	85	85	<u>5</u> 8	85	88	88	88	87	1500
4,	Cornstarch	Codeine phosphate 20% (aqueous solution)				•	,						•	
Ś	Xanthan	without (20% H <sub>3</sub> O)	16	70	33	85	85	85	85	85	85	85	85	1600
9	Xanthan	Antipyrine 20% (aqueous solution)	61	\$	50	63	05	35	85	05	05	05	63	2000
<u> -</u> -	Gum arabic	without (20% $H_2O$ )	25	80	65	22	22	75	22	22	22	74	74	1600
¢	Gum arabic	Antipyrine 20% (aqueous solution)	11	60	09	65	65	65	65	65	65	60	65	1600
(') Adding 20% cc	deine phosphatere	sulted in highly viscous strar	ndsthat were	not suit	able for h	tot die-fi	nce pell	etizing.						

#### 4.3.4 Coating process

Selected pellet formulations were coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC, as proposed by Rosiaux et al. [25-27]. The coating dispersion was prepared by mixing Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD 30 and guar gum at a ratio of 93:7. Prior to mixing, Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD 30 was plasticized with 25% TEC (w/w; based on the total polymer content) at room temperature for 30 min. Guar gum was dissolved in purified water under stirring at 65 °C for 2 h. After cooling down to room temperature, the two solutions were mixed and stirred for 30 min. To reduce the stickiness of the coating formulation, talc (50% w/w; based on the total polymer content) was added as an anti-tacking agent.

The pellets were coated in a fluidized bed coater (Mycrolab H00472, Oystar Hüttlin, Schopfheim, Germany) equipped with a bottom sprayer. The coating conditions were: inletair volume: 25 m<sup>3</sup>/h; inlet-air temperature: 38 °C; spray rate: 2 g/min; spray air pressure: 1.2 bar; microclimate pressure: 0.6 bar; nozzle diameter: 1.2 mm; and coating level: 20%. After coating, the pellets were dried in the fluidized bed coater for 15 min.

### 4.3.5 Characterization of drug loaded pellets

### Differential scanning calorimetry analysis

The solid state properties of the hot-melt extruded pellets were characterized using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC 204F1 Phoenix<sup>®</sup>, Netzsch GmbH, Selb, Germany). For comparison reasons we evaluated the thermal behavior of the model drugs, the matrix materials and mixtures of the matrix materials with 20% purified water that acted as plasticizer during extrusion. Samples of about 5 mg were placed into hermetically sealed aluminum crucibles and scanned with pure nitrogen as the analytical gas between 25 and 200 °C at a heating rate of 50 K/min and at a flow rate of 20 ml/min. After cooling to 25 °C at 10 K/min, a second heating run was performed. An empty aluminum crucible was used as a reference. The DSC data analysis was conducted with Proteus Thermal Analysis software (Netzsch GmbH, Selb, Germany). Each sample was evaluated in triplicate.

### Pellet compression strength

The pellet compression strength was determined with a conventional tablet hardness tester (PTB 111 E, Pharma Test, Hainburg, Germany) by recording the hardness values of 10 randomly picked pellets from each batch.

Additionally, the compression force of the pellets was studied using a rheometer (Physica MCR 301, Anton Paar GmbH, Graz, Austria) equipped with a parallel plate measuring system in the non-rotational mode. A single pellet was manually placed in the center of the lower plate. The upper plate was moved down at a constant velocity of 0.5  $\mu$ m/s. Based on the force displacement diagrams, the maximum force of plastic deformation upon pellet

fraction (F) was determined. The crushing strength ( $\sigma$ ) was calculated from F and the diameter of each pellet (*d*) according to Shipway et al. [28]:

$$\sigma = \frac{1.6 F}{\pi d^2} \tag{1}$$

From each batch, 50 pellets were tested with the rheometer.

#### *In-vitro* dissolution studies

All *in-vitro* dissolutions tests were carried out via the USP 28 rotating basket method <711> in an USP apparatus I (Pharma Test, Hainburg, Germany). The rotational speed was 100 rpm, and the temperature was  $37 \pm 0.5$  °C. The dissolution medium consisted of 750 ml 0.1 N HCI. After 2 h, 250 ml trisodiumphosphate-dodecahydrate buffer were added to increase the pH from 1.2 to 6.8. For the ADD studies, we used 900 mL HCI (0.1 N) with ethanol concentrations of 20% (equivalent to mixed drinks) and 40% (equivalent to hard liquor) (v/v) and tested them for 2 h. The pellet sample weight was adjusted to 1 g to ensure perfect sink conditions in all dissolution media without exceeding the maximum single dose. Samples of 1 ml were withdrawn at predetermined time intervals. Each batch was investigated in triplicate.

To compare the drug release profiles in alcoholic and non-alcoholic media, the  $f_2$  similarity factor was used [29]:

$$f_2 = 50 \times \log\left\{ \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1}^n (R_t - T_t)^2 \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times 100 \right\}$$
(2)

where *n* is the number of dissolution time points considered and  $R_t$  and  $T_t$  are the percentage of drug dissolved of the reference and test formulations at time point *t*. In general, an  $f_2$  value in the range of 50-100 indicates that the dissolution profiles are similar.

#### **Drug quantification**

Drug quantification of the dissolution samples was performed via reversed phase (RP) high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for antipyrine and via UV/VIS spectroscopy for codeine phosphate.

The HPLC analysis was carried out using a Merck-Hitachi system (Tokio, Japan) at 35 °C. As the stationary phase, a C18 MOS-Hypersil column (250 x 4 mm x 5  $\mu$ m; 120 Å pore size; VDS optilab, Berlin, Germany) was applied. The mobile phase consisted of MilliQ water, which was adjusted to pH 3.0 with phosphoric acid and a 50:50 (V/V) mixture of acetonitrile and methanol (isocratic mode 58:42 (V/V)). The injection volume was 20  $\mu$ l and the flow rate was 1 ml/min. The drug was analyzed with a model series L-4250 UV-VIS detector at a wavelength 230 nm. For quantification, a single-point calibration with 100% standard solution of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) was used.

The codeine phosphate quantification was performed with a UV spectrophotometer (Spectronic Genesys 5, Spectronic Instruments Inc., Rochester, USA) at a wavelength of 248 nm. The samples were diluted, if necessary, and quantified via an external standard (i.e., calibration curve).

#### 4.4 Results and discussion

#### 4.4.1 Drug solubility determination

Since a drug's solubility in the dissolution medium strongly affects the dissolution rate, the solubility of antipyrine and codeine phosphate was determined in water, acidic media with and without ethanol (20%, 40%), and in 96% ethanol (Fig. 2). The results indicate that antipyrine is highly soluble in all tested media. The ethanol content did not affect the solubility until its concentration reached 40%. In 96% ethanol, the solubility decreased significantly due to the different polarity/dielectric constants of the solute and the solvent. However, antipyrin was still highly soluble in 96% ethanol [30]. In contrast, the solubility of codeine phosphate markedly decreased with the increasing ethanol concentrations [31], and was very low in 96% ethanol. It can be concluded that the addition of ethanol lowered the dielectric constant in relation to pure water, and hence, the solubility decreased [17, 32, 33].





#### 4.4.2 Preparation of pellets via HME

According to the literature, extrusion of pure native starch is not possible and adding water is required to achieve gelatinization and to transform starch into a homogenous matrix [34]. Starch is composed of  $\alpha$ -D-glucosyl units. It comprises amorphous regions as well as crystalline domains in the short chain clusters of amylopectine. During extrusion the starch

granules are destroyed by mechanical disruption of molecular bonds due to the intense shear forces within the extruder and loss of crystallinity is caused (i.e., gelatinization of starch) [35].

When cornstarch was extruded in our experiments with water at process temperatures between 65 and 85 °C, glassy-like yellowish spherical pellets with a smooth, homogeneous surface structure were obtained. The pellets were very flexible and elastic, exhibiting mechanical properties suitable for abuse-deterrent dosage forms.

To the best of our knowledge, xanthan and gum arabic have not been used as matrix materials for HME to date. Xanthan is assigned to the polysaccharides from the chemical point of view and comprises D-glucose, D-mannose, and D-glucuronic acid. Gum arabic is a complex mixture of glycoproteins and polysaccharides. Both, xanthan and gum arabic are crystalline. During extrusion it is assumed that crystallite softening occurs.

When gum arabic and xanthan were extruded without any plasticizers (i.e., water) at process temperatures of 60-85 °C, a non-molten powdery and brittle mass was obtained. At higher process temperatures (i.e., 80-200 °C), the substances failed to melt and became charred. However, when water was added as a plasticizer, smooth pellets with a yellowish coloration were produced via HME. They were slightly sticky since the amount of water added was rather high (~ 20%), which was necessary to obtain suitable strands for further downstream processing (die-face cutting). The gum arabic and xanthan pellets had a cylindrical shape, possibly due to faster solidification (and thus less time for forming a spherical shape), compared to cornstarch [24]. Nevertheless, they were considered to be suitable for providing abuse deterrence due to their deformable character.

The next step was to incorporate drugs at various concentrations. While adding antipyrine to the starch matrix decreased the torque from 18% to 7% (Table 1) due to the plasticizing effect of the drug, incorporating codeine phosphate increased the torque values (i.e., 22%; Table 1). Adding 20% codeine phosphate resulted in highly viscous strands that were not suitable for hot die-face pelletizing. Decreasing the drug loading to 10% yielded strands that could be cut into spherical pellets via die-face pelletizing. Once again, the pellets were very flexible and elastic.

Incorporating antipyrine into the xanthan matrix decreased the extrusion temperatures from 70-85 °C to 50-83 °C due to the plasticizing effect of the drug. This is confirmed by the torque value that decreased from 16 to 2% (Table 1). Adding antipyrine to the gum arabic matrix slightly reduced the required process temperatures (i.e., from 60-75 °C to 60-65 °C). Additionally, the torque decreased from 25 to 11% (Table 1), indicating the plasticizing effect of antipyrine. Similarly to the drug-free pellets, the drug-loaded xanthan and gum arabic pellets were smooth and sticky, with a yellowish coloration. As before, the pellets were not spherical but rather cylindrical in shape. The placebo pellets exhibited approximately 20%

w/w LOD, which decreased by drug addition. Incorporating antipyrine led to approximately 17% w/w LOD for all pellet formulations. The cornstarch/codeine phosphate pellets showed 15% w/w LOD. However, the added total amount of water was kept constant for all formulations. It is assumed, that the lower weight loss during drying of antipyrine and codeine phosphate containing pellets may be due to drug-bound water.

The pellets that were extruded with the 1.0 mm die had a yield of > 50% of the sieve fraction between 1.25 and 1.40 mm.

#### 4.4.3 Characterization of pellets

#### Thermal characterization

First, we evaluated the thermal behavior of the matrix materials in the presence of water (i.e., a plasticizer during extrusion) via DSC (Fig. 3A-2D). For pure cornstarch and xanthan, a broad endothermic event with an onset at 107.4 °C and 115.0 °C was recorded during the first heating cycle (data not shown) due to water loss [36]. Upon cooling and reheating, no thermal events were observed. The glass transition (Tg) of pure cornstarch, which occurs at around 58 °C [37], was not detected via conventional DSC with comparatively low heating rates [37, 38]. The thermogram of pure gum arabic showed no thermal events in the investigated temperature range (i.e., 20-200 °C). Adding water to the matrix materials resulted in a broad endotherm with an onset between 100 and 120 °C due to water evaporation (Fig. 3A-2D). No thermal events were observed during cooling and the second heating cycle for all matrix materials. Since no degradation occurred under 200 °C, the matrix materials were considered to be stable at the applied extrusion temperatures (i.e., 50-85 °C). Additionally, DSC was used to investigate the solid state of the model drugs and hot-melt extruded pellets (Fig. 3A-2D). The thermogram of the first heating cycle of antipyrine clearly indicated one sharp endotherm at 113.6 °C (onset 107.6 °C), which corresponds to melting. No thermal events were observed during cooling, suggesting that the drug was in its amorphous state after cooling. Upon reheating, one exothermic event and one endothermic event were recorded. The exothermic signal at 31.8 °C (onset 26.5 °C) was due to recrystallization of the amorphous drug, followed by melting at 113.6 °C (onset 104.7 °C) [39]. Upon heating, codeine phosphate had three endothermic events (Fig. 3D) corresponding to water loss, structural rearrangement and melting. For detailed interpretation, please refer to Jedinger et al. [31].

The DSC scan of the cornstarch/antipyrine pellets indicated one endothermic event at 70.8 °C (onset 63.3 °C) (Fig. 3A). The endotherm was attributed to the gelatinization (melting) of the starch granules, which occurs at around 70 °C with high water contents [40]. For the gum arabic/antipyrine pellets, one endotherm was detected at 71.0 °C (onset 63.7 °C), which corresponds to crystallite melting of gum arabic (Fig. 3B) [41]. During the first heating of

94

xanthan/antipyrine pellets, a broad endothermic event occurred at 129.4 °C (onset 88.7°C) due to moisture evaporation (Fig. 3C). Since the melting peak of antipyrine did not show in the heating thermograms of starch/antipyrine and gum arabic/antipyrine pellets, it was assumed that the drug molecularly dissolved in the matrix, which agrees with previous studies [24, 42]. For the xanthan/antipyrine pellets, the solid state of antipyrine could not be determined since the melting endotherm of antipyrine appears in the same temperature range as the moisture evaporation does.

The thermogram of the cornstarch/codeine phosphate pellets suggest an endothermic event at 181.2 °C (onset 176.4°C), which corresponds to the structural rearrangement [43] of codeine phosphate (Fig. 3D). The presence of crystalline codeine phosphate indicates that the drug did not molecularly dissolve in the cornstarch matrix. However, the characteristic endotherm of the drug broadened and shifted slightly towards lower temperature.

No thermal events were observed during cooling and the second heating cycle for all pellet formulations (data not shown).



Figure 3: DSC scans of the model drugs (i.e., antipyrine, codeine phosphate), matrix materials (i.e., cornstarch, gum arabic, xanthan) with the addition of 20% purified water (2 heating cycles shown) and hot-melt extruded pellets (one heating cycle shown).

#### Pellet compression strength and physical manipulation

The compression force of the drug-loaded pellet formulations exceeded the maximum force that can be applied by the rheometer (i.e., 50 N). All tested pellets deformed but, yet did not break, suggesting that the force required for compression was higher than 50 N. Consequently, the compression force could not be determined and the compression strength could not be calculated from Equation 1.

Additionally, the compression force was determined via a conventional tablet hardness tester with a maximum applicable force of 500 N. Again, the pellets deformed, but did not recover (i.e., plastic deformation) implying that the force necessary to crush the pellets exceeds even 500 N. That means that a single pellet can be loaded with a mass of 50 kg without being crushed.

Physical (mechanical) manipulation was tested according to the FDA's draft guidance on abuse-deterrent opioids [8]: the pellet formulations were grinded first with a spoon (i.e., a common household device) and then, more sophisticated, with a mortar and a pestle. Both manipulation methods resulted in large sticky fragments and no fine powders were obtained (Fig. 4). This shows that physical manipulation is impeded for all tested pellet formulations due to their high compression strengths independent upon the formulation composition.



Figure 4: Hot-melt extruded xanthan/antipyrine(20%) pellets (A) before and (B) after grinding with a mortar and a pestle.

#### In-vitro drug release of hot-melt extruded pellets

Figure 5A illustrates the API release from the antipyrine pellets in non-alcoholic media. Due to the physicochemical properties of both, the pellet matrix and the drug, all pellets had an immediate drug release. High solubility of antipyrine in the dissolution media (i.e., 743.3 mg/ml) led to a fast drug release. Dissolution was fast also because the tested matrix materials (gum arabic, xanthan and cornstarch) did not contain their shape during dissolution testing and did not retard release. Hence, diffusion of dissolved antipyrine through the matrix was not a rate-limiting step. While the gum arabic-based pellets dissolved completely within 30 min due to physical erosion and subsequent degradation [44], the xanthan pellets swelled without dissolving, forming a highly viscous gel due to uncoiling of the structure and the formation of hydrogen bonds with the water molecules [45]. Typically, a gel layer forming on the outer surface of a dosage form is considered to control drug release [46]. However, the pellets produced in the process had a high specific surface area, resulting in complete hydration and dissolution of the pellets. After 30 minutes individual pellets were not visible anymore and the rate-controlling effect was not observed. Also, the cornstarch pellets

swelled to a great extent. Here, individual pellets were still present throughout dissolution testing (see also Bialleck et al. [24]). Again, the hydrophilic gel layer that formed upon contact with the aqueous media did not control the drug release due to the high specific surface area of the pellets.

Since starch was the most promising matrix for achieving a prolonged drug release, a different model drug, codeine phosphate, was incorporated. As illustrated in Fig. 5B, the amount of codeine phosphate released was lower compared to the starch/anitpyrine pellets. Around 33% of codeine phosphate was detected in the dissolution media after 10 min. The pellets continued the drug release for 2 h, followed by an entire release of the API after 3 h. This can be explained by a lower solubility of codeine phosphate in 0.1 N HCl compared to antipyrine.



Figure 5: In-vitro drug release profiles of: (A) Formulation 2 (cornstarch/antipyrine(20%) pellets), Formulation 6 (xanthan/antipyrine(20%) pellets) and Formulation 8 (gum arabic/antipyrine(20%) pellets), (B) Formulation 3 (cornstarch/codeine phosphate(10%) pellets) in non-alcoholic media over 8 h; Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3). As SDs were very low, they are not clearly visible in the graph.

Although none of the cornstarch-based formulations had a prolonged release profile, they stayed intact throughout the dissolution testing. Together with their elastic behavior and high mechanical resistance to tampering with common household devices, this makes cornstarch-based codeine phosphate loaded pellets perfect candidates for further development. Thus, Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC, a coating material known to retard drug release and to prevent ADD, was applied [25, 27, 47]. Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC consists of ethanol soluble Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD 30 and ethanol insoluble guar gum. Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD 30 remains intact in water and thus, retards the release in aqueous media. The rate controlling effect of the coating in the presence of ethanol is due to guar gum, which is insoluble in ethanol [47]. Thereby, guar gum acts as a protective layer for the ethanol soluble ethylcellulose, leaving the release-controlling film intact in the presence of ethanol [47]. Moreover, guar gum increases the mechanical strength of the film [27], which is further enhanced by adding TEC (plasticizer), resulting in high elongation at breaking. The cornstarch pellets also showed high compression strengths and

did not break but rather deformed, which means that grinding was impossible. Thus, if two highly flexible systems are combined, the possibility for abuse by mechanical destruction is decreased.

The dissolution studies of the coated pellets demonstrated that a coating level of 20% led to a significantly (p < 0.05) decreased drug release rate, compared to the non-coated pellets (Fig. 6). After 1 h, 20% of the drug was released and after 2 h only 40% were detected in the dissolution media. This indicates that adding Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC was suitable for achieving a prolonged release from cornstarch pellets. To verify if this coating material can be alcohol-resistant for 2 h, the pellets were tested in 20% and 40% ethanolic media and compared with the uncoated pellet formulation.



Figure 6: In-vitro drug release profiles of Formulation 3 (cornstarch/codeine phosphate(10%) pellets) and Formulation 3 coated with 20% Aquacoat® ARC in non-alcoholic media over 8 h; Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).



Figure 7: In-vitro drug release profiles of: (A) Formulation 3 (cornstarch/codeine phosphate(10%) pellets) and (B) Formulation 3 coated with 20% Aquacoat® ARC in alcoholic media over 2 h; Mean values  $\pm$  SD (n = 3).

Fig. 7A clearly shows that the drug release of uncoated pellets depends on the ethanol concentration. Interestingly, the pellets were robust in 40% alcoholic media ( $f_2 = 59.77$ ). However, adding 20% ethanol to acidic media markedly increased the drug release rate ( $f_2 = 59.77$ ).

35.86) and led to dose dumping. This can be attributed to the effect of ethanol on the starch gel layer formation and the solubility of codeine phosphate [17, 48]. In general, the swelling behavior and the API release depend on the penetration of dissolution media into the pellet. Thereby, the free volume between the polymer chains increases and a gel layer that controls the drug release is formed [48]. Upon contact with acidic media (without any ethanol) the cornstarch/codeine phosphate pellets immediately begin to swell. The formed gel layer acts as protective barrier, which controls diffusion of the drug from the pellets and the drug release rate. Adding ethanol to the dissolution media inhibits the initial interaction between the ethanol-insoluble cornstarch-matrix and the surrounding media and hinders the formation of a uniform and stable gel layer, leading to an uncontrolled release of the drug from the pellets. As such, the drug release rate is not controlled by the gel layer but is rather a function of the drug's solubility in ethanol, which is lower in 40% ethanol than in 20% ethanol (i.e., 186.09 mg/ml and 273.33 mg/ml, respectively). Fig. 8B and 8C clearly indicate that swelling is impeded with increasing alcohol content.

Figure 7B shows that drug release from the coated cornstarch/codeine phosphate pellets was not significantly affected by adding 20% and 40% ethanol (p = 0.54 and 0.72; (Fig. 7B). The estimated  $f_2$ -values of 62.13 and 70.96 confirmed that no dose dumping occurred. Again, the drug release was higher in 20% than in 40% alcoholic media, which was also observed in a previous study [31].



Figure 8: Swelling behavior of cornstarch/codeine phosphate pellets after 2 h of exposure to (A) 0.1 N HCl, (B) 0.1 N HCl/20% EtOH and (C) 0.1 N HCl/40% EtOH.

#### 4.5 Conclusions

This paper reports the development of drug abuse alcohol deterrent multi-unit dosage forms (i.e., pellets) based on matrix systems (i.e., cornstarch, gum arabic, xanthan). The pellets were manufactured via an advanced, continuous one-step HME process, during which a defined amount of water was directly fed into the matrix melt yielding deformable pellets that are tamper resistant. Formulations based on xanthan and gum arabic showed immediate drug release (i.e., complete release within less than 30 min). In contrast, cornstarch based pellets retarded the drug release up to 3 h. To prolong the drug release and to provide 99

resistance against ADD, cornstarch pellets were coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC. Overall, it was shown that processing cornstarch via advanced HME increased its resistance to common tampering practices. In combination with a coating process, this matrix system has the potential not only to diminish the abuse but also to prevent ADD.

#### 4.6 Acknowledgements

This work was funded under the Austrian COMET Program by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Transport, Innovation and Technology (BMVIT), the Austrian Federal Ministry of Economy, Family and Youth (BMWFJ) and by the State of Styria (Styrian Funding Agency SFG). The authors would like to thank the extrusion team of RCPE GmbH, Graz, Austria for their assistance with the hot-melt extrusion process.

### 4.7 Declaration of conflicts of interest

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

### 4.8 References

[1] D.J. Mastropietro, H. Omidian, *Current approaches in tamper-resistant and abusedeterrent formulations,* Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 39 (2013) 1-14.

[2] N. Katz, *Abuse-deterrent opioid formulations: Are they a pipe dream?*, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 10 (2008) 11-18.

[3] G.K. Gourlay, Sustained relief of chronic pain: pharmacokinetics of sustained release morphine, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 35 (1998) 173-190.

[4] J.P. Skelly, G.L. Amidon, W.H. Barr, L.Z. Benet, J.E. Carter, J.R. Robinson, V.P. Shah, A. Yacobi, *In vitro and in vivo testing and correlation for oral controlled/modified-release dosage forms*, Pharm. Res. 7 (1990) 975-982.

[5] M. Walden, F.A. Nicholls, K.J. Smith, G.T. Tucker, *The effect of ethanol on the release of opioids from oral prolonged-release preparations,* Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 33 (2007) 1101-1111.

[6] L.R. Webster, Update on abuse-resistant and abuse-deterrent approaches to opioid formulations, Pain Med. 10 (2009) S124-S133.

[7] L.R. Webster, B. Bath, R.A. Medve, *Opioid formulations in development designed to curtail abuse: who is the target?,* Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 18 (2009) 255-263.

[8] FDA Guidance for Industry Abuse-Deterrent Opioids - Evaluation and Labeling, www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM 334743.pdf (11.06.2015).

[9] C. Herry, A. Monti, F. Vauzelle-Kervroedan, P. Oury, L. Michel, *Reducing abuse of orally administered prescription opioids using formulation technologies*, J Drug Deliv. Sci. Tech. 23 (2013) 103-110.

[10] *FDA approves abuse-deterrent labeling for reformulated OxyContin*, http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm348252.htm (12.02. 2015).

[11] *FDA* approves *Targiniq ER* with abuse-deterrent properties, http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProvid ers/ucm406290.htm (12.02.2015).

[12] FDA approves labeling with abuse-deterrent features for third extended-release opioid analgesic,

http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm419288.htm (12.02.2015).

[13] Purdue Pharma L.P. receives FDA approval for Hysingla<sup>™</sup> ER (hydrocodone bitartrate) extended-release tablets CII, a once-daily opioid analgesic formulated with abuse-deterrent properties, http://www.purduepharma.com/news-media/2014/11/purdue-pharma-I-p-receives-fda-approval-for-hysinglatm-er-hydrocodone-bitartrate-extended-release-tablets-cii-a-once-daily-opioid-analgesic-formulated-with-abuse-deterrent-properties/ (04.02.2015).

[14] Zogenix receives FDA approval for Zohydro™ ER (hydrocodone bitartrate) extendedrelease capsules, http://ir.zogenix.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=220862&p=irolnewsArticle&ID=1868848 (04.02.2015).

[15] S.K. Vosburg, J.D. Jones, J.M. Manubay, J.B. Ashworth, I.H. Benedek, S.D. Comer, *Assessment of a formulation designed to be crush-resistant in prescription opioid abusers*, Drug Alcohol Depend. 126 (2012) 206-215.

[16] M. Sokolowska, FDA Meeting on ADF - development and evaluation of abuse deterrent<br/>opioidopioidformulations,part1,http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/NewsEvents/UCM422383.pdf (12.02.2015).

[17] N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping – A review*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 87 (2014) 217-226.

[18] J.M. White, R.J. Irvine, *Mechanisms of fatal opioid overdose*, Addiction 94 (1999) 961-972.

[19] K. Wening, L. Barnscheid, S. Schwier, A. Geißler, *Tamper-resistant dosage form containing ethylene-vinyl acetate polymer*, in: US 2015/0017250 A1, Grünenthal GmbH, 2015.

[20] J.H. Bartholomaeus, J.B. Ashworth, H.-J. Stahlberg, E. Galia, K. Strothmann, *Innovative formulation technology protecting intended drug action*, Drug Dev. Del. 12 (2012) 76-81.

[21] J. Khinast, R. Baumgartner, E. Roblegg, *Nano-extrusion: a one-step process for manufacturing of solid nanoparticle formulations directly from the liquid phase*, AAPS PharmSciTech 14 (2013) 601-604.
DEVELOPMENT OF AN ABUSE AND ALCOHOL-RESISTANT FORMULATION BASED ON HOT-MELT EXTRUSION AND FILM COATING

[22] R. Baumgartner, A. Eitzlmayr, N. Matsko, C. Tetyczka, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Nano-extrusion: A promising tool for continuous manufacturing of solid nano-formulations*, Int. J. Pharm. 477 (2014) 1-11.

[23] D. Treffer, P.R. Wahl, T.R. Hörmann, D. Markl, S. Schrank, I. Jones, P. Cruise, R.-K. Mürb, G. Koscher, E. Roblegg, J.G. Khinast, *In-line implementation of an image-based particle size measurement tool to monitor hot-melt extruded pellets*, Int. J. Pharm. 466 (2014) 181-189.

[24] S. Bialleck, H. Rein, *Preparation of starch-based pellets by hot-melt extrusion*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 79 (2011) 440-448.

[25] Y. Rosiaux, S. Muschert, R. Chokshi, B. Leclercq, F. Siepmann, J. Siepmann, *Ethanolresistant polymeric film coatings for controlled drug delivery*, J. Control. Release 169 (2013) 1-9.

[26] Y. Rosiaux, C. Velghe, S. Muschert, R. Chokshi, B. Leclercq, F. Siepmann, J. Siepmann, *Ethanol-resistant ethylcellulose/guar gum coatings – Importance of formulation parameters*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 85 (2013) 1250-1258.

[27] Y. Rosiaux, C. Velghe, S. Muschert, R. Chokshi, B. Leclercq, F. Siepmann, J. Siepmann, *Mechanisms controlling theophylline release from ethanol-resistant coated pellets,* Pharm. Res. 31 (2014) 731-741.

[28] P.H. Shipway, I.M. Hutchings, *Fracture of brittle spheres under compression and impact loading. I. Elastic stress distributions*, Philos. Mag. A, 67 (1993) 1389-1404.

[29] J.W. Moore, H.H. Flanner, *Mathematical comparison of dissolution profiles*, Pharm. Techno. 20 (1996) 64-74.

[30] A.N. Paruta, *Solubility profiles for antipyrine and aminopyrine in hydroalcoholic solutions*, J. Pharm. Sci. 56 (1967) 1565-1569.

[31] N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, S. Mohr, A. Feichtinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Alcohol dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 92 (2015) 83-95.

[32] A. Li, S.H. Yalkowsky, *Solubility of organic solutes in ethanol/water mixtures*, J. Pharm. Sci. 83 (1994) 1735-1740.

[33] N. Seedher, S. Bhatia, *Solubility enhancement of cox-2 inhibitors using various solvent systems*, AAPS PharmSciTech 4 (2003) 36-44.

[34] F. Yu, K. Prashantha, J. Soulestin, M.-F. Lacrampe, P. Krawczak, *Plasticized-starch/poly(ethylene oxide) blends prepared by extrusion*, Carbohyd. Polym. 91 (2013) 253-261.

[35] H. Liu, F. Xie, L. Yu, L. Chen, L. Li, *Thermal processing of starch-based polymers*, Progress in Polymer Science 34 (2009) 1348-1368.

[36] M.J. Zohuriaan, F. Shokrolahi, *Thermal studies on natural and modified gums*, Polym. Test 23 (2004) 575-579.

DEVELOPMENT OF AN ABUSE AND ALCOHOL-RESISTANT FORMULATION BASED ON HOT-MELT EXTRUSION AND FILM COATING

[37] T. Kipping, R. Trindade, H. Rein, *The use of hot-melt extruded corn starch matrices as drug carrier systems: A thermophysical characterization*, Starch - Stärke 66 (2014) 923-933.

[38] P. Liu, L. Yu, H. Liu, L. Chen, L. Li, *Glass transition temperature of starch studied by a high-speed DSC*, Carbohyd. Polym. 77 (2009) 250-253.

[39] S. Bialleck, *Herstellung von Polysaccharidpellets mittels Schmelzextrusion*, http://hss.ulb.uni-bonn.de/2012/2743/2743.htm.

[40] H. Liu, L. Yu, F. Xie, L. Chen, *Gelatinization of cornstarch with different amylose/amylopectin content*, Carbohyd. Polym., 65 (2006) 357-363.

[41] C.G. Mothé, M.A. Rao, *Thermal behavior of gum arabic in comparison with cashew gum*, Thermochem. Acta 357–358 (2000) 9-13.

[42] G.F. Wauer, H. Rein, *Solid solutions of tramadol-HCl based on starch*, Pharm. Ind. 72 (2010) 1973-1979.

[43] G. Petruševski, S. Ugarkovic, P. Makreski, Solid-state transformation of the pseudopolymorphic forms of codeine phosphate hemihydrate and codeine phosphate sesquihydrate monitored by vibrational spectroscopy and thermal analysis, J. Mol. Struct. 993 (2011) 328-335.

[44] U.S. Toti, K.S. Soppimath, N.N. Mallikarjuna, T.M. Aminabhavi, *Acrylamide-grafted-acacia gum polymer matrix tablets as erosion-controlled drug delivery systems*, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 93 (2004) 2245-2253.

[45] M.M. Talukdar, R. Kinget, *Swelling and drug release behaviour of xanthan gum matrix tablets*, Int. J. Pharm. 120 (1995) 63-72.

[46] C.W. Vendruscolo, I.F. Andreazza, J.L.M.S. Ganter, C. Ferrero, T.M.B. Bresolin, *Xanthan and galactomannan (from M. scabrella) matrix tablets for oral controlled delivery of theophylline*, Int. J. Pharm. 296 (2005) 1-11.

[47]FMC,BioPolymerAquacoat<sup>®</sup>ARC,http://www.fmcbiopolymer.com/Pharmaceutical/Products/NEWAquacoatARC.aspx(27.05.2013).(27.05.2013).

[48] S. Bialleck, H. Rein, *Drug release mechanisms of hot-melt extruded starch-based pellets*, Starch - Stärke 64 (2012) 408-419.

# 5 Summary of major findings

The main goal of this thesis was the rational design of robust and alcohol-resistant controlled-release dosage forms using HME as innovative manufacturing technology. For this, it was vital to systematically review the literature taking into account regulations, serious safety concerns and physico-chemical key factors of the drug, the excipients as well as the final dosage form under alcoholic conditions.

According to chapter two it is preferred to use formulation compounds with appropriate physico-chemical properties, such as low solubility and an appropriate wettability and swellability behavior in alcoholic media to minimize the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping. Suitable technologies to prevent dose dumping include HME, which is a promising manufacturing process to design robust and dense matrix systems with low porosities.

Chapter three focused on the investigation of the interactions between alcohol and the dosage form. Taking the aforementioned findings into account, pellets were prepared via HME and hydrophobic vegetable calcium stearate (CaSt) acted as matrix carrier. To improve the robustness/compactness of the pellets, two ethanol- and water-insoluble solid lipids (Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>) were incorporated into the formulation, since they are expected i) to protect the drug against the influence of ethanol and ii) to tailor the release profile. Paracetamol, which is highly ethanol-soluble and codeine phosphate, showing a lower solubility in alcoholic media than in acidic media, were used as model drugs. The major findings of this study include:

- Pellets containing paracetamol showed accelerated drug liberation with increasing alcohol concentrations (regardless of the matrix composition), which was attributed to the high solubility of the drug in alcohol and correspondingly, increased wettability in alcoholic media.
- Pellets containing codeine phosphate and CaSt as single matrix material showed robustness in alcoholic media due to the low solubility of the drug in alcoholic media and wettabilities that were not affected by the addition of alcohol. However, the incorporation of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> led to increased wettabilites with increasing alcohol levels and dose dumping occurred.

Accordingly, the drug release behavior of the pellet formulations was dependent on the drug solubility, the addition of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup>, the alcohol level in the dissolution media and hence, the pellets wettability. Although the solid lipids are ethanol/water-insoluble the media uptake of pure Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> in alcoholic media increased leading to enhanced wettabilities. In contrast, neither the wetting nor the media uptake of hydrophobic CaSt was altered by alcoholic media.

To develop pellets with abuse-deterrent properties chapter four focused on the design of flexible/deformable pellets that impede tampering with the most common household devices. To that end, an innovative continuous one-step HME technique was applied, where the (visco)elastic properties of the matrix materials (i.e., cornstarch, gum arabic and xanthan) can be achieved by introducing the drug (i.e., antipyrine and codeine phosphate) as aqueous solution directly into the matrix melt. The mechanical properties (i.e., high compression strength) of the pellets and their in vitro drug release behavior were studied and pellet formulations identified as suitable were coated with a flexible Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ARC film, to provide controlled drug release rates, while withstanding the impact of alcohol. The major findings include:

- All pellet formulations showed high compression strengths and grinding into powder was impossible.
- Pellets composed of gum arabic and xanthan as matrix materials did not remain intact during dissolution testing and showed immediate drug release.
- Pellets composed of cornstarch swelled but remained intact in the dissolution media and retarded the drug liberation up to 3 h.
- Coated cornstarch-based pellets had a prolonged release over eight hours. Moreover, the formulation revealed resistance to dose dumping even at high alcohol concentrations.

In conclusion, to develop dosage forms robust to alcohol-induced dose dumping, it is beneficial to use formulation compounds with appropriate physico-chemical key factors. Due to wettabilities that were not affected in alcoholic media, hydrophobic CaSt can be considered a suitable matrix system that minimizes the risk of alcohol-induced dose dumping for certain drugs. Furthermore, the combination of two highly flexible systems (i.e., deformable pellets that do not break but rather deform and an alcohol-resistant coating with high elongation at break) has the potential to diminish drug abuse by mechanical destruction and additionally prevent alcohol-induced dose dumping.

# 6 Outlook

Although in recent years considerable attention has been given to the development of ADFs and the alcohol-induced dose dumping phenomenon, there is still necessity for further investigations in these fields.

Regarding the issue of alcohol-induced dose dumping a mechanistic fundamental understanding of how alcohol interacts with drug formulations and how this impacts drug dissolution and absorption is needed. The authorities recommend the application of in-vitro dissolution studies to test for alcohol sensitivity of controlled-release oral dosage forms in acidic media with different alcohol concentrations. However, prediction of the in-vivo performance of a drug from conventional in-vitro dissolution tests is challenging. Thus, in order to perform rational in-vitro in-vivo correlations the in-vitro dissolution test methods have to be optimized (i.e., usage of biorelevant dissolution media) to reflect the actual physiological conditions. Moreover, conventional in-vitro dissolution tests do not cover the effect of different types of alcoholic beverages (e.g., sparkling wine and beer include carbonic acids; Alcopops contain a great amount of sugar) on the absorption characteristics in the small intestine. Apart from that, differences between men and women including the amount of consumed alcohol and different drinking habits should also be considered. Due to ethical issues associated with in vivo-testing in human volunteers, innovative in-vitro and exvivo methods, which take into account the aforementioned facts, have to be developed to gain insight in how alcohol affects the in-vivo behavior and bioavailability of drugs as accurately as possible.

Concerning ADFs no product is available, which is capable of addressing all types of drug tampering. Thus, numerous concerns with the implementation of ADFs into the market remain. Although the FDA recently issued a document regarding the evaluation and labeling of ADFs, it seems unlikely that boxed warnings and added risk information dam inappropriate medication prescribing or hinder patients/abusers from drug tampering. Actually, it is unrealistic to design ADFs such that they are completely abuse-resistant, since the medication needs to be therapeutically effective and thus, the drug needs to be bioavailable to patients. Consequently, the overall goals of ADFs have to be the followings:

- Making drug abuse more costly to abusers in terms of money, time and risk.
- Being resilient to as many forms of tampering as possible in order to be most effective at discourage drug abuse.
- Shifting the risk-benefit balance of clinically important opioid analgesics and other drugs with high abuse potential.

To reach these goals a comprehensive and individual characterization of an ADF to help identifying its strengths and weaknesses regarding the most common tampering methods suspected for the specific drug and dosage form should be conducted. Furthermore, after a new ADF enters the market one should keep the product in sight and continuously study its robustness to potential new tampering methods since abusers often discover new ways to administer the drug.

However, it has to be noted that the efforts in developing ADFs can also lead to a shift to an easily tampered product or, in the worst case, to an illegal drug such as heroin, which is often easier to get and cheaper than prescription opioid drugs.

In summary, the research field of ADFs and alcohol-induced dose dumping is only just in its beginning era and there is still significant demand for innovative technologies and ideas to overcome the growing public health concern of prescription drug abuse.

# 7 List of Publications

#### Articles in peer-reviewed journals

N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping – A review*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 87 (2014) 217-226.

N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, S. Mohr, A. Feichtinger, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Alcohol dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids*, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 92 (2015) 83-95.

N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, J. M. Fischer, K. Breinhälter, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Development* of an abuse and alcohol-resistant formulation based on hot-melt extrusion and film coating, accepted in AAPS PharmSciTech (15.07.2015)

## Presentation

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, E. Jäger, A. Hodzic, G. Koscher, S. Mohr, A. Zimmer, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Effect of plasticizers on the development of sustained-release lipophilic calciumstearate pellets produced via hot-melt extrusion*, 5<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Pharmaceutical Engineering (ICPE), September 2011, Graz, Austria.

<u>A. Eitzlmayr</u>, D.F. Treffer, N. Jedinger, G. Koscher, E. Roblegg, J. Khinast, *Hot melt extrusion: Product and process development,* 6<sup>th</sup> Annual PSSRC Symposium, August 2012, Lisbon, Portugal.

## Poster used within an academic meeting

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, K. Fuchs, G. Koscher, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Rational design of lipophilic calcium stearate pellets produced via HME*, 8<sup>th</sup> World Meeting on Pharmaceutics, Biopharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology, March 2012, Istanbul, Turkey.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, G. Koscher, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Lipophilic calcium stearate pellets produced via HME: Impact of plasticizers on the in-vitro release*, 8. Minisymposium der Verfahrenstechnik, May 2012, JKU Linz, Austria.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, G. Koscher, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *The influence of ethanol on hot melt extruded micropellets containing Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> as additives*, 9. Minisymposium der Verfahrenstechnik, April 2013, Montanuniversität Leoben, Austria.

N. Jedinger, G. Koscher, J. Khinast, <u>E. Roblegg</u>, *Impact of ethanol on hot-melt extruded micropellets comprising solid lipids as functional additives,* AAPS Annual Meeting and Exposition, November 2013, San Antonio, Texas, USA.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Untersuchung des Einflusses von Alkohol auf lipophile schmelzextrudierte Pellets*, 47. Wissenschaftliche Fortbildungswoche der Österreichischen Apothekerkammer, Februar 2014, Schladming, Austria.

N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, <u>E. Roblegg</u>, *The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets containing solid lipids as functional excipients,* 9<sup>th</sup> World Meeting on Pharmaceutics, Biopharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology, March 2014, Lisbon, Portugal.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *How does alcohol impact hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids as functional additives?*, 23<sup>rd</sup> Scientific Congress of the Austrian Pharmaceutical Society (ÖPhG), April 2014, Graz, Austria.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Development of a drug abuse-alcohol-resistant formulation produced via hot-melt extrusion*, 6<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Pharmaceutical Engineering (ICPE), June 2014, Graz, Austria.

<u>N. Jedinger</u>, S. Mohr, J. Khinast, E. Roblegg, *Development of lipophilic hot-melt extruded alcohol-resistant pellets containing nicomorphine*, 6<sup>th</sup> International Congress on Pharmaceutical Engineering (ICPE), June 2014, Graz, Austria.